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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

To Our Shareholders

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively

the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the "FY2025").

We are a Hong Kong-based formwork contractor, mainly engaged
in the provision of (a) formwork services, comprising of: (i)
conventional formwork which is built on-site by mainly using timber
and plywood; and (ii) prefabricated formwork which is built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminium and steel; and
(b) other construction services. During the course of providing our
formwork services, we may also be requested by our customers, in
the form of variation orders, to provide other construction services,
including plastering, installing curtain wall and other miscellaneous

works on an ancillary basis.

FY2025 was a very difficult year for the construction industry in Hong
Kong. The overall market has slowed down, with fewer public and
private projects being launched due to budget constraints and a

cautious economic outlook.

In this tough environment, our Group stayed focused on managing
our finances carefully. We were selective in choosing which projects
to bid for, to protect our profits and shareholder interests. In FY2025,
we are barely able to be awarded 1 new contract with an aggregate
contract sum of approximately HK$3.5 million. As at 31 March 2025,
we had a total of 21 contracts (31 March 2024: 25 contracts) on hand
and the amount of contract sum yet to be recognised as at 31 March
2025 amounted to approximately HK$259.3 million (31 March 2024:
approximately HK$761.4 million).
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

The Group has engaged in E-Commerce business since March
2021. We are strategically positioned as a brand retailer in various
E-Commerce platforms, and provide brand commodities for our
customers. With continuously rapid development of online retail
business, we cooperated with various suppliers and offered 500
types of products in the E-Commerce platforms. Our sustainable and
rapid development of online retail business would be achieved by

providing high quality and diversified products.

We expect the construction market in Hong Kong to remain weak
in the near future. In light of this, we will continue to exercise strict
cost control and maintain strong client relationships, while placing
greater focus on developing our E-Commerce business. Our aim is
to preserve stability, safeguard shareholder value, and position the

Group for future growth as market conditions evolve.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders, customers, subcontractors, suppliers
and business partners for their continuous support, and to our
management and staff members for their diligence, dedication and

contribution to the growth of the Group.

LO Hon Kwong
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group are (i) construction business
which included provision of formwork services and other

construction services; and (i) E-Commerce business.

Construction Business

The Group is a Hong Kong-based formwork contractor, mainly
engaged in the provision of (a) formwork services, comprising of: (i)
conventional formwork which is built on-site by mainly using timber
and plywood; and (ii) prefabricated formwork which is built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminum and steel; and (b)

other construction services.

Formwork is the temporary supporting structures and moulds used
in construction where concrete is poured in and to be moulded
into the required structural shape and size. When we undertake a
formwork project, we are generally responsible for project planning
and implementation, procurement of materials, quality control
and overall management of our direct labour and workers of
our engaged subcontractors in carrying out the implementation
of formwork services in accordance with the main contractors’

requirements and specifications.

During the course of providing our formwork services, we may also
be requested by our customers, in the form of variation orders, to
provide other construction services, including plastering, installing

curtain wall and other miscellaneous works on an ancillary basis.

During the FY2025, 1

value of approximately HK$3.5 million were awarded to the

new project with an aggregate contract

Group. 5 existing projects were completed during the year. As at
31 March 2025, 21 projects with the outstanding contract sum of

approximately HK$259.3 million were all in progress.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

E-Commerce Business

The Group has engaged in E-Commerce business since March 2021
via Baiyin Chi Kan Technology Development Company Limited (“CK
Baiyin”), which is incorporated in People’s Republic of China ("PRC")
on 24 February 2021. The Group hold 51% equity interest in CK
Baiyin whereas an independent third party holds 49% equity interest
in CK Baiyin.

The Group is strategically positioned as a brand retailers in private
E-Commerce platforms. We have cooperated with three private
E-Commerce platforms to provide brand commodities that match
with the need of our customers. Specifically, the income of the
Group is generated from retailing in the private E-Commerce

platforms.

With the continuously rapid development of online retail business,
we have cooperated with various suppliers and brand merchants,
and committed to provide high quality and diversified products
in our best effort. Under our E-Commerce business, we offer over
500 types of products, including agricultural products rich in
selenium, nutritional supplements, daily necessities, and cosmetic
and skin care products. Quality of products would be regarded
as our primary consideration in choosing products and products
and manufacturers would be strictly selected for the sake of better
products and quality, so as to achieve the sustainable development

of corporation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the FY2025, the Group's audited consolidated revenue
amounted to approximately HK$1,414.5 million (FY2024:
approximately HK$1,538.8 million). The decrease were mainly due
to (i) 21 projects on hand as at 31 March 2025 (FY2024: 25) which
contributed approximately HK$876.9 million from construction
business (FY2024: approximately HK$1,212.0 million); and (ii)
revenue of approximately HK$537.6 million from E-Commerce
business (FY2024: approximately HK$326.7 million).

During the FY2025, the gross profit amounted to approximately
HK$364.1 million (FY2024: approximately HK$246.0 million),
while the gross profit margin was approximately 25.7%
(FY2024: approximately 15.9%). Gross profit margin increased
by approximately 9.8% from approximately 15.9% for FY2024 to
approximately 25.7% for FY2025 due to increase in gross profit from
E-Commerce business from approximately HK$214.1 million for
FY2024 to approximately HK$357.0 million for FY2025.

Other incomes primarily comprise government grant and other
income last year. Other incomes for the year increased by
HKS$0.5 million from approximately HK$0.4 million for FY2024 to
approximately HK$0.9 million for FY2025, which mainly due to the
gain on disposal of unlisted equity investment by approximately
HKS$0.5 million.

Selling and administrative expenses (the “S&A Expenses”) primarily
comprise selling commission, staff costs, business development
expenses, depreciation, consultancy fee and legal and professional
charges. The S&A Expenses for the year increased by HK$116.5
million to approximately HK$305.7 million, compared with
approximately HK$189.2 million of last year, which mainly due to

increase in operating expenses for E-=Commerce business.

As a result, loss attributable to the owners of the Company for
the year was a loss of approximately HK$7.6 million, compared to

profit attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately

HK$28.1% in last year.
, |
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Failure to diversify our customer base

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from our five largest
customers, in particular our largest customer, Hip Hing Group;
and any decrease or failure to maintain business relationship with
whom could materially adversely affect our business operations and

financial performance.

As our Group does not enter into any long-term written agreements
with our customers, and that our contracts are awarded by tender
on a project-by-project basis, there is no assurance that our Group
would be able to retain its major customers in the future. If we
are unable to secure new projects from our major customers or if
there is a significant decrease in the number of projects or size of
projects in terms of contract value awarded by our major customers
for whatever reasons, our business, results of operations and
financial performance would be materially and adversely affected
when we fail to secure suitable projects of comparable size and
quantity as replacement. Besides, if any of our major customers
encounter liquidity problems, it may result in delay or default in
settling progress payments with us, which in turn would have an
adverse impact on our cash flow and financial position. We cannot
guarantee that we will be able to diversify our customer base by
either securing new customers or securing significant number of
new projects from other customers on comparable terms in order to
partly or wholly offset the loss of revenue from our major customers,
in which case our business, results of operation, financial position
and future prospects may be materially and adversely affected. Even
if we manage to secure new customers, it would take time and
resources for us to develop the relationship with new customers
by adapting our systems and procedures to meet the project
requirements of new customers. If we are unable to secure new
customers, our business, results of operations, financial performance
and future prospects may be materially adversely affected.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

Failure to obtain new projects

Our Group’s revenue is non-recurring in nature and failure to
secure new projects would materially and adversely affect our
Group's business, results of operations, financial position and future
prospects.

There is no assurance that (i) our Group would be invited to or be
informed of the tendering or bidding process for new projects;
(i) the terms and conditions of potential new contracts would be
comparable to our existing contracts; (iii) our customers would
continue to include our Group in the tendering process; and (iv) our
tenders would be selected by our customers. If we are unable to
maintain our competitiveness in, among other things, standards of
management, industrial expertise, financial capability, reputation,
regulatory compliance and terms and conditions of our tenders, our
Group may be less likely to be selected as subcontractor for new
projects. If our customers cease to engage us to provide formwork
services and we fail to replace such customers in a timely manner,
our business, results of operations and financial position may be
materially and adversely affected.

Cash flow mismatch

Our Group may need to incur various upfront costs before receipt
of payments from customers, and such cash flow mismatch may

materially and adversely affect our liquidity and financial position.

In undertaking our project works, we may incur various upfront
costs, including (i) payment to our subcontractors; (ii) payment of
material costs; (iii) direct labour costs to our workers; and (iv) other

costs such as utilities and insurance, as required.

Our Group's cash inflows mainly comprise progress payments from
our customers. Our customers will pay progress payments after
our works has commenced and the value of the completed works
is confirmed and certified by our customers. Our customers will
generally retain a maximum amount of 5% of the total contract sum
as retention money, which will be released if no defects are found in

our works.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

The greater the number of projects our Group is required to carry
out, the larger the upfront costs our Group will likely have to incur.
This may lead to a significant outflow of financial resources within
a short period of time, and our cash flows and financial position
may deteriorate due to the potential timing mismatch between
receipt of progress payments from our customers, and payments
to our suppliers and subcontractors. There is no assurance that
our customers will make progress payments on time or that the
retention money will be released in a timely manner or in full after
the inspection process of completed works, which may in turn give
rise to disputes. When there is delay in the inspection process or
when a dispute arises in respect of certification of works by our
customers, it may result in delay of progress payments. Furthermore,
in the course of project implementation, our customers may also
place orders to change the original design or specifications or
require additional works or reduce the scope of our works. However,
such additional works may not be fully covered under the scope
of variation orders set out in the original terms of contract. As
such, there may be occasions where additional fees cannot be
determined or generally agreed upon with our customers before the
commencement of such additional works, and we may only receive
part of the progress payments during the course of the project. Any
failure by our customers to make progress payments to us or release
the retention money may have a material adverse impact on our

liquidity and financial position.

There is also no assurance that we will not record negative operating
cash flows in the future. Net cash outflows from operating activities
may adversely affect our liquidity position, and reduce our financial
flexibility and our ability to obtain additional borrowings from banks,
which in turn may adversely affect the implementation of our future

plans.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB am M oA

Discrepancy between estimated costs and actual costs

Our Group determines our price based on the estimated time and
costs required to complete the works, but the actual time and
costs incurred may exceed our estimation due to unexpected
circumstances, and such discrepancy may adversely affect our

business, results of operations and financial performance.

Our Group's pricing model depends on our estimation of the costs
to be incurred for each project plus a mark-up for the desired profit
margin. An accurate estimation of costs is therefore crucial for
maintaining our Group's business growth and profitability. However,
the actual time and costs involved in completing our projects
may be adversely affected by various factors that are beyond our
control, including but not limited to, shortage and cost escalation in
materials and direct labour, condition of the construction sites, on-
site project arrangement by our customers, inefficiency and delay
caused by errors, adverse weather conditions, disputes with our
customers or subcontractors, change in design by our customers,
worksite accidents and changes in governmental policies. In such an
event, our Group may have to bear additional costs for completing
and delivering the works within the requisite timeframe. We may
also be required to pay our customers liquidated damages for the
delay in completion of works. Any previous delay in the delivery of
our works may also be taken into consideration by our customers
during the course of the competitive tendering process, and thus
may have an adverse impact on our chances of winning future

tenders.

In particular, labour cost (including workers of our subcontractors
and us) is the major cost for our construction projects. If there is any
unexpected significant increase in labour cost, we may not be able
to shift the costs to our customers due to the competitive market
environment and/or contractual provisions with our customers,
which may result in adverse effect to the financial performance of

our Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, WORKING
PARTNERS AND EMPLOYEES

The Group maintains long-term relationships with its customers
and working partners (including subcontractors, suppliers and
consultants), some of which have established more than 10 years of
working relationship with the Group. The close working relationship
can also be demonstrated by the increasing number of project
portfolios and continuous cooperation with working partners which
may be engaged by the Group in one or more of its projects at the
same time. Building successful long-term relationships with them
is a key element of the Group’s business model, which is closely
interlinked with all the other elements of its model. Successful
long-term relationships are built on trust — a trust that the Group is
able to provide quality service and excellent customer experience.
To achieve this, the Group needs experienced people with the
right skills and capabilities as well as continuous supports from its

working partners.

The Group also maintains a very stable and experienced
management team and an amicable long-term relationship with
its employees. The Group's key management team comprises
executive Directors and senior management, their biographies
mentioned in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” in this report. The Group's experienced
management team, coupled with a stable pool of skilled labour, is
one of its key drives in delivering high quality work to customers in

order to attain high customers’ satisfaction.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATION

The Directors confirmed that during FY2025 and up to the date
of this report, the Group had obtained all the registrations and
certifications required for its business and operations in Hong Kong,
and had complied with the applicable laws and regulations in Hong

Kong in all material respects.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to environmental protection and
sustainable development through promoting and adopting green
practices in its business activities. Initiatives within the Group
include, but are not limited to, encouraging employees to reduce
paper consumption by reuse of single-sided printed paper, to assess
the necessity of printing where appropriate and to use duplex
printing. The Environment, Social and Governance Report of the
Company prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the Listing

Rules are set out on pages 67 to 110.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group's overall funding and treasury activities are currently
managed and controlled by the Directors and senior management.
The Directors and senior management will closely monitor the
Group's liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group's assets, liabilities, and other commitments can meet its

funding needs.
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Notes:

1. Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided by

the total current liabilities as at the respective year end.

2. Gearing ratio is calculated based on the payables incurred not in
the ordinary course of business (being bank borrowings and lease
liabilities) divided by total equity as at the respective year end and
multiplied by 100%.

3. Debt to equity ratio is calculated based on the net debt (being bank
borrowings and lease liabilities net of cash and cash equivalents)
divided by the total equity as at the respective year end and
multiplied by 100%.

Current ratio increased from 4.4 as at 31 March 2024 to 8.8 as at 31
March 2025, mainly due to decrease in trade payables. Gearing ratio
decreased from 6.7% as at 31 March 2024 to 0.2% as at 31 March
2025, mainly due to decrease in bank borrowings. Debt to equity
ratio is not applicable as at 31 March 2025 due to the cash and
cash equivalents larger than the total of bank borrowings and lease
liabilities at that date.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$228.2 million (31 March 2024: approximately
HKS$227.6 million) and restricted cash of approximately HK$7.5
million (31 March 2024: HK$27.5 million). Such restricted bank
balances were held for the requirement of our general banking
facilities. The Group expected to fund the future cash flow needs
through internally generated cash flows from operations and bank

facilities.

The capital structure of the Group consisted of equity of
approximately HK$473.6 million and debts (lease liabilities and bank
borrowings) of approximately HK$0.8 million as at 31 March 2025.
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The Group adopts a prudent approach in cash management. Apart
from certain debts including lease liabilities, the Group did not
have any material outstanding debts as at 31 March 2025. Payment
to settle trade payable represented the significant part of the cash
outflow of the Group. Taking into account the light debt leverage,
the Group is able to generate cash and meet upcoming cash
requirements. In any case, the Group may utilise its banking facilities
of HKS$7.5 million, of which the unutilised and unrestricted banking

facilities amounted to approximately HKS7.5 million.
EMPLOYEES

The Group had 204 employees as at 31 March 2025 (2024: 1,118).
The Group offers competitive remuneration package that is based
on overall market rates and employee performance, as well as
performance of the Group. Remuneration package is comprised
of salary, performance-based bonus, and other benefits including

training and provident funds.
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had no capital commitments as at 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, bank deposits of HK$7.5 million were pledged
to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group (31 March 2024:
HKS$27.5 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the Financial Statements, the Group

had no other contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Same).
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the HKS and Renminbi (RMB).
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions
and recognised financial assets and liabilities denominated in
a currency that is not the respective functional currency of the
subsidiaries. Currently, the Group has not used derivative financial
instruments to hedge against its foreign currency risk. The Group
manages foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the proportion

of its non-Hong Kong dollars assets and liabilities.
MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that affects the Group's profitability or its ability

to meet business objectives.

The management of the Group manages and monitors these risks
like changes in government policies, changes in interest rate or
inflation to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There were no significant investments held, material acquisitions or

disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during FY2025.
SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Written resolutions were passed on 17 July 2020 to adopt the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”). No share options
have been granted, exercised or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme since its adoption date and up to the date of this annual
report. The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of

10 years after the date of adoption.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 23 April 2025, the Board resolved to adopt the Share Award
Scheme in which the eligible participants will be entitled to
participate. The Share Award Scheme was contemplated and
adopted to be funded by existing shares of the Company. The Share
Award Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years after the

date of adoption.

PROSPECTS

The construction industry in Hong Kong is anticipated to encounter
increasing challenges in the years ahead, with fewer new projects
and heightened competition putting pressure on profit margins.
While the Group will continue to manage our construction
operations with discipline and efficiency, we recognise that growth

opportunities in this segment may remain limited in the near future.

As a strategic response, the Group plans to gradually shift its focus
towards expanding our e-commerce business. With the continued
growth of mobile internet usage and evolving consumer habits,
the online retail market presents significant long-term potential.
We believe our e-commerce operations offer a more scalable and

sustainable growth path under current market conditions.

Looking forward, we will strategically allocate resources to enhance
the development of our e-commerce platform, while ensuring
operational stability in our construction business. The Group
remains dedicated to creating long-term value for shareholders
by adapting to market changes and pursuing new growth

opportunities.

The Group strive to maintain our comprehensive advantages in face
of vigorous competition and complicated business environment,
addressing the unexpected global challenges, realising growth in
income and net profit continuously, and creating values for our
shareholders incessantly. We will stay true to ourselves, keep our
mission in mind, and take up social responsibility. We will lay solid
foundation to foster regional economic development; we will make
greater contribution to realise common prosperity in our country

and society.
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Our Board of Directors consists of seven Directors, including
three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. Our Board of Directors
is responsible for and has general powers for the management
and conduct of our business. The following table sets forth the

information concerning our Directors:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (EJ&3t), aged 66, is the spouse of Ms. Chan
May Kiu. Mr. Lo has been appointed as an executive Director and the
chairman of our Board since 9 August 2019 and has been appointed
as the chairman of the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) of the Company since 17 July 2020. Mr. Lo is also the
director in certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is responsible
for the overall strategic planning and business development and

overseeing the daily operation of our Group.

Mr. Lo attained his secondary school education in the PRC. Mr. Lo
has over 35 years of experience in the construction industry. Prior to
the incorporation of CK Engineering together with Mrs. Lo in March
1996, Mr. Lo worked as a foreman in Holly Woodworks Engineering
Limited, a construction company in Hong Kong, from 1981 to 1989,
where he was responsible for monitoring construction projects. He
started and carried out his own construction business under the
trade name of “Chi Kan” from 1989 to 1996.

Ms. Chan May Kiu (BR 3 18), aged 60, is the spouse of Mr. Lo Hon
Kwong. Mrs. Lo has been appointed as an executive Director and
the chief operations officer of our Group since 9 August 2019. She is
responsible for overseeing the administration, human resources and

financial matters of our Group.

Mrs. Lo attained her secondary school education in Hong Kong.
From October 1986 to July 1989, Mrs. Lo worked as a sales clerk
in Hang Hing Steel Furniture Company, a Hong Kong company
engaged in the sales of furniture, where she was responsible for
the sales and accounting matters of the company. From 1989 to
1993, Mrs. Lo worked as an accounts clerk in Holly Woodworks
Engineering Limited, a construction company in Hong Kong, where

she was responsible for the accounting matters of the company.
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Ms. Zhou Honghong (JE4LAL), aged 38, has been appointed as an
executive Director since 7 March 2025. Ms. Zhou possesses extensive
management experience in the finance and e-commerce operations
industry and profound expertise in corporate management. Ms.
Zhou joined the Group in February 2021. She is currently a director
and/or legal representative of certain subsidiaries of the Company,
including the president, director and legal representative of Baiyin
Zhigin Technology Development Co., Ltd* (F R 25 #) Bl #% 3%
AR AR, the legal representative and executive director of Xi'an
Zhigin Technology Development Co., Ltd* (78 & & #) &} % 3%
AR AT, and the president and director of Yunchuang Space
(Jinhua) Technology Co., Ltd.* (ZAIZE M (£ ) BHE AR A R]).

Prior to joining the Group, from 2007 to 2013, Ms. Zhou worked as
a finance manager at Xi'an Shulin Book Technology Co., Ltd* (7%
EWME ZRHL B R A A)), where she was responsible for financial
accounting, day-to-day financial management and purchasing
management of the company. From 2015 to 2016, Ms. Zhou worked
as a finance and administrative manager at Jinghong Investment
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd* (REMEEBHEREZEFR
73 8]), where she was responsible for financial management and
administrative management. She then served as the executive
vice president of Baiyin Jingi Technology Development Co., Ltd.*
(AR FTRHEEEABRAT) from 2017 to 2020, where she was
responsible for the day-to-day operation and management of the
new retail and e-commerce segment, supply chain management

and financial management of the company.

Ms. Zhou obtained her bachelor’s degree in computerised
accounting from the Gansu Economic and Trade School* (HEEE
£ S ER) in July 2006. She is currently pursuing a business
administration degree from the Lanzhou University of Finance and

Economics.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Zhongzhou (BR &), aged 55, has been appointed as the
non-executive Director since 30 November 2021. He graduated from
Capital Normal University with a bachelor’s degree in calligraphy in
July 2002. Mr. Chen is currently the curator of Chen Zhongzhou Art
Gallery* (BRAEIMZTMTER). He is also the dean of the school of arts
of Qingdao Huanghai University (5 & & /8 2k E11728t) and the
school of fine arts of University of Jinan (BRI AEZEMERT). Mr.
Chen is also working as a vice curator and an executive vice director
of China Zhigong Art Gallery* (FBIZEIAZE L) and Zhongwai
Celebrities Culture Research Association* (FRINE AL &)
respectively.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Yick Fung (§8% %), aged 55, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and a
member of each of the audit committee (the "Audit Committee”)
and the Nomination Committee of the Company since 2 April
2024. Mr. Lai possesses over 25 years of work experience in finance
and accounting and company secretarial matters in various Hong
Kong listed companies. Mr. Lai had been the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Value Convergence Holdings Limited
(Stock code: 821), a company listed on Main Board of the The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since April
2018 and May 2018 respectively till July 2024. Prior to that, he joined
China Eco-Farming Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 8166), as company secretary from May
2015 to March 2018 and as executive director from July 2015 to
March 2018.

Mr. Lai obtained his master degree of science in financial
management with merits award from University of London in
2004 and bachelor degree of arts in accountancy from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 1993. Mr. Lai was a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an associate
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

* for identification purpose only
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Ms. Chan Sze Man (FR&F#), aged 44, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairlady of the Audit
Committee and a member of each of the Nomination Committee

and Remuneration Committee since 17 July 2020.

Ms. Chan obtained her Bachelor's degree of Business Administration
in Accounting from The Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology in November 2003. She has been a fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since March 2016.

Ms. Chan has over 15 years of experience in the accounting and
auditing industry in Hong Kong. From September 2003 to April 2010,
Ms. Chan worked in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, an international
accounting firm, with her last position as a manger. In June 2010,
she joined Tongda Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 698), which is engaged in the electronic
products business, as an account manager and was promoted to
the position of chief financial officer and company secretary in
January 2011, where she was responsible for the corporate finance,
accounts and company secretarial functions until August 2018,
when she has been appointed as a non-executive director of the
company. Ms. Chan acted as an independent non-executive director
of Sunrise (China) Technology Group Limited (currently known as
KOALA Financial Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8226) from October 2012 to April 2015.
Ms. Chan also acted as an independent non- executive director
of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8147) from June 2014
to July 2017. She has served as an independent non-executive
director of Future Development Holdings Limited (formerly known
as China Child Care Corporation Limited), a company listed on
the Main Board (stock code: 1259) since September 2016. From
September 2018 to November 2019, Ms. Chan worked in Transmit
Entertainment Limited, a company listed on the Main Board (stock
code: 1326), which is engaged in media and entertainment business
in Hong Kong and the PRC, as the chief financial officer where she
was responsible for finance, accounts and secretarial matters of

the company. She also served as an independent non-executive

Director of Weiye Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
‘ Board (stock code: 1570) since September 2024.
7..
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In March 2012, two writs of summons were issued against Seamless
Green China (Holdings) Limited (“Seamless Green”), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8150), and its
directors including Ms. Chan. One of the claims alleged that the
directors of Seamless Green breached their fiduciary duties by
issuing a notice to convene a special general meeting in Dongguan,
Guangdong at an early hour of the day so as to discourage or
prevent shareholders from attending and voting at the special
general meeting. The other claim alleged that the directors of
Seamless Green breached their fiduciary duties by issuing warrants
and share options to others so as to dilute the then shareholders’
voting rights which might result in the relevant resolutions at the
special general meeting not being passed. The writs were issued
against Ms. Chan solely because she was then one of the directors of
Seamless Green and none of the claims was made against Ms. Chan
personally. Ms. Chan resigned from her position in November 2013.
The claims relating to Ms. Chan under the writs were dismissed in
April 2018.

Mr. Shum Ngok Wa (T &), aged 35, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee since 1 February
2024. Mr. Shum possesses extensive experience in the finance

industry and profound expertise in corporate management.

From September 2012 to February 2018, Mr. Shum worked in
credit and risk control department of Kingston Securities Limited,
where he was responsible for credit assessment and risk control
matters. Subsequently, from July 2019 to February 2022, he worked
at Premium Financial Limited, leaving with his last position as a
director, overseeing the overall management and operation of the

money lending business in Hong Kong.
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Since August 2023, He has been a founder and director of a
Software as a Service (SaaS) company in Hong Kong, delivering SaaS
technology solutions for e-commerce businesses, principally in the

Greater China Region.

Mr. Shum has served as an executive director of Dowway Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 8403) since December 2022. Additionally, Mr.
Shum also previously held positions as a non-executive director of
Leadway Technology Investment Group Limited (formerly known as
HNA Technology Investments Holdings Limited) (Stock Code: 2086)
from August 2021 to July 2022 and as a non-executive director of
Hang Pin Living Technology Company Limited (formerly known as
Highlight China IoT International Limited) (Stock Code: 1682) from
July 2016 to June 2017.

Mr. Shum obtained his bachelor degree of Business Administration
(Honours) in Quantitative Finance and Risk Management from
City University of Hong Kong in 2011. Mr. Shum is also a Certified
Financial Risk Manager (FRM) of the Global Association of Risk

Professionals.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Tsang Chun Kit (G # %), aged 39, has more than 10 years of
experience in accounting and auditing matters. Prior to joining the
Group as a financial controller in January 2019, Mr. Tsang gained
experience in handling company secretarial matters and assisting in
corporate finance matters for various listed companies. Mr. Tsang is
a practising member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He is also an associate member of The Chartered
Governance Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance
Institute. He graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology with a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied
Physics in 2009.

|
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The Board submits the annual report together with the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025

(the “Financial Statements”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the provision of formwork services and other construction services
in Hong Kong (the “Listing Business”), and E-Commerce business in
PRC.

The activities and particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are

shown under note 31 to the Financial Statements.

GROUP REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 April
2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Company Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands. In preparation
of the Listing, the Group underwent the reorganisation pursuant
to which the Company became the holding company of the
subsidiaries now comprising the Group. For details of the

Reorganisation, please refer to note 1 to the Financial Statements.

The Listing was completed on 14 August 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group, with the description of the
principal risks and uncertainties, for the year ended 31 March 2025
and the likely future development, are included in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report

on pages 6 to 18, which forms part of this report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on pages 120 to 121 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2025.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 22 August 2025, the register of members of the Company will
be closed from 19 August 2025 to 22 August 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares (the “Shares”)
of the Company will be registered. Shareholders of the Company
are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Branch Share Registrar (Branch Share Registrar) in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Financial
Centre, No.16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
18 August 2025.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company
or by the Group after 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this

annual report.

|
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CHANGES OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
Directors’ information since the disclosure made in the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out
below.

Name of Director

EEHR R

EZEREE

BE EMHRNEI1351BMIE - AAXRRQFEZE2024
FIANBLFENTHREZEENEETERZTH
FIEAT ©

Details of Changes

Ms. Chan Sze Man
FRESF B £

Ms. Chan has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Weiye Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock

Exchange (stock code: 1570), since September 2024.

MRZ L H2024FIARBZERBRA LM ARBEERARA
Al (BROASR : 1570) HIBILIEMITES -

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years are included in the
section headed “Financial Summary” in this annual report on page

236, which forms part of this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the shares issued during the year ended 31 March 2025 are

set out in note 26 to the Financial Statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

The Company did not enter into any contract, other than the
contracts of service with the directors or any person engaged in the
full-time employment of the Company, whereby any individual, firm
or body corporate undertakes the management and administration
of the whole, or any substantial part of any business of the

Company.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders of the Company amounted to

approximately HK$459.6 million.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in note 16 to

the Financial Statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing

shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 77.1% (2024:
approximately 70.1%) of the Group's total construction revenue.
The largest customer accounted for approximately 26.7% (2024:

approximately 22.0%) of the Group's total revenue.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's five largest
subcontractors in aggregate accounted for approximately 69.5%
(2024: approximately 52.7%) of the Group’s total subcontracting fee.
The largest subcontractor accounted for approximately 29.4% (2024:

approximately 18.1%) of the Group's total subcontracting fee.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's five largest
suppliers in aggregate accounted for approximately 72.4% (2024:
66.0%) of the Group's total material costs. The largest supplier

account_gefr—?

the Group's totaﬂl material costs.

pproximately 25.5% (2024: approximately 27.5%) of
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At no time during the year have directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which to knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company)
had any interest in these major customers, subcontractors and

suppliers.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to

shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s shares.

SHARE SCHEMES

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme on 17 July 2020
and the Share Award Scheme on 23 April 2025, respectively.

The Share Award Scheme was contemplated and adopted to be
funded by existing shares of the Company. During the year ended 31
March 2025, no shares were acquired by the trustee pursuant to the
rules governing the Share Award Scheme and no share awards were
granted to the employees by the Company pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme. No share option had been granted or agreed to be
granted by the Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme as
at 31 March 2025. Accordingly, the number of shares that may be
issued in respect of options and awards granted under the Share
Award Scheme and Share Option Scheme divided by the weighted
average number of Shares in issue for the financial year ended 31
March 2025 is nil.

Share Option Scheme

The number of options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme at the beginning and the end of the year is 100,000,000 and
100,000,000 respectively, representing 10% of the total issued shares
of the Company as at the date of this annual report. No option
was granted during the year and there were no movements in the
number of the share options under the Share Option Scheme during
the year.
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Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out as follows:

(a)

(b)

‘ F

30

Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contributions that ESOS Eligible Participants (as
defined below) have made or may make to our Group.

Participants of the Share Option Scheme

Our Board may at its discretion grant options to: (a) any
employee (whether full time or part time, including any
executive director but excluding any non-executive director)
of our Company, any subsidiary or any entity in which our
Group holds at least 20% of its issued share capital (“Invested
Entity”); (b) any non-executive Director (including independent
non-executive Directors) of our Company, any subsidiary
or any Invested Entity; (c) any supplier of goods or services
of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any
customer of any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;
(e) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of our Group
or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any member of
our Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by any member of our Group or any Invested Entity; (g)
any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
our Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any other group or
classes of participants who have contributed or may contribute
by way of joint venture, business alliance or other business
arrangement to the development and growth of our Group,
and, for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, options
may be granted to any company wholly owned by one or more
of the above participants (the “ESOS Eligible Participants”).

|
|
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Maximum number of Shares available for issue under the

Share Option Scheme

The maximum number of Shares available of issue under the
Share Option Scheme is 100,000,000 Shares, representing 10%
of the issued capital of the Company as at the date of this

report.

Maximum Entitlement of Each ESOS Eligible Participant

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each ESOS Eligible
Participant or grantee (including exercised and outstanding
options) in any twelve (12)-month period up to the date of
grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue. Where it is
proposed that any offer is to be made to an ESOS Eligible
Participant (or where approximate, an existing grantee)
which would result in the shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options granted and to be granted to
such person (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding
options) in the twelve (12)-month period up to and including
the relevant date of grant to exceed such limit, such offer
and any acceptance thereof must be conditional upon
shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such Eligible
Participant (or where appropriate, an existing grantee) and his,

her or its associates abstaining from voting.

Time of exercise of option

An option may (and may only) be exercised in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period as our Board may determine which shall not
exceed 10 years from the offer date subject to the provisions
of early termination thereof, and provided that our Board may
determine the minimum period for which an option has to be

held or other restrictions before its exercise.

(c)

(d)

(e)
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(f)

(9)

‘ F

32

The grantee shall not exercise an option to the extent that
the public float of our Company will be less than 25% (or
such higher percentage as required by the Stock Exchange or
the Listing Rules) of the issued share capital of our Company
immediately after the allotment and issue of the Shares upon

such exercise of the option.

Vesting period of options granted under the Share Option

Scheme

Our Board may impose such terms and conditions of the offer
of grant either on a case-by-case basis or generally as are not
inconsistent with the Share Option Scheme including but not
limited to the minimum period for which an option must be

held before it can be exercised.
Amount payable on acceptance of an Offer of Options

An offer for the grant of options shall be deemed to have
been accepted when our Company receives the letter
containing the offer duly signed by the grantee together
with a remittance of HK$1.00 (or such other nominal sum in
any currency as our Board may determine) in favour of our
Company as consideration for the grant thereof within such
time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later
than 21 days from the offer date). Such remittance shall in
no circumstances be refundable. Once accepted, the option
is granted as from the date on which it was offered to the

relevant ESOS Eligible Participant.

|
|
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(h)

(i)

Exercise Price

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option
Scheme shall, subject to any adjustments made in respect of
alteration of share capital, be a price determined by our Board
and shall not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of
the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the offer date of the relevant option, which must be
a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the business
of dealing in securities (a “Trading Day"); (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five Trading Days immediately
preceding the offer date of the relevant option; and (iii) the

nominal value of a Share on the offer date.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years after the date of adoption (i.e. 17 July 2020),
after which no further options may be issued. Accordingly, as
at the date of this annual report, the remaining life of Share

Option Scheme is approximately 5 years and 1 month.

For further details on the Share Option Scheme, please refer
to the section headed "Appendix IV — Statutory and General
Information — E. Share Option Scheme” of the prospectus of
the Company dated 30 July 2020.

(h)

(i)
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Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme was adopted by the Company on 23 April
2025 (the "Adoption Date”). Unless it is early terminated by the

board of directors of the Company in accordance with the terms

therein, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a

term of ten years commencing on the Adoption Date. Accordingly,

no awarded shares were available for grant under the Share Award

Scheme at the beginning and the end of the year, and no share was

awarded under the Share Award Scheme during the year.

(a)

(b)

34

Purpose of the Share Award Scheme

The objectives of the Share Award Scheme are: (a) recognise
and reward the contribution of certain Eligible Participants (as
defined below) to the growth and development of the Group
and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group; (b) to
attract suitable personnel beneficial for further development
of the Group; and (c) to provide certain Eligible Participants
with a direct economic interest in attaining a long-term
relationship between any member of the Group and such

Eligible Participants.
Participants of the Share Award Scheme

Any independent key opinion customer(s) who has/have
signed service contract(s) with a member of the Group
to promote and facilitate the sale of the products on the
e-commerce platform operated by the Group on a continuing
or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business
which are in the interests of the long term growth of the
Group (the “Eligible Participants”). The share award may be
made to the nominee of the above participant subject to the
approval of the Board or the committee delegated by the
Board with the power and authority to administer the Share
Award Scheme in accordance with the rules therein (the
“Committee”). Maximum number of shares to be purchased by
the trustee pursuant to the Share Award Scheme 100,000,000
Shares, rejresenting 10% of the total number of issued Shares

as at the date of this annual report.
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(c)

(d)

(e)

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Participants

Subject to the maximum number of share awards that may be
granted under the Share Award Scheme, there is no restriction
on the maximum number of share awards which may be

granted to an awardee.

The period within which the share award may be exercised

by the Eligible Participants

An award shall be deemed to be declined in its entirety by
an Eligible Participant who has achieved the performance
target as announced by the Group in its e-commerce platform
from time to time or his personal representative (a “Selected
Participant”) unless the Selected Participant shall within five
(5) business days after receipt of notice of grant of award from
the Board or the Committee notify the Company in writing

that he would accept such award.

The vesting period of share awards granted

The Board or the Committee shall, subject to and in
accordance with the rules of Share Award Scheme, be
entitled (but shall not be bound) to, at any time during the
continuation of the Scheme, make an award to any of the
Eligible Participants who have fulfilled the performance target
as from time to time announced by the Company. As such,
the awarded Shares granted under the Share Award Scheme
shall not be subject to any vesting period. All Awarded Shares
shall be subject to a lock-up period and the length of which as

determined by the Board or the Committee absolutely.
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award and the period within which payments or calls must

or may be made or loans for such purposes must be paid

No purchase price is payable on application or acceptance of

the Share award.

Basis of determination of the purchase price of the shares

awarded

The purchase price of the shares awarded (if any) shall be
such price within a range as determined by the Board or the
Committee based on various consideration factors such as the
prevailing market conditions as well as the average closing

price of the shares of the Company in the recent period.

Remaining life of the Share Award Scheme

The Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of the
10th anniversary date of the Adoption Date and such date of
early termination as determined by the Board provided that
such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights of the
Selected Participants. Accordingly, as at the date of the report,
the remaining life of Share Award Scheme is approximately

9 years and 10 months.

On-market purchase of Shares and grant of awarded Shares

During the year, the Company did not purchase nor granted
any awarded Shares. Since the adoption of the Share Award
Scheme and up to the date of this report, the Company has
purchased 3,780,000 shares on-market but no awarded shares

has been granted.

-
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The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this

annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. Chan May Kiu
Ms. Zhou Honghong (Appointed on 7 March 2025)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Chen Zhongzhou

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lai Yick Fung (appointed on 2 April 2024)

Ms. Chan Sze Man

Mr. Shum Ngok Wa

Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (resigned on 2 April 2024)

Ms. Zhou Honghong was appointed as executive director of the
Company on 7 March 2025. She obtained a legal advice from a firm
of solicitors qualified to advice on Hong Kong law referred to in
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 5 March 2025 and confirmed her

understanding of her obligations as a director of the Company.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association (the
"Articles”), at each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation. However,
if the number of Directors is not a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one third shall be the number
of retiring Directors. The Directors to retire in each year shall be
those who have been in office longest since their last re-election or
appointment but, as between persons who became or were last re-
elected Directors on the same day, those to retire shall (unless they
otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot. Each of
Ms. Chan May Kiu and Mr. Chen Zhongzhou will retire from office
and offer himself/herself for re-election at the 2025 annual general
meeting (the “2025 AGM").
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Pursuant to Article 112, the Board shall have power from time to
time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an additional Director. Any Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the
first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election. Ms. Zhou Honghong was
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy and she shall retire
from office and will offer herself for re-election at the 2025 AGM in

accordance with Article 112.

Details of the Directors standing for re-election at the 2025 AGM are
set out in the circular to be despatched to the shareholders of the

Company together with this annual report.

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). The
Company considers all of the independent non-executive Directors

to be independent.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior

Management’on pages 19 to 24 of this annual report.
DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company and each of the independent non-executive
Directors has signed an appointment letter with the Company. The
appointment of each of the Directors is for a period of three years
commencing from the date of appointment and shall continue
thereafter until it is terminated by either party by giving not less
than thrgﬁﬁhs' notice.

F
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None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the 2025
AGM has a service contract with any member of the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of

compensation (other than statutory compensation).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director shall be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses and
liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in the execution
of his duties or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that such
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to such Director. There is appropriate
directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Group. Such provision was in force as of date of
this annual report and during the financial year ended 31 March
2025.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE GROUP’S BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in note 27 to the Financial Statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the
Company, or any of its holding company, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director had a material
interest, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 13 to the

Financial Statements.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interest in Shares, Underlying
shares and Debentures of the Company or any associated

corporation

As at the 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) and the chief executives
of the Company in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, within the meaning
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO”"), which (a) were
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the "Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”),
were as follows:

(a) Long position/Short position in the Shares or Underlying

shares of the Company:

ESRIFETRAERAE QA RE[AEBEEMEB
Bt - BB RESFFHER

202538318 - AARIER([EE ) RARR]
FETHAERARAREBE ZE(EERES
REAEIEOI([ BH REEEO]) )k G - HER
DREFF - HHBIEESKEEEAFEXVED
FIRSDBAMNEG AR RBEBHARBER
AR AT ] ) B s MoK B (B IEIRIEE 5 L 5
EROINBEBGXEEREEIRAEENER
KoKR) (o) BB FEH KB EIEAIFE 3526785
SR ZIRFTIENEEMANER AR ROR
BEE AT E AR RN EmR A M8k 10FT &k
ETBTAZESETES R INZETRI([1B%E
SR ZBME AR R KR TR AR T ¢

(a) RERARGZEERGHIFRE KR -

Capacity/ Approximate
Name of Directors Nature of interest Total interests Percentage
EEfE 5% @t EmAE BMAOBEDE
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (“Mr. Lo") (Note 1) Interest in a controlled 376,750,000(L) 37.6%
EENEE(ELE] (FMFED) operation

SN E
Ms. Chan May Kiu (“Mrs. Lo") (Note 2) Interest of spouse 376,750,000(L) 37.6%

REB/LE(TEAK]D (HEE2) FCfBiEs

L: "?-’F'[a%’g positions

|
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Notes:

1. Mr. Lo holds the entire issued share capital of Magnificent Faith
Limited (“Magnificent Faith”) and is deemed to be interested
in all the Shares held by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of
the SFO. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under
the SFO.

2. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed

to be interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

(b) Long position in the Shares of associated corporation of the
Company:

PaE

L EREREEEARAR(ERDHNEE
BEITRA - BEFLBMERDImE -
HKEBRERBENMBRNDTHE %
Mo EAKBERENRRS - At - R
BHELRHREGRD - EARBERARERE
HANMARDTHEEES

2. EXXRBEXREMNERR - At - REFES
MGG EAARESNELERE
EPT A B A R

(b) RARBEHLZERGIIFE :

Capacity/ Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Name of associated corporation Nature of interest shares held interest
] HEEEEE 5/ EEME HREE BEEAL
Mr. Lo (Note 1) Magnificent Faith Beneficial owner 1 100%
B (M) F8 EHEAA

Note:

1. Mr. Lo holds the entire issued share capital of Magnificent
Faith and is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of the SFO. Mrs. Lo is
the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS/
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

So far as was known to the Directors, as at 31 March 2025, the
following persons (not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or short positions
in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly or
indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general
meetings of any member of the Group:

Wi

1L EEERBAEENZHEETRA - AxE
HFRHEHRAME - WEANEEFENM
BRMTHAER - EAXXRESLLENE
8- Bt REBEEFRBMEGED - EAKK
BRINESEFBORBERDTIRAE

FERRRAQ RS RAREKRGF
MRS KA

BEEAM - M2025F3H831H » FHAL(IIE
EERARAEBITERAL)REDABREGS

HA SRR AR REES RS KFIEXVIEE?2

K35 ERIGESERA A 7 KB A iR TR M AR 5
/ﬁfa; R EERNHEEENTEENAI R EER
THEASEBEAKERRREAS LIRENEM
KB ARAN B 10%3k JA_E HyERS
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Number of Shares

Approximate
percentage of
interests in

Name Nature of interest (Note 1) our Company
BRHHE LERNETEE £
[ LYt M (MEE1) BHABED
Magnificent Faith Beneficial owner 376,750,000(L) 37.6%
(EE BB A
Mr. Lo (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 376,750,000(L) 37.6%
B (fIsE2) corporation
REEE R
Mrs. Lo (Note 3) Interest of spouse 376,750,000(L) 37.6%
BEAXN(MEE3) B R
CT Vision Strategic Company Limited Beneficial owner 191,250,000(L) 19.1%
(“CT Vision”) EmHEBA
PREERBERAR([HREE]D)
Dr. Ho Chun Kit Gregory (“Dr. Ho") (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 191,250,000(L) 19.1%
R EE L (TRIEL 1) (KE4) SN
Zhongchuang Boli (Hong Kong) Beneficial owner 170,000,000(L) 17.0%
Company Limited ("ZCB") EnEEA
AR (FE)BR AT HEIER )
Li Qiang (“Mr. Li") (Note 5) Interest in a controlled corporation 184,716,000(L) 18.4%
e ([ 254 1) (MiEEs) REEE R
Zhongchuang Boli Technology Holding Interest in a controlled 181,704,000 (L) 18.2%
Company Limited* (“ZCB China”) (Note 5)  corporation
PAERRIRIER AR AR ([RAIEN SIEEEERE
) (FIEES)
Beneficial owner 3,012,000 (L) 0.3%
EmEa A
Baiyinyun Small Town Development Beneficial owner 11,704,000 (L) 1.2%

Company Limited* (“BYY") (Note 5) EmEa A
HiRE/E BRAB(THRE])
‘ (P &ES5) H

’ |
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Notes:

1. The letter (L) denotes the person’s long position in our Shares or

underlying Shares; the letter (S) denotes the person’s short position in
our Shares or underlying Shares.

2. Magnificent Faith is a company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly-
owned by Mr. Lo. Mr. Lo is deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by Magnificent Faith for the purpose of the SFO.

3. Mrs. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Lo. Accordingly, Mrs. Lo is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Mr. Lo under the SFO.

4. CT Vision is a company incorporated in the BVI and is wholly-owned
by Dr. Ho. Dr. Ho is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
CT Vision for the purpose of the SFO.

5. ZCB is a company incorporated in the BVl and is wholly owned by ZCB
China, which in turn is owned as to 70% by Mr. Li. ZCB is the beneficial
owner of 3,012,000 Shares and held 75% equity interest in BYY, which
in turn held 11,704,000 Shares. Accordingly, Mr. Li is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by ZCB, ZCB China and BYY under the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the
Directors were not aware of any other person (other than the
Directors) who had, or was deemed to have, interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who was
directly or indirectly interested in 10% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of any member of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Directors’
and Chief Executives’ Interest in Shares, Underlying shares and
Debentures of the Company or any associated corporation” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors or their associates to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of Shares or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

No purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities
was made by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
which require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules for

the FY2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company

are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 47 to 66.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in the mandatory provident fund prescribed
by the Mandatory Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and certain retirement benefit scheme under
the regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Save
as the aforesaid, the Group did not participate in any other pension

schemes during the year ended 31 March 2025.
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COMPETING BUSINESS

For the FY2025, none of the Directors or the Controlling
Shareholders and their respective close associates had any interests
in any business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or likely to compete (either directly or indirectly) with the

business of the Group.

Non-Competition Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders

The Controlling Shareholders had entered into a deed of non-
competition on 17 July 2020 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”). The
Controlling Shareholders confirmed their compliance with all the
undertakings provided under the Deed of Non-Competition. The
independent non-executive Directors had reviewed the compliance
with the Deed of Non-Competition and are satisfied that the
Controlling Shareholders have complied with the terms of the Deed
of Non-Competition during FY2025.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct of
dealings in securities of the Company by Directors. Upon specific
enquires of all the Directors, each of them confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code

during the year.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS UNDER RULE 13.18 OF THE
LISTING RULES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company as guarantor, and Chi Kan
Woodworks Company Limited (an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) as borrower, entered into a facility agreement
relating to a HK$7.5 million (“Facility 1”) general banking and term

loan facilities with a licensed bank in Hong Kong as a lender.
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According to the Facility 1, the Company, as guarantor, has
undertaken to the lender that not less than 50% of the free cash

balance to be maintained with the bank.

A breach of the above undertakings will constitute an event of
default, and the lenders may cancel or suspend the facilities and
demand repayment of any outstanding amounts under the facility

agreements together with interest accrued thereon.

The above undertakings contain covenants relating to specific
performance of the controlling shareholders of the Company which

are subject to disclosure under Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited were appointed as auditors of the
Company in 2024 upon the retirement of Moore Stephens CPA
Limited.

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 have
been audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited.

By order of the Board
Chi Kan Holdings Limited

Lo Hon Kwong

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025

. -2
46

Chi Kan Hol s Limited S E)#E AR AR AR Annual Report 2025 3R

REME—  ARBERERA)EAERAE
o IR IRTTHER N D I50%H B IR S R o

ER EAAEBBREOEN  BERAFTBUERK
EERmEMREREERE HZEE MEARHKRER
B R IE R ERT S, -

R AEBE WAL T RRRERE LT R
51321 AR BN R E R ENRH -

B BREm
REFHREGHMEHHARATDBEE - R
204% - REREGHDEHHERA ST

R RIRZEED o

HZE2055F3 A3 B L FE 2 BREABFPELE
ST EBFAR A REZ ©

EEFEEm
EHEZERBRAT

FTERBTEE
S

EB 2025568278



ComxwauaGovewmnceRepoﬂ

/JE Hv/\lil 315& ]

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report of

the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance with an aim to protect the

interest of shareholders.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix C1 (the “CG Code") of the Listing Rules. Upon
the Listing and up to 31 March 2025, the Company complied with
all applicable provisions of the CG Code except for the deviation as

stated below:

Pursuant to C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. The Company does not officially have chief
executive. The role and function of chief executive have been
performed by all the executive Directors collectively. The Board
believes that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure
an effective management and control of the Group's business
operations. The Board will continue to review the effectiveness of
the Group's structure as business continues to grow and develop in
order to assess whether any changes, including the appointment of

chief executive officer, is necessary.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules upon the Listing. All
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during FY2025 in response to
the specific enquiry made by the Company.
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The Board has established written guidelines no less exacting than
the Model Code for relevant employees in respect of their dealings
in the securities of the company as required under the CG Code.
No incident of non-compliance of such guidelines by the relevant

employees was noted by the Company during FY2025.
THE BOARD

The Board acts in good faith, with due diligence and care, to
discharge its duties concerning the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The primary role of the Board is to protect
and enhance long term shareholders’ value; it also oversees the
management, business, strategies and financial performance of
the Group to ensure that good corporate governance policies and
practices are implemented within the Group. The management is
responsible for the execution of the strategies in the Group's daily
operations and the implementation of the risk management and

internal control systems.

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of

this annual report is set out below:
Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) (Note)
Ms. Chan May Kiu (Note)
Ms. Zhou Honghong (Appointed on 7 March 2025)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Appointed on 2 April 2024)

Ms. Chan Sze Man

Mr. Shum Ngok Wa

Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Resigned on 2 April 2024)

Note: Ms. Chan

Nhay Kiu is the spouse of Mr. Lo Hon Kwong.
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The biographies of the Directors during the year and up to the date
of this annual report and the relationships among them are set
out in the “Biographies of the Directors and Senior Management”
section on pages 19 to 24 of this annual report. The executive
Directors bring a good balance of skills and experience to the
Company. The independent non-executive Directors provide their
independent judgement on the development, performance and risk
management of the Group. The Directors are fully aware that they

are individually and collectively accountable to shareholders.

The executive Directors have entered into service contracts with
the Company and each of the non-executive Director and the
independent non-executive Directors have been appointed on
a specific term of three years. Notwithstanding the specific term
of appointments, the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”) provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting at
least once every three years. At each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire shall retire from

office by rotation and be eligible for re-election by the shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of
the Company, including the formulation and approval of all policy
matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management
systems, and monitor the performance of the senior executives. The
Directors have to make decisions objectively in the interests of the

Company.

Liability insurance for the Directors and senior management officers
of the Company was maintained by the Company with coverage for
any legal liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their

duties.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

For the FY2025, the Board at all times met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors representing one-third of
the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management

expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that

all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The management, consisting of executive Directors along with
other senior executives, is delegated with responsibilities for
implementing the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board
from time to time, and conducting the day-to-day operations of the

Group.

Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review
the performance of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-
ordinate overall resources and make financial and operational
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs

of the Group.

|
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall

strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of

the Group. Directors may participate either in person or through

electronic means of communication.

Pursuant to code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, the Board should

meet regularly and board meetings should be held at least four

times a year.

The attendance of the respective Directors to the Board Meeting

since the date of last annual report and up to the date of this annual

report are set out below:

ExgEa

EFeTHRTERUNRLBIEEERBEUR
REBNWEENTBRE BEEAHERUE
BASA2EEE -

RIBEFERTRIA TR
HHE EFeRBEFRTELMR-

BREZER L NFRAPUAREEAFHAHL
FEFEEZMBERIAIIWAT -

Attendance/
Number of
meeting
HE
R EERE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) EEREE(EE) 3/4
Ms. Chan May Kiu PRIEE 2+ 3/4
Ms. Zhou Honghong (Appointed on 7 March 2025) BAT A 22 (FR2025F3 A7 EE ) 1/4
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou PR M ST A 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHHITES
Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Appointed on 2 April 2024) P AE (202454 A2 EZRT) 4/4
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFH T 4/4
Mr. Shum Ngok Wa MRS A 4/4
Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Resigned on 2 April 2024) RRIRE LT (FR2024F4 A28 BHE) 0/4
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT EEREEHERE
OF DIRECTORS

During the FY2025, all Directors confirmed to comply with the  R205FHEE » 2BEERRAETLESE
provision of the CG Code in relation to continuous professional  <FRIBMAFEHE LB EMNIE - LI BES - &
development. In doing so, the Directors have undertaken various ZEETEHAQNFER ESRENSTHEED
forms of activities relevant to the Company’s business, Directors’ ZEZRETE - KA FREETR AL RES
duties and responsibilities. The Company held a training for all ~ 82#E3)|  FRETHRESNBELRET -
Directors to provide them with knowledge on the duties and

responsibilities of the Directors before their appointment.

The record of continuous professional development relating to  R2025FHMHFEE  EFCESHNEHESHRE
director’s duties and regulatory and business development that A R ESE K ¥ 753 R 1) 1548 S 2 2 B 0805 10
have been received by the Directors for the FY2025 are summarised | :

as follows:
Type of Training
(Note)
R
(Bf3E)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) EEREE(ER) B
Ms. Chan May Kiu PRIEE 2T B
Ms. Zhou Honghong (Appointed on 7 March 2025) B L+ (202553 A7R L T) A B
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou PR M ST A B
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHHTES
Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Appointed on 2 April 2025) P2 A (20254 A2 ELRT) A B
Ms. Chan Sze Man BREFBA T A B
Mr. Shum Ngok Wa RS A A B

'

|
I
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Note:

Type of Training

A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,

seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and

relevant publications

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established certain Board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to oversee specific aspects of the
Company'’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which clearly
outline the committees’ authority and duties. The terms of reference
of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s website
and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to shareholders

upon request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors. The members of the Board
committees during the FY2025 and up to the date of this annual

report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Ms. Chan Sze Man (Chairlady)

Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Appointed on 2 April 2024)

Mr. Shum Ngok Wa

Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Resigned on 2 April 2024)
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Remuneration Committee

Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Chairman) (Appointed on 2 April 2024)
Ms. Chan Sze Man

Mr. Shum Ngok Wa

Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Resigned on 2 April 2024)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman)

Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Appointed on 2 April 2024)

Ms. Chan Sze Man

Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Resigned on 2 April 2024)

Board committee are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at

the Company's expense.
Audit Committee

The Company has set up the Audit Committee on 17 July 2020 with
written terms of reference of no less exacting terms than those set
out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee are to
assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems, scope of
audit and appointment of external auditors, and arrangements to
enable employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or other matters

of the Company.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s financial
statements and the Group's consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2025, including the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Company and the Group.

|
|

Chi Kan Hol s Limited S E)#E AR AR AR Annual Report 2025 3R

54

FMZEES

FRRL L (FE)(R2024F4A2BEERT)
PREFEA T

MEESE

Z2RIRBE (FR2024F4 A28 8HT)

REZES

EEHNEE(FE)

FRZS WA A (FA2024F4 A2 A ER(E)
BREFEA T
RRIRB L (202454 A28 BHE)

EEZEeRREHENERNEITHRE - R
HEEREGE  AIREERRATSKBUERE
R BRAAREEE-

FRESE

RARIER2020F7 817K BZEES - Wi
ETBEREEERTANKERNSHBERE -
ERZEENEERERMESSRNMBEE
B RERREF ABEGHIRRAREERS %
HEMINEZBANED - UEEBAQREER]
HARNRMB R - ASIEH S HEmEE R e
REERITRIBLBERZHE -

EEE e EMEE2025F3A31B IEFEARAR
AP BEHRREAEBESHMBERE  BEAQR]
NASBMRMAN T RE R TS -



Corporate Governance Report
1t =) /\IZl 315& =

During the year, the major work performed by the Audit Committee

included, amongst other things, the following:

making recommendation to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the external auditors and approved their

terms of engagement;

reviewing the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance

with the applicable standards;

reviewing the change in accounting standards and
assessment of potential impacts on the Group’s financial

statements;

reviewing the interim and annual financial statements and the

related results announcements;

discussing the risk management and internal control systems
with management including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial

reporting functions;

reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate

governance and made recommendations to the Board; and

reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code.
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The attendance of the respective members to the Audit Committee
Meeting since the date of last annual report and up to the date of

this annual report are set out below:

EHRBBE E—MFRAPUAREEARFHA L
RECZZEGSZRNBRAFINWNT

Attendance/

Number of

meeting

HiE

RE ERRE

Ms. Chan Sze Man (Chairlady) PRETER (/%) 2/2
Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Appointed on 2 April 2024) TR A (2024 F4 A2 B EEE) 2/2
Mr. Shum Ngok Wa REELE A 2/2
Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Resigned on 2 April 2024) RERE L (R2024F4 A28 FHT) 0/2

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors on 27 June

2025 without the presence of the executive Directors.
Remuneration Committee

The Company has set up the Remuneration Committee on 17
July 2020 with written terms of reference of no less exacting
terms those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of the
Remuneration Committee include determining/reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior
management; and establishing transparent procedures for
developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that
no Director or any of his associates will participate in deciding his

own remuneration.

The Remuneration committee held one meeting to review and
make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company and the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management and other related
matters as well as review and make recommendation to the Board

on the remuneration of the new director appointed.

|
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Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management are set out in the sections headed “Directors’
Remuneration” and “Remuneration of the Senior Management” in

this annual report.

During the year, the major work performed by the Remuneration

Committee included, amongst other things, the following:

making recommendation to the Board in relation to the
remuneration of Directors and senior management of the

Group; and

making recommendation to the Board as to the terms of

reference of the Remuneration Committee.
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The attendance of the respective numbers to the Remuneration &K E B F—HEH B HALAK R E &= A F R B H
Committee Meeting since the date of last annual report up to the HEHFMEE@@ENIELEFWNT ¢
date of this annual report are set out below:
Attendance/
Number of
meeting
HERE,
SRRE
Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Chairman) Bl EE(ERE)

(Appointed on 2 April 2024) (HR2024F4 A2 B EZ ) 11
Ms. Chan Sze Man PREFER 22T 1/1
Mr. Shum Ngok Wa IREEL A /1
Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Resigned on 2 April 2024) REFE L (R2024F4 A28 BHT) 01
Nomination Committee EEZE5=

The Company has set up the Nomination Committee on 17 July
2020 with written terms of reference, which is revised on 20 June

2025, of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

ARABBE 202057 17BN IRBEES® » Wa]
ENBREEERTAMNKERNERREESE -
ZEE B H2025F6 A20B1{E3T °
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment
of Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and assessing

the independence of independent non-executive Directors.

In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s board
diversity policy, including but not limited to skills, industry and
regional experience, background, race, gender and other qualities
etc. In forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also
take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board

for adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships, the
Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s character,
qualifications, experience, independence and other relevant criteria
necessary to complement the corporate strategy and achieve Board
diversity, where appropriate, before making recommendation to the
Board.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting to review
the composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors, to consider the qualifications
of the retiring directors standing election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on 22 August 2025
as well as review and make recommendation to the Board on the

nomination of the new director appointed.

The Nomination Committee considered an appropriate balance of

diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.

|
|
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During the year, the major work performed by the Nomination

Committee included, amongst other things, the following:

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board;

to assist the Board in maintaining a board skills matrix;

to assess the independence of the independent non-

executive directors; and

to consider and make recommendations to the Board on the

re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting.

The attendance of the respective numbers to the Nomination
Committee Meeting since the date of last annual report up to the
date of this annual report are set out below:
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BEREB E—OFRABUREEBEERFREH
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Attendance/

Number of

meeting

HERE,

BRBIRE

Mr. Lo Hon Kwong (Chairman) BEEREE(EE) 1/1

Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Appointed on 2 April 2024) TR LA (2024 F4 A2 R ESRT) 11

Ms. Chan Sze Man BREFE L+ 1/

Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung (Resigned on 2 April 2024) RRIRB LT (R2024F4 A28 8HF) 0N
Corporate Governance Functions T EERBAE

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out inthe EE& 8 FHITH N EESASFRISTREXA21

code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. BBk EE o

During FY2025 to the date of this annual report, the Board had
reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management, the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code by Directors and relevant employees,
and the Company's compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in
this Corporate Governance Report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for overseeing the
Group's the risk management and internal control systems and
reviewing their effectiveness at least annually through the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its
oversight roles in the Group's financial, operational, compliance,
risk management and internal controls, while senior management
designs, implements and monitors the risk management and
internal control systems, and provides reports to the Board and
the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of these systems. Such
systems and internal controls are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group's business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems.

The Company has established formal risk management policy and
risk assessment criteria for the Group. Senior management identify
risks that potentially impact the key processes of their operations on
an annual basis. Risks are scored and ranked by their impact on the
business and the likelihood of their occurrence. Senior management
and department heads assess the effectiveness of the existing
controls and formulate risk mitigating activities. Results of the
annual risk assessment are coordinated by the Company Secretary
and reported to the Audit Committee, including amongst other
things, significant risks of the Group and the appropriate control

activities to mitigate and/or transfer the identified risks.

1, |
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The Group has maintained internal control guidelines and
procedures on the Group’s operational cycles relating to revenue,
purchase and expenditure, and human resources etc., to ensure
proper accounting records are kept so that reliable financial
reporting can be provided, the effectiveness and efficiency of
operation can be achieved, and the compliance with applicable
laws and regulations and safeguarding of assets can be maintained.
These procedures, together with the Company’s compliance
manual, have also shaped the control environment in which
and how the Group operates, including the budgeting controls,
investment decision making, risk assessment and practices of

corporate governance.

The Company does not have a formal internal audit department,
however, the Board has put in place adequate measures to perform

the internal audit function at different aspects of the Group.

The Company has engaged an external consultant to conduct
a review on selected business processes of the Group's internal
control system. Results of the review was communicated to the
Audit Committee. Issues identified are followed up for proper
implementation and the progress will be reported to the Audit
Committee periodically. The Audit Committee assists the Board to
conduct review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and the directors
through the Audit Committees are kept informed of significant risks
that may impact on the Group’s performance. For the year ended 31
March 2025, the Board considered the risk management and internal

control systems of the Group to be effective and adequate.

The Audit Committee has reviewed and is satisfied with the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group's accounting, internal audit

and financial reporting function.
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Regular meetings were held between the executive Directors
and senior management to review and monitor the business
and financial performance against the targets, the progress of
certification and contract receipts from the customers, the efficiency
in the use of the Group's resources in comparison to the budgets,
and the operational matters to ensure the Group has complied with
the regulations that have material impact to the Group'’s business.
The aim is to enhance the communication and accountability of the
Directors and management so that significant strategic, financial,
operational and compliance risks or potential deviations are timely
identified and dealt with in proper manner, which significant issues

are reported back to the Board for their attention.

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information,
the Group has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Group's Directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling confidential information,
monitoring information disclosure and responding to enquires.
While any potential inside information will be escalated to the
executive meetings or the Board via the established reporting
channels, the Directors will assess and determine if the inside
information of the Group exist where timely disclosure is required
to be made by way of an announcement published on the Stock
Exchange website. Control procedures have been implemented to
ensure that unauthorized access and use of inside information are

strictly prohibited.
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ emoluments are determined with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group. In addition, the Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee of the Company annually. Details of
the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 13 to the Financial

Statements.

|
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REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the remuneration of senior

management is listed below by band:

BEEEASHMH

REZE2025F3A31BILFE - 5EBEEABNTH
g ESHF T

Number of Person

Band of remuneration HiNEEE AE
HK$500,001 to HK$ 1,000,000 500,001/ 7T 2 1,000,000/ 7T 10
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 2

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited
is appointed as the external auditor of the Company. The fee paid
and payable in respect of audit services and non-audit services

amounted to HK$1.2 million and NIL respectively.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy that, in recommending
or declaring dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate and
sufficient cash reserves for meeting its working capital requirements
and future growth as well as its shareholder value. The Board
has the full discretion to declare and distribute dividends to the
Shareholders, and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to Shareholders’ approval. In proposing any dividend
payout, the Board shall also take into account, among other things,
the Group's financial results, financial position, cash flow situation,
business conditions and strategies, expected future operations and
earnings, capital requirements and expenditure plans, interests of
Shareholders, any restrictions on payment of dividends and any
other factors the Board may consider relevant. Any payment of the
dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under
the Companies Act, the Company’s articles and all applicable laws

and regulations.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. In
preparing the Financial Statements which give a true and fair view, it
is fundamental that the appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently. The statement of the external auditor of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the Financial
Statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on
pages 111 to 119 of this annual report. The Directors were not aware
of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions which
may cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company’s company secretary, Mr. Tsang Chun Kit, coordinates
the supply of information to the Directors and is the primary contact
person within the Company for all matters relating to the duties and
responsibilities of the company secretary. All Directors have access
to company secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year
ended 31 March 2025, he had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant

professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

For details of his biography, please refer to the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual

report.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

We seriously take care of the shareholders’ interest to ensure that
they are treated fairly and are able to exercise their shareholders’
rights effectively. Shareholders are entitled by the Articles
of Association and are also encouraged to participate in the
Company’s general meetings or appoint proxies to attend meetings
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
and put forward proposals. Such requisition should be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary for such purpose and

should specify the objects of the meeting.

The Board is not aware of any provisions allowing the shareholders
of the Company to put forward proposals at general meetings of
the Company under the Articles of Association and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders who wish to put forward
proposals at general meetings may refer to the preceding paragraph
to make written requisition to require the convening of an

extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

In case a shareholder wishes to nominate a person for election as
director in general meeting, the particulars of the candidate must
be stated in a nomination notice signed and deposited together
with a notice of willingness signed by the candidate to the company
secretary at the Company principal place of business (Rooms 1008
and 1009, 10 Floor, China Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha
Wan Road Kowloon, Hong Kong) or at the Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company. The notice should be

given at least seven days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining effective and timely
dissemination of the Group’s information to its shareholders and
the market. The annual shareholders’ meetings of the Company
are the primary forum for communication by the Company
with its shareholders and for shareholder participation. At the
annual general meeting of the Company, the Directors (or their
delegates as appropriate) are available to meet shareholders
and answer their enquires. In addition, the Company’s website
(http://www.chikanck.com) contains extensive company

information which is easily accessible.
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Enquiries may put to the Board through the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong at Rooms 1008 and 1009, 10 Floor,
China Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha Wan Road Kowloon,

Hong Kong (email: info@chikanck.com).

1, |
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SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
"Report”) describes the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") performance of Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and the subsidiaries (collectively known as the

“Group”).

Formwork service is the fundamental business segment of the
Group and the Group has engaged in E-Commerce business
since March 2021 via Baiyin Chi Kan Technology Development
Company Limited (“CK Baiyin”), which was incorporated in
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") on 24 February 2021.
The Group holds 51% equity interest in CK Baiyin whereas
an independent third party holds 49% equity interest in CK
Baiyin. For the principle of materiality, this ESG report covers
construction business and E-commerce business during the
year ended 31 March 2025 (the “FY 2025" or the “Year"), for
disclosing the ESG performance of our offices in Hong Kong
and the construction sites where the Group was engaged as a

formwork subcontractor.

In the construction sites where the Group was engaged, the
overall operations were in charge by the main contractors of
the projects. Under this operational model at the construction
sites where the Group was engaged, the quantitative
environmental data of project sites, such as records related to
waste generation and energy consumption, etc., were directly
managed by the main contractors, and the Group could not
access the mentioned records for disclosure in this Report.
Therefore, for the operation sites covered by this Report,
the quantitative environmental performance contributed
by the Group would focus on the office management of

headquarters in Hong Kong and in PRC.
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The Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and according
to the actual situation of the Group. The Report is published
annually in each financial year together with the Annual

Report of the Company for the Year.
REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality: The Group regularly makes reference
to the industry sustainability standards at the local
and international level and strives to integrate with
them. At the same time, regular communication with
stakeholders of various aspects is used to identify the
most concerned and important sustainability topics
for the Group. Those sustainability topics will also be
incorporated into the Group's development policies

under the overall strategy of the Group’s operations.

Quantitative: The Group is committed to quantifying
and disclosing key performance indicators and data
within the environmental and social categories, and
whenever feasible, explaining the methods of data
collection and calculation to enhance transparency of
the data.

Balance: In order to maintain the balance of reporting
content, fair disclosure of sustainability performance
and challenges related to the Group and stakeholders is

provided with impartial information to the public.

Consistency: The Group adheres to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for disclosure,
which allows the Group to make meaningful annual
comparisons of past performance under the same
framework, and to disclose updated calculation

mgthods of relevant data when necessary.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Group is committed to its stakeholders including
but not limited to employees, customers, suppliers,
creditors, regulators and the community for corporate
social responsibility. The Group believes in implementing
sound strategies and policies for environmental, social, and
governance would improve sustainability of the Group. Taking
a proactive approach to sustainability is an inherent part of
all aspects of the Group's corporate strategy, and also critical
to the Group's business success. The Group is of a view that
sustainability is an integral element in maintaining our leading
position in the industry and contributing positively to the

development of the communities.

The Board is fully aware of the importance of risk management
for sustainable development. The Board has the overall
responsibility for our ESG strategies and reporting, as well as
overseeing and managing our ESG-related risks. The Group
has developed an effective and sufficient risk management

and internal control system.

The Board delegates its responsibilities in regard to board
oversight of ESG issues to ESG management team to execute
the Group’s ESG policies, identify, evaluate, prioritise, manage
and mitigate material ESG-related issues that might adversely
affect our business. ESG management team formulates
effective strategies to balance the environmental and social
objectives with our business targets and compare our

outcomes with these targets.

The Board reviews material ESG issues at a strategic level,
ensures it is aligned with the business strategy, and assists the
ESG management team to progress against most significant

goals and targets.

AEBY N AEFNHERE - SFEEATRRA
B8 &P HER BEEA EEHER
HE - BTOELSET - ARBEHEEER
BRAERR - (e REAREE RBURRESK
EREEAHERR - BIRETULEITA]
BEREREASEE AN ZEERERE D
TR SERE—EB 9 + INAANEE ARG
N2 - AEBERABUFERER—HE
BEEE - BRSBTS AL
e EERE -

EESFNEREBEUAEELRENEE
Mo EEERRATTIEESGRIE RIEL IR
s UREBREEBMMESGHEBRR -
AEBRBRAENERRAREE RAIZEG
?)u °

EECRESGEREBRR AEEBEGSE
B BRASEZESGHE - B HE R
%}%ﬂéﬁ@%ﬁzﬁE@%ﬂ‘%%%T\ﬂ%éﬁz
BAFSGER ' RESIELXF - WHIE
FTisR M 2 - ESGE IR BB HI BB AR
B SRR IRIBE R € BIZA R RPN ER
ETTZF'EJHX Ay - N0 Bh UL AT A R BS A AK

o

>’§r

EXSURBAEEMNEALSCEE @ BIF
BEECA XBREE - LIHPESCERBER RS
REEMBEENBAR -

Annual Report 2025 %%  Chi Kan Holdings Limited 5 £1#% i B[R A &) 69

L :::g.am.~

S s s



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B HEREARS

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group convenes annual general meeting with
shareholders to provide an effective channel for the board
of directors to exchange opinions with shareholders. The
Group’s overall business performance is reporting to all
investors every year through publishing in our annual report
and annual general meeting. For those customers, suppliers
and subcontractors in close connection with the Group, they
could be communicated through appropriate channels to

listen to their opinions and requests.

In addition, for assuring the regulatory compliance of business
operations, the Group would pay close attention to the
opinions of regulatory authorities, responds and follows up in

a timely manner.

The stakeholders include the shareholders, governments
and regulatory bodies, employees, customers, suppliers
and society and the public. The Group discusses with the
stakeholders through various channels for their expectations

and relevant feedback of the Group as below:

Stakeholders Expectation

BE e

KhESH

AEBERRRAFARFAFRE - AEH—
flﬁxﬁlﬁ%%;ﬁ‘aﬁ$ SHERRZMER - &

ERNEBRRGEFNHN AR FR
Lmﬁﬁkiﬂiﬁ@’uﬂxhﬁﬁtﬁ
EE e ﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁ ITBERNEF - HfE
BROBHAEREEREER RENE
M B R MR o

AN BTHEREREBKENEEEGR A&
BEZIEERBNER  RE(FHRE
MR -

FERBRR BTMEEHRRE &8
Eﬁ*fﬁﬁ*%&ﬁ@&ﬁm°$%55
BTIZEREEFNEIN - THRE

HIZ - BEEASERERE

Communication and feedback

BERRE

Shareholders/Investors

BRBREE FIT5RIR

- Financial performance

- Corporate governance

JJ:%E/D

- Risk management

el g
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- Annual general meetings/general
meetings
BREFEBAFAE RRAE

- Corporate reports and
announcements
PERERRE

- The Group's website
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Stakeholders
A

Expectation

e

Communication and feedback

BERRE

Government and

regulatory bodies

B R EEEHE

Employees

(==

Customers

5F

Suppliers
HIER

- Taxation compliance
SEOEMT
- Regulatory compliance

BIEER

- Career development platform
EXERTE
- Salary and benefits

oM b E A

- Occupational health and safety
BEEEERZS

- Delivery and quality of services

ARG EERRBE R

- Customer information security
REZFER

- Customer rights and interests
protection

RIEE PR MR

- Integrity cooperation
BHRENEIERE
- Business ethics and credibility

BEETRER
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- Policy announcement

BERAE

- Regulatory communications

BB R AE

- Promotion mechanism

BITHE S

- Competitive salary and employee

benefits

ABFINEFMEEERT

- Providing trainings for employees and

strengthen their safety awareness

REEREHMIEIRNBEEZRZE

=z
SN

- Phone conference, visits and

meetings

BEARRASEE

- Building a responsible supply chain

By —EagrfnftrRE

- Press releases, financial and

other data relating to supplier/
subcontractor’s business

ER - RBEEE HEEESKE
RAEY B T R H A B R

- Regular meeting

EHem

71 e

3T i T



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRI tgNERWmE

F

i 72

Stakeholders Expectation Communication and feedback
0 E A BERKE
Community . Community involvement - Charity and social investment
HE ZadEe RERTERE
- Social responsibilities - Putting into use of environmental
gEE protection and energy saving

- Environmental protection

BR
- Employment opportunities
TiEie
FEEDBACK 5

For details of the ESG performance, corporate governance
as well as financial performance, please visit the Company’s
website at www.chikanck.com and the annual reports.
The Group treasures the feedback and comments on its
sustainability performance, please send the feedback and

enquiries to chikan@chikanck.com.

|
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6 MATERIALITY MATRIX 6 EEMiEME
During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of MAREE - AREEFEBTRRENZE TH
environmental, social and operation related issues, and RiE - (e R&ERBEE T HEYEE
assessed their importance to stakeholders and the Group MERAEE 2 EERE - BT LB BE
through various channels. This assessment helps to ensure the RAEB 7 EBEREAFNEZERRE
Group's business development is in line with the expectations ke REBNEFHMERBOZZBHEIIRN
and requirements of its stakeholders. The Group's and AT EZEMERE

its stakeholders’ matters of concern are presented in the

following materiality matrix:

Importance to the Group
HASEZEERM
Low Medium High
& w =
4+ Anti-discrimination 4 Protecting labour rights > Customers’ satisfaction Level
REAR RiES THER RPmEKY
4 Staff training and promotion 4 Staff compensation and welfare > Anti-corruption
opportunity policies K&
Importance to BIHEIREAKE EEHMRBAEE
Stakeholders High > Product quality and safety
HENEZ [ EmEERRZE
BEEM > Suppliers management
HERER
4 Occupational health and
workplace safety
BER2RIERERS
Medium > Community involvement > Protecting customers' privacy > Qperational compliance
H ttRAH REZPILRE LEER
Low $> Non-hazardous wastes produced 4 Preventive measures for child and <> Use of raw materials
1% B BEEEY forced labour ERARMH
EHETRARHB T2
<& Environmental 4 Employee > Operation & IRIE & EE > &\
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TREFIESGHE 5| A T 7F (4 2 S8 LA S &
BRI SHAEEN S BEXNZESGER °

The table underneath shows the aspects on the ESG Guide
to be assessed and those ESG issues were determined to be
material to the Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in the ESG Reporting Guide Material ESG issues for the Group

F

M 74

ESGIES| AH 5| ZESGEIIE

HAEEMSEBEAZESGER

(A) Environmental

(AERE

A1 Emissions Emission from town gas and electricity consumed
AT BER) EEREER R E N MES ZHERY

A2 Use of Resources Use of energy and paper

A2 BIREA ERgER kAR

A3 Environment and Natural Resources
A ERERBAER

A4 Climate change

A4 RIREE

(B) Social

(B) &

B1 Employment and Labour Practices Labour practices

BIERKSE TER BITER

B2 Health and Safety Workplace health and safety

B2 EREL S EERZENTIFRE

B3 Development and Training Employee development and training
B3 # & K& & 8 R MIEH

B4 Labour Standards
B4 &5 THE%E

B5 Supply Chain Management

BS ftrEsE E 12 HEEE

B6 Product Responsibility Product responsibility

B6 EmE {E EmEE

B7 Anti-corruption Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money
B7 RES laundering

B8 Community Involvement
B8 tLm £

|
||
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Supply chain management

RES - B3 LERFER R RO ER

Community programs, employee volunteering and

donation
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Environmental

It is the Group’s mission to be mindful for protection
of the environment by minimising the environmental
impact regarding our business activities, materials
and services engaged. Apart from complying with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations to which
the Group subscribes, we are committed to preventing
pollution, reducing waste, recycling and minimising
use of natural resources by continually improving our
environmental practices and measures, educating
our employees to adopt environmentally responsible
behaviour, and promoting environmental protection in

our supply chain and marketplace.

A1.1 Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption

Compliance Measures

Based on the impacts of the Group’s operations
on the environment, we have identified the
relevance but not limited to the following

environmental laws and regulations:

The “Air Pollution Control Ordinance” of Hong
Kong - controls the emission of air pollutants and
noxious odour from construction, industrial and
commercial activities and other polluting sources,
as well as controls the air pollutant emissions from
certain operations through the issue of licences

and permits.

The “Noise Control Ordinance” of Hong Kong
- regulates noise from construction activities,
including the use of powered mechanical
equipment (other than percussive piling) beyond
the regulated hours under normal situation (i.e.

without prior approval).

BRI

AEENEPRRBRERSBRM
RRBEE - A RIRTS P E
EMREFE  BORERRT KT
BTERARAEEOREERER
Hh 0 RPE BB TEBCERPINRE
EBRMERE  BERMOETRRY
REAENTR  RERMNHER
S e ERBRE - BAILES
FORLREY - QMEERSBA
BRI ©

ALl BFERBEMHELZHHYEIE

BHIE

ERAEEELEDHBENY
£ BMIEHEARIE TR
TREAEER -

BAN [ ERSREHGG]— &
EREE ITHERSRAMTAE
REEMZER SRR B SRERN
BERR - LA RGBIBB B SRR R AR ]
BB G KL EBRZERSLEY
%mﬁo

BEm [ REERMEG] - RER
EEPELNRE  BREELR
BT (BIREESLHLE) BIBR
EREERS OHHRE(EE
AITHEEERIN)
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Chi Kan Hol

The "Waste Disposal Ordinance” of Hong Kong
- controls the production, storage, collection,
treatment, recycling and disposal of wastes.
Whilst unlawful deposition of waste is prohibited,
import and export of waste into and from Hong
Kong is generally controlled through a permit

system.

The “Public Health and Municipal Services
Ordinance” of Hong Kong - regulates emission
of dust from building under construction or
demolition in such manner not considered as to

be a nuisance.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any
legal non-compliance or complaint regarding

emissions and other environmental issues.

Control Measures Against Pollution

For mitigation of pollution risks as mentioned in
the aforesaid compliance aspects, the Group is
striving to adopt the following measures at the

operation sites covered by this Report:

Water pollution

General wastewater should be discharged

to sink basin or toilet.

Noise pollution

Great care is taken to minimize noise
generated when carrying out company
activities such as renovations work,
formwork, etc., and to comply with
applicable laws and other requirements of

the venue or workplace.

s Limited S E)#E AR AR AR Annual Report 2025 3R
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All renovation work that generates loud
noise has to be arranged after office hours,
in accordance with the rules set by property

management office and legal requirements.

Hearing protection approved by Labour
Department is available to the colleagues

who may be affected.

MEELEERBRENEE
TRUBARHERAKRE
BET ATAWMEERE
FEHIE R RAIFDERESR -

REKLH TR ENTES
RERERTARXTE

PR -

Air pollution packa =P

IHEAERRBRLAETRRER
7 BRERBREBXRREF
high if appropriate. 2 s o

The staff should maintain office with good

ventilation, adjust the fan coil speed to medium or

Some items are known to emit volatile
organic chemicals (VOCs), which is irritating
or even harmful to health. Therefore,
when purchasing the following items like
furniture, paints & inks, glues & adhesives,
pesticides and air fresheners, attention
is paid to their specification and those at
low VOC emission values are preferred in

selection.

Road traffic is another well-known source
of air pollution in Hong Kong. When
selecting fuel for vehicle (company or not),
preference is given to use those emitting
lower level of air pollutants (e.g. SOx, NOx,

soot & dusts, etc.).

Given old-model refrigerators or some air-
conditioner models may use greenhouse
gases or ozone depleting substances as
refrigerants, measures are taken to prevent
these gases from leaking when disposing

them.

EAR LY ;e
B #A L2 Y E (VOCs) -
EERBSEERER
Rl EEEXRA -
MRS - BKENS
Bl BERZERSNBE
VIR  BIEEEBER
1B 50 B 12 R VOC HE IR B K9
Yiem ©
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Waste Management

Regarding the general operation of formwork
services, the Group would not generate
hazardous waste nor significant discharge
of sewage, and the waste generated by the
Group’s operation was mainly non-hazardous
construction wastes. As similar with other site
operations, all construction wastes generated
would be responsible and managed by the main
contractors for recording and handling. Therefore,
there was no record of such wastes generated in

FY2024 under the scope of the Group's operation.

For wastes generated from our headquarters
office, there was only a small amount of office
trash, such as paper wastes generated from
the scrap documents, which all belong to non-
hazardous wastes. The associated wastes would
then be handed over and centrally collected by
the property management office of the building
where the Group'’s office is located, this facilitates
the subsequent arrangement with the qualified

agencies for waste processing and disposal.

Waste Reduction Measures in Office

Paper was the key source of solid wastes
generated from the office’s operation. The
Group's office has made good use of electronic
operation system, through which documents
were saved in electronic form and external
communication was readily proceeded via
e-mails. Use of paper was mainly for record
purpose and consequently no significant amount
of paper-based waste was generated during the
operations. In addition, the Group has adopted
administrative measures for reducing use of
paper, as described in section “Effective Utilisation

of Paper Resources” of this Report.
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Control of Greenhouse Gases (GHG) Emission

The source of GHG incurred by our business
activities mainly originated in the form of energy
indirect emission, which was the consequence of
electricity consumed in the office operations. In
response to reducing these GHG emissions, the
Group adopted the measures for saving electricity
as mentioned in section “Energy Conservation

Measures” of this Report.

The following table identified the total
greenhouse gas emission in the Year and the
greenhouse gas emission intensity calculated on

the basis of the number of employees:

The Group did not have emissions released from
town fuel and town gas consumed. The Group
also did not have motor vehicles for operation at

project site during the Year.

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emission

Greenhouse gas emissions are the main factors
contributing to global warming, leading to
climate changes and threatening the ecosystem
of the world. To continuously fulfill the duties as
an enterprise with corporate social responsibility,
the Group embraces in driving green practices in
day-to-day operations so as to reduce greenhouse

gas emissions in the business operations.

Al.2

B ERAL(GHG) BEIL %

BMMESEHEANGHGEER
BEMAZEEEFEE NATEH
REEREEFN - AR IS
GHGHEM * AR BB REAHE
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Key Performance Index (“KP1")

HRENER
FY2025 Unit %
2025%F
HHEE B %
Scope 1 Direct Emission gE— BRHRY - Kg AT 0%
Scope 2 Indirect Emission B MRy 27615 Kg AT 88%
Scope 3 Other indirect Emission gE= EmEEERY 3,903 Kg AT 12%
Total Fohy 31,518 Kg AFf 100%
Scope 1: It mainly represents the towngas, #e—: FERAEHEACHE

liquefied petroleum gas and diesel oil

from consumption of motor vehicles.

Scope 2: It mainly represents the electricity

purchased from power suppliers.

Scope 3: It mainly represents the paper waste

disposed at landfills.

During the Year, there was 31,518 (FY2024: 31,440) kg
of carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases

emitted from the Group's operation.

When considering the greenhouse gas emissions
intensity, the Group recorded approximately 517
(FY2024: 563) kg of greenhouse gas emissions
per number of full time staff during the Year. The
increase was because the Group engaged new

e-commerce operation during the Year.

|
||
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The Group has previously set the targets to
less than 600 kg of greenhouse gas emissions
per number of full time staff. The target will be
reviewed in 2026. The Group has achieved the
target during the Year.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations:

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact relating
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges
into water and land, generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes of the Group during
the Year. In addition, no significant fines or non-
monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported

in the Year.

A1.3 Hazardous Waste and Non-hazardous Waste

Hazardous Waste

The business operations of the Group produced
insignificant hazardous waste, including chemical

wastes and hazardous chemicals, during the Year.

Non-hazardous Waste

The major non-hazardous waste produced by
the Group was the paper waste during the Year.
It amounted to approximately 0.7 tonnes during
the Year, the Group strives to create a working

environment by reducing the waste.

Al1.3
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Chi Kan Hold

Use of Resource

While resource consumption at project sites were
tracked by main contractors under the contracted
responsibility and the Group did not directly own
any vehicles for operation at the project sites, the
main resources consumed and tracked by the
Group were electricity and paper consumption
in office. Relatively, water consumption was not

significant.
The following table set forth the main resources
consumed by the Group at the headquarters

office in Hong Kong during the Year:

The summary of the resources consumed are set

A2.1 BRERH

FRFPAIE B b8 5Y &R B FE R 48
EEREBEAOEMTETEE M
BARSBEYEEEZEESFAEE
BB 2B - NEBH
FERBENEEERERAER

BHREFEFR - BEME - 7%
KEWTEE -

T%Wﬁ$¢ﬁ$ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ
MR AENEBERHFES)

REBER 2 ERBALDT

out below:
KPI

RRBREMIEE
% increase/
FY2025 FY2024 Unit (decrease)
20255 20244 %38 N,
BHREE HEREE By (R2)
Electricity consumed B = 31,134 30,563 kWh T FL B 2%
Paper # 813 893 Kg AT (9%)
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The summary of the resources consumed per BR2BEEEFEZE R
number of full-time staff are set out below: T
KPI
AREENER
% increase/
FY2025 FY2024 Unit (decrease)
20254 20244 %3,
BREE BREE By (R2)
No. of full-time staff 2HES A 61 56 Staff 4 9%
Electricity consumed EEEnE 510 546 kWh/no. of (7%)
intensity full-time staff
FEE,/
2BEEAH
Paper Fis 13 16 Kg/no. of (18%)
full-time staff
2Fr/
2BEEAK
The Group has previously set the targets to 650 REEBEAZIRFENBEZE
kWh of electricity consumed per number of full- REMEHEEBEFESOT R
time staff, which is closed to electricity consumed BN B2 FHBRFEEZRE
FY2021, was consumed for the Year. The target S8 - BB EHR2026F 1
will be reviewed in 2026.The Group has achieved e AEBERAFEEKE
the target during the Year. £
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Energy Conservation Measures

Understood electricity was the key type of energy
consumption, which also indirectly generated
greenhouse gases into the environment. The
Group has implemented various measures for
energy saving purpose through the direction

towards green office management:

(1) Lighting

turn off some lightings when the
occupancy is low, e.g. during lunch

and after office hours;

switch off unnecessary lighting in
public communal areas, such as
reception counters, corridors, etc.,

after normal office hours; and

reduce the use of high-power

incandescent lamps.

(2)  Air-conditioning

keep room temperature at

appropriate level, e.g. 25.5°C;

turn off some air-conditioning units
when the occupancy is low, e.g.

during lunch, after office hours;

switch on air-conditioning for pre-
cooling no earlier than a specified
period, e.g. 15 minutes before
conference rooms are to be occupied
and switch off once the room is

unoccupied;
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dress lightly to minimize use of
air-conditioning in months of hot

weather;

lower window blinds or curtains
before leaving office to reduce direct

sunlight on the following day.

Computers

activate the standby mode or
hibernation mode features of

personal computers;

switch off the monitors during lunch
and when the staff is away from the
workplace for meeting, albeit a short

one;

switch off personal computers
(including both monitor and
computer processing unit) after office

hours.

Other Electric Appliance

Purchase electric appliance with
energy-efficient mode or energy

efficiency label.
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Water Conservation Measures

All stages of formwork services engaged by the
Group, not taking account of the concreting
process undertaken by the subcontractors
engaged by main contractors before striking of
the formwork, generally would not consume
significant amount of water. On the other hand,
the amount of water consumption at the project
sites engaged by Group would be tracked and
managed by the main contractors under the
contracted responsibility. Therefore, there was no
record of water consumption by the Group at the

project sites during the Year.

Water consumption equipment in the office
areas of the Group was managed by the property
management offices responsible for those
areas. Despite water consumption is relatively
insignificant, the Group is still conveying message
on water conservation to enhance the relevant

awareness of employees.

Use of Materials

Within the Year, the site projects managed
by the Group were mainly formworks, which
did not involve packing of any finished goods,
and therefore the business operation did not
consume any packaging materials. The type of
materials used for formwork services were mainly
timber and plywood, aluminium, as well as some
other parts or components used with relevant

equipment, e.g. scaffolding equipment.
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Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has a clear understanding of
the environmental impacts incurred by our
operations on the environment. In response
to the public’'s concern over environmental
protection topics, we are monitoring closely on
the operation processes and where applicable
pursuing innovative technology for continuous
improvement of environmental performance, in
addition to the aforesaid energy saving measures

and green office management practices.

Increasing Use of Aluminium in Formwork

With advance technology and development
of industrial techniques, it is expected that the
construction market in Hong Kong will also
embrace the adoption of automation technology
to improve its competitiveness in the long run.
For instance, the mechanised prefabrication
construction system is expected to be applied
for the purpose to improve construction safety
and cost effectiveness and to strengthen

environmental protection.

It tends to become a trend in the market
of formwork services that more contractors
would use aluminium formworks to gradually
replace formworks made of other materials,
such as timber and plywood, for the sake of

environmental protection.

Being one of the market leaders, we will also drive
this trend by persuading the contractors to use
more prefabricated system whenever possible.
Through adoption of aluminium material, we
could substitute the use of timber and plywood
in the formworks and hence reduce the

consumption of such natural wooden resources.
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Effective Utilisation of Paper Resources

Paper was mainly consumed for general office
operations and the Group has adopted electronic
office systems for the applicable processes
with the aim of reducing paper consumption.
Electronic information and records were
classified by department and centralized stored
in electronic folders to minimize the wastage of
papers from duplicated printing by employees in
the same department.

With the advocacy of environmental conservation
over the past few years, staff awareness on
paper saving has been highly enhanced and
staff members have developed good habits for
adoption of the following green practices:

use of recycled paper in office operations;

ii. printing and photocopying on both sides of
paper;

iii. reuse of single-sided used paper for
drafting, printing and receiving fax;

iv.  reuse of envelopes and loose minute jackets
for internal transmission of documents and
correspondence;

V. communication and dissemination of

information by electronic means; and

vi. avoidance in printing or photocopying
documents unless hardcopy is absolutely
necessary.

Moreover, for raising awareness of our employees,
the Group has established relevant policies and
handouts regarding the appropriate ways for

n supporting the subsequent recycling of waste

| papers.
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Climate change

The Group is fully aware of extreme weather
being the main risk incurred by climate change,
which ultimately leads to danger and damage
caused by typhoons and rainstorms. Management
assesses these weather risks to construction
projects, hence has defined and adopted relevant
measures for responding to the impacts caused

by typhoons and rainstorm weather:

Response to operational impacts incurred from

climate change

The Group has developed guidelines for work
arrangement in adverse weather, which guide
employees to respond to possible emergencies,
such as being unable to work at the time of
warnings hoisted for typhoon and rainstorm

weather.

Appropriate measures have been defined for
implementation by employees in different

workplaces:

For construction sites, prior to typhoon, use
rope or other tools to secure the outdoor
devices or machinery for prevention of

blowing down by strong wind.

For office, prior to typhoon, ensure all
windows to keep closed, as well as regular

window inspection and timely repairs.

Moreover, in order to raise employees’ awareness
of disaster preparedness and to familiarize them
with emergency response measures, the Group
provides appropriate training to ensure that
employees possess relevant knowledge and skills
to tackle with the impacts of extreme weather on

the operations.
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Mitigation against operational impacts incurred

from climate change

Apart from formulating the abovementioned to
preparedness plans in response climate change,
the Group is convinced of greenhouse gas (GHG)
as the key contributor of climate change, and
has adopted various GHG emission reduction
measures, including the use of energy-saving
lighting in the office areas for reduction of energy
indirect GHG emission, as well as the priority
in local procurement for avoiding direct GHG
emission incurred from overseas transportation,

thereby mitigating the trend of climate change.
Social

The Group believes that sustainable business success
relies on the contribution and support of its talented
employees. The Group treated its employees as the
most valuable assets to the Group. The contributions of
the employees promote the Group to achieve corporate
goals and maintain sustainable development. This is the
reason why the Group continues improving its friendly
employment policies. The human resources policy
and procedures, including recruitment, probation,
termination, promotion, retirement, transfer, appraisal,
working hours, salary, bonus, entitled leave and medical

benefits, comply with the relevant legislation.
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Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

The Group recruits directly employed labour
and subcontracts works to provide adequate
and stable workforce for provision of formwork
services and other construction services.
We consider that the combined uses and
arrangements of subcontracting and direct
labour force could uphold the quality control
of our formwork services and ensure sufficient
manpower to complete our formwork projects
in a timely manner, with regard to the required
skills and manpower for a wide variety of projects

undertaken by the Group.

Depending on the level of complexity and scale
of the formwork projects, our project team is
generally comprised of project manager, safety
supervisor, quantity surveyor and formwork
workers. We generally engage subcontractors,
such as carpenters and metal formwork erectors,
to carry out the labour-intensive formwork and

other construction services in our projects.

The Group strictly abides by the local laws and
regulations of the regions where the Group
is operating for deployment of employment
policies, which cover but not limited to The
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong for
protection of the wages of employees and

defining the general conditions of employment.

During the Year, the Group did not identify any
legal non-compliance or complaints regarding

employment issues.
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Recruitment and Promotion

Whenever there are recruitment needs, the Group
will determine the job requirements specific to
the relevant functions and projects. Recruitment
is simply based on job requirements and shall not
be affected by attributes such as race, ethnicity,
social class, nationality, religion, disability, gender,
sexual orientation, marital status, age, trade union
membership or political party, in order to avoid

any occurrence of discrimination.

Moreover, the Group has established clear
promotion policy to give adequate promotion
opportunities to eligible personnel. The Group
generally performs performance evaluation of
each employee in the Hong Kong headquarters
office on annual basis and evaluation is simply
based on work performance for fair and impartial

determination of promotion decision.

Remuneration and Benefits

The Group provides employees’ remuneration
in strict accordance with relevant laws and
regulations, including the prescribed hourly wage
rate under the Minimum Wage Ordinance of
Hong Kong, as well as enrolment of employees
within the first 60 days of employment in the
Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) scheme for
general staff or the construction-specific “Industry
Schemes” under the MPF system for “casual
employees or workers” whose employment is on
a day-to-day basis or for a fixed period of less than
60 days.
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For determination of regular salary adjustment,
the Group will review the rationality and
competitiveness of the current salary structure,
based on employee’s current salary, salary
trends in the market and reference of the
industry average and the results of employee’s

performance evaluation.

In addition, the Group will abide by the relevant
laws and regulations in strict for provision of other
legal benefits, such as statutory holidays, paid
annual leave and paid maternity leave, etc,, as well
as for undertaking separation of employment with

relevant staff.

Compensation for Work-related Incidents

The Group has maintained insurance policies
for employees’ compensation of our office staff
and third-party liabilities. The main contractors
of the Group's projects are generally responsible
for effecting suitable insurance policies for
employees’ compensation, contractors’ all risks
and third party liabilities in respect of the persons
working at the construction sites (including
the Group's direct labour and workers from our

subcontractors) on a project-by-project basis.

The Group, or the main contractors and/or
ultimate employers (i.e. property developers)
which the Group is engaging for their projects,
are accountable for adherence to undertaking the
required measures whenever necessary pursuant
to the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Hong Kong or equivalent regulations in the other

regions where there are project implementation.
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Employee compensation system is established
for detailing the respective rights and obligations
of employer and employees in both full-time and
part-time mode and for handling incidents in
respect of injuries or death caused by accidents,
and incapacity or death incurred by prescribed

occupational diseases.

Mechanism is in place for handling claims in
respect of personal injuries and aforesaid labour

compensation.

Staff Composition

As at 31 March 2025, the Group employed a total
of 722 (FY2024: 1,088) staff. The Group believes
that maintaining a diverse but inclusive workforce
among its working environment is the key to
maintain a sustainable and successful business in

the future.

a) Employee’ s Age and Gender Distribution
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a) REEFERRERSM

FY2025 FY2024
2025 F BIHEE 20245 HIBEFE
Age Group Male Female Male Female
Fir R ] x 2] z
0-15 0ZE158% 0% 0% 0% 0%
16-18 162 185% 1% 0% 0% 0%
19-30 19 308% 15% 3% 14% 2%
31-45 31E458% 32% 4% 32% 5%
46 - 60 A6 605%, 35% 1% 34% 2%
=61/>61 61BR A £ 9% 0% 10% 1%
Total 5T 92% 8% 90% 10%
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b)  Employee type Distribution by EEERSH
FY2025 FY2024
2025 F A BF B 2024 F R FE
By employment type Male Female Male Female
RESERE D ] z £ z
Full-time employment 2 B{&E 8 4% 5% 2% 3%
Part-time employment (& & 88% 3% 88% 7%
Total st 92% 8% 90% 10%
c)  Employee’ s Geographical Distribution o REHEDMH
FY2025 FY2024
2025 F B 2024 F R FE
By location Male Female Male Female
Rt E &2 B z 5 z
Hong Kong &5 90% 4% 89% 8%
Mainland China AR A, 2% 4% 1% 2%
Total it 92% 8% 90% 10%
d)  Turnover Rate by Gender Distribution d)  IRHERIED Z kR
FY2025 FY2024
2025 F IR F B 2024 F I FE
By Gender Male Female Male Female
tqeda kb B z 5 Z
Full-time staffs’ 2RIEBZ 6% 6% 5% 8%
turnover rate TR R
Total #E 6% 6% 5% 8%
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The Group is not aware of any material
non-compliance with the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Employees’
Compensation Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Labour Law of the PRC and other
applicable laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination and other benefits and

welfare during the Year.

Employee Health and Safety

Pursuant to the relevant regulations such as “The
Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance”,
“Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance”,
the Group is committed to providing a healthy
and safe working environment for employees
in the projects undertaken by our scope of

responsibility.

The Group has implemented workplace safety
documentation which includes detailed guidance
on general site conditions, potential hazards
and site requirements, construction staff’s
safety responsibilities, safety precautions and
emergency response measures and reporting of

safety incidents.

Over the past years, the Group has been awarded
by various construction stakeholders for the
safety performance during the implementation of

relevant projects.
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Supervision by Safety Management Personnel

Through internal establishment or coordination
with main contractor of the responsible projects,
the Group is accountable for the arrangement of
safety management personnel responsible for site
safety inspection, day-to-day communication and
monitoring of workplace safety at construction

sites.

The designated safety management personnel
are in place to supervise the safety of the
construction site and to provide safety training to
employees. The Group will proceed in accordance
with the opinion of safety management personnel
and establish the relevant measures in response

to various safety risks in the workplace.

Whenever an accident has occurred at the
construction site (e.g. an employee sustaining
an injury at work), the designated safety
management personnel will immediately report
the safety incident to the Group’s management as
well as main contractor of the project engaged by

the Group.

Workplace Safety Management

On the construction sites, the Group collaborates
with main contractor to identify jobs at high risk.
In accordance with the opinions of designated
safety management personnel, control measures
are established in response to different
occupational safety risks. Unless otherwise
specified in the project implementation, main
contractors are obliged to provide all necessary
safety equipment to those employees being

appointed by the Group.
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Emergency drill are regularly scheduled in the
construction sites to ensure employee awareness

in response to emergency.

For office safety, the Group also undertakes the
appropriate safety management measures, which
include placing of first aid kits stocked with
emergency medicines, assurance of fire-fighting
supplies in place, posting of fire evacuation route
plans, as well as participation in any fire drill

organized by responsible party.

Safety Performance

There was no employee record of work related
fatality in this Year. During the Year, the Group did
not identify any legal non-compliance related to
occupational health and safety regulations of the

local operating region.

The Group adopts non-discriminatory
employment practices and provides a healthy
and safe workplace. All employees are required to
keep the construction site and the offices in safety
and cleaning condition. The Group is subject to
and complies with regulations in Hong Kong and
PRC that govern occupational health and safety

issues.

The Group complies with the “Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases” by execution of health and safety
polices to prevent of occupational diseases. As
a result, the Group can effectively protect the
health and safety of its workers during their work
and achieve the Group's goal and promote the

economic development of the Group.
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Smoking is prohibited in office’s areas. Fire
extinguishers, fire alarms and evacuation route are
available for the employees located at the offices.

Occupational Health and Safety Data

The information of work accidents is set out

\
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58 MR BRAR o

G

BREFR T2 I

THEEREIAT

below:
FY2025 FY2024 FY2023
2025FHMHFEE  2024FHMBEE  2023FHHRFEE
Health and Safety Male Male Female Male Female
REHEZE 2] ) z 5 z
Rate of work-related EInTH 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%
fatalities =
Lost hours due to work I T{8igs%k 1,959 1,074 262 880 85
injury B TIERT 21

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, Prevention and
Control of Disease Ordinance of Hong Kong,
Law on Occupational Safety and Health of PRC
and other applicable laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group relating
to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards

during the Year.
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Development and Training

The Group has maintained experienced project
management team and each of our project
managers has near 20 years of experience in the
construction industry. They play an important
role in leading the team and guide the workers
towards successful completion of projects. We
will establish training plan for arranging different
types of training to employees. For on-job
training, we will arrange experienced employees
to lead the junior staff for development of their

job skills and completion of jobs properly.

Training arrangement will vary in accordance with
different functions and projects. The scope of on
job trainings will generally include the following

topics:

Special construction requirements in the

Group’s responsible project;

ii. Safety measures in the construction sites;

and

ii.  Environmental protection measures of
the Group/main contractor/property

developer.

Whenever appropriate, resources will be allocated
to support employees’ training to raise their
technical competence, and the Group will
support employees to participate in the relevant
development programmes from the Hong Kong
Institute of Construction which are accredited by

the Qualifications Framework.
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In the construction sites, main contractors of
the Group's responsible projects generally will
provide safety training for participation by the
Group's employees. In event of the Group being
the main contractor, safety training will be
provided to the site workers in accordance with

the requirements stipulated by the developer.

All employees are encouraged to enhance their
skills and knowledge in order to perform their
duties more efficiently and effectively. During
the Year, the Group provided approximately 722

hours of training to its employees.

The Group encourages employees to strike a
balance between work and life. All employees
are encouraged to participate in the recreational
activities in order to enhance the team spirit,

employee’s sense of belonging and morale.

Labour Standard

The Group fully understands that exploitation of
child and forced labour is universally condemned,
and therefore takes the responsibilities against
child and forced labour very seriously. The Group
strictly complies with all laws and regulations
against child and forced labour. Internal policies
are also in place to ensure that no person who is
underage or under coercion is hired and, if any
such case is identified during the recruitment

process, it will report to the relevant authorities.
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The Group places a significant emphasis
on developing human capital and provides
competitive remuneration and welfare packages.
Promotion opportunities and salary adjustments
are benchmarked against individual performance.
Employees are entitled to various fringe
benefits, such as annual leave, marriage leave,
compassionate leave and medical coverage, in
accordance with local regulations. With the well-
established benefit systems and support made to
its employees, the Group strives to retain talents

and envision the development of its employees.

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Employment Ordinance of
Hong Kong, Employment of Children Regulations
of Hong Kong, Labour Law of the PRC, and
other applicable laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group relating to

preventing child or forced labour during the Year.

Supply Chain Management

The supply chain of the Group is mainly comprised
of material suppliers and subcontractors. Our

suppliers and subcontractors mainly include:

(i) suppliers of timber, plywood, aluminium
and steel mould, scaffolding equipment

and other equipment; and

(i)  subcontractors such as carpenters and
metal formwork erectors, who carry out the
implementation of our formwork and other

construction services.
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We have maintained a list of approved suppliers
and subcontractors who are evaluated and
approved by us, for assuring that the quality
of their supplies and services is of acceptable

standard.

Selection of Material Suppliers

The Group will conduct initial assessment before
adding any news supplier to our approved list of
suppliers and subcontractors. We will proceed
annual performance evaluation of the suppliers
on the approved list to ensure the quality of

goods are maintaining at acceptable level.
Unless specific appointment by the main
contractors and/or property developers, the
Group will conduct assessment of material
suppliers in accordance with the following
selection criteria:

Quality and conditions of goods received

ii. On-time delivery

ii.  Adherence to pre-defined procedures and

instructions

iv.  Quality and timeliness of service

V. Reputation ad past reliability record

vi.  Technical capability

vii.  Environmental-friendly characteristics

It is common for our staff to visit the factory or
workshop of our suppliers for inspecting the
design and specifications of the ordered materials
or products, before arranging transportation of

materials to the construction sites.
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Selection of Service Subcontractors HERE S

The Group will generally only engage subcontractors AEBBEERSZERTHEH

on our approved list of subcontractors, considering ZEHNOBER YEEEEIE

the nature and complexity of each project and the BRME MEMIEE AR EES

availability of our resources at the time. ARAAEIR -

The Group does not limit the engagement to AEBWIERREZERTHE L

only the existing subcontractors on our approved MIRBEDERE - ZMIMEEEE

list. We will also consider cooperation with new MoBEmalE B RIEXYBERE

subcontractors so as to expand our base of HEMUMBERZEENS KR

subcontractors and maintain a stable source of PAEFTIEE ML ©

labour for project implementation.

We select our subcontractors based on a series of HMRE RV ENTRES B

criteria, including but not limited to: 7 BEETRA
Reputation BE

ii.  Jobarrangement, e.g. timely completion, i LYEZHE - iR T
material utilization A A

ii.  Competence of management personnel, iii. ﬁf@)\éﬁﬁ'\]%ﬁ C AR
e.g. complaint rate, adherence to site rules x B REIR A

iv.  Working performance in the past, e. g. v. BEIERR - WFE-
workmanship, technology used, quality of FERAEN RFEEER - %
services, safety performance 2R1R

v.  Site cleanliness v. HEREZREE

vi. Environmentally product and service vii RIFEREREGRRERREHIIRRKE
preferable Bk 7%

'H
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From time to time, the Group will review and
update our internal approved list of subcontractors
according to their performance evaluation.
During project implementation, our project
managers will regularly meet with the engaged
subcontractors and closely monitor their work

progress and performance.

During the Year, there was a total of 171 suppliers
and subcontractors, amongst which 55 of them
were based in Hong Kong and the remaining in
PRC.

Management of Risks from Business Partners in the

Supply Chain

We are liable to our customers for the performance
of our subcontractors as well as any potential
employee’s compensation claims and personal
injuries claims made by the employees of our
subcontractors arising from work injuries which

may happen from time to time.

Therefore, the Group will carry out regular
assessments of our subcontractors during a
project to ensure quality and safety of their works.
Our project managers and foremen will conduct
regular site visits to ensure general compliance
by our subcontractors in all respects, particularly
safety and environmental requirements.
Any details of incident will be recorded and

investigated for subsequent proceedings.
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If the supplier or subcontractor is not qualified in
the periodic evaluation, the Group shall review
the impact from those projects still delivered
during the valid period of partnership. If the
impact is significant, the partnership with
that specific supplier or subcontractor shall
be terminated in principle. If it is necessary
to continue the partnership under special
circumstances, the special reasons shall be
recorded in the evaluation files for future

reference and tracking.

Whenever appropriate, suppliers and
subcontractors in the supply chain will also be
evaluated on their operational compliance and
the other associated risks, such as compliance
in employment of labour, anti-corruption and
integrity practices, as well as business continuity,
etc, these aspects are evaluated for mitigation of

social risks along the Group’s value chain.

Mitigation of Environmental Risks in Supply Chain

Priority in Green Procurement

The Group prioritizes the use of materials
and services that do not impose significant
environmental impacts, therefore, as mentioned
in the previous section, environmental friendly
characteristics is one of the selection criteria for
assessment of material suppliers, with the aim
to mitigate the environmental risks in the supply

chain.
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Also, as part of complying with the environmental
measures of our customers, we are required to
source timber and plywood from companies
complying with the requirements of an
international recognised certification system,
such as Programme for the Endorsement of
Forest Certification (PEFC) and Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC). PEFC and FSC provide assurance
that the timber and plywood materials used in our
construction projects originate from sustainably

managed sources.

For mitigation of environmental risks, we may also
prioritize the purchase of timber and plywood
with some examples of the following green

specifications:

The content of free formaldehyde in
adhesives used in the product shall not

exceed 0.5 % by weight of the adhesive.

Formaldehyde Emission: All wood panels
shall be of Class E1 under EN13986 in

respect of formaldehyde emission.

The product shall not contain any heavy
metals or their compounds related to:

Arsenic, Cadmium, Copper, Lead, Mercury.

The following substances shall not be
added during manufacturing: elemental
chlorine, fluorine, PCP and tar oils

containing benzo[alpyrene.

The product shall have no flame retardant
of polybrominated biphenyl (PBB),
polybrominated diphenyl ether (PBDE) or
short-chain chlorinated paraffin added as

formulated components.
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Product Responsibility

When undertaking a formwork project, the
Group is generally responsible for project
planning and implementation, procurement
of materials, quality control and overall
management of our direct labour and workers
of our engaged subcontractors in carrying
out the implementation of formwork services
in accordance with the main contractors’

requirements and specifications.

The Group is committed to maintaining the
stability in project quality and timely completion,
as well as other faults which may exert negative
influence or delay the entire structure work of the

building construction projects.

Our Group has maintained insurance policies
which cover employees’ compensation for our
direct labour, personal accident, third party

liability, and public liability.

For the projects of formwork services undertaken
by the Group, the main contractors of the projects
are generally responsible for maintaining all
risks associated with their contractors, including
employees’ compensation and third party
insurance policies which generally cover liabilities
or claims in respect of (i) personal injury or death;
and (ii) damage to third party’s properties, as a
result of the performance of work undertaken by

the workers of the Group or our subcontractors.
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Anti-corruption

The Group takes anti-corruption responsibilities
very seriously. The Group’s anti-corruption
policies set out the standards of conduct to
which all employees are required to adhere to.
The Group has designated hotlines and emails for
relevant stakeholders to report, in confidence, any

illegal or fraudulent behaviours to the Board.

Employees making such reports are assured of
protection. The designated hotlines and emails
are available on the Company’s website at
http://www.chikanck.com. The Group has also
established a regularly review on its business
practices and anti-corruption measures and
guidelines, as well as reported improprieties

investigation.

The Group establishes an effective whistle-
blowing policy for reporting suspected
irregularities, fraud and corruption via specified
channels. The Group also continues to improve
its internal control and monitoring system. If
any irregularies are identified, the Group takes
immediate action and adopts a zero tolerance

approach to corruption.

During the Year, the Group has provided 84
training hours include but not limit to anti-

corruption to its staff.

The Group is not aware of any material non-
compliance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance of Hong Kong, Law on Competition
of PRC and other applicable laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money

laundering during the Year.
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There is no legal case concerning corruption
brought against the Group or its employees

during the Year.

Community Involvement

The Group deems corporate social responsibility
being one of the key elements in fulfilment of
our values to the society, and therefore we are
seeking opportunities for collaboration with
different stakeholders to support activities
beneficial to the community and people in need.
With the goal to bring hope and support to the
needy people in community, our target scope
of community contribution may cover a wide
range of aspects like poverty alleviation, caring
visit, education sponsoring and other support to

charity activities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of
Chi Kan Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chi Kan
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 120 to 235, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2025, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

(i)  Revenue recognition for provision of construction works

and recognition of contract assets

Refer to Note 7 and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group's revenue as
recognised from provision of construction works amounted
to approximately HK$876,931,000 and the Group’s contract
assets as arisen from the provision of construction works
amounted to approximately HK$264,840,000 as at 31 March
2025.

Revenue from provision of construction works is recognised

over time by measuring the progress towards completion of

the Group's performance obligations as set out in respective
I
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition for provision of construction works

and recognition of contract assets (continued)

Refer to Note 7 and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements (continued)

The Group has used the output method to estimate the
progress of each performance obligation satisfied over time
by reference to the value of construction works completed
to date (as certified by surveyors or other representatives
as appointed by customers (collectively the “external
independent parties”) or evaluated by the Group's internal
technicians or surveyor if such certifications from external
independent parties are not available) as a proportion of the
total contract value of the relevant construction contracts.
Contract assets arise when the Group has completed
certain construction works which are yet to be certified by
the external independent parties and the Group’s right to
payment is still conditional on factors other than passage of

time.

The determination of the estimated value of the construction
works completed to date for different projects involved
significant management’s judgement and estimates which
may have significant impact on the amount and timing
of revenue recognised, especially in relation to change in
estimate of revenue and costs arising from variation orders,
litigation and claims with the customers and sub-contractors,

if any.

We focused on this area because the magnitude of revenue
as recognised from provision of construction works and the
contract assets as at the end of reporting period are significant
and determining the value of the construction works
completed to date for the purpose of recognising revenue
from provision of construction works over time involved

significant management’s judgement and estimates.
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(&)

SHEEHUBERENMZ7R19(4E)

BERBECRAE L AGFRERETK SR

BHEEREE  EP2RESETUY
EETRREEEIEMIEFRENEMD
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AN BERENNFEDBURRE
MAASNY R R EL -
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SHEEY RERENERHE K& - Al
RUEABENEBEEIREAELEEAR
2 BRHEERREgETRESRENR
KA~ BP Ry BrMER AR ERN [
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BRZELTEHNRAEREERSHR

RERFERETERSGNEENKES
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

()

F

Revenue recognition for provision of construction works

and recognition of contract assets (continued)

Refer to Note 7 and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements (continued)

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Obtained an understanding and evaluated the
key controls over the revenue and contract asset
recognition and determination of the completion status
of construction works including review and approval

procedures on project certificates and progress reports;

Obtained an understanding from the project
managers, internal quantity surveying managers
and the management of the Group of the status of
completion of the construction projects during the
year, on a sample basis, and checked to the supporting
documents such as contracts, variation orders and
correspondences with the customers to evaluate
progress, whether the project progress was consistent
with the stage of completion of construction projects

estimated by the management;

Checked the revenue to underlying construction
contracts entered into with the customers and other
relevant correspondences and supporting documents
in respect of variations in construction works or price

adjustments;

Evaluated the accuracy of the construction costs
incurred during the year by agreeing to supplier
invoices or payment applications from sub-contractors

or other supporting documents, on a sample basis;

|
u
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR Iy

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

(i)

Revenue recognition for provision of construction works

and recognition of contract assets (continued)

Refer to Note 7 and 19 to the consolidated financial

statements (continued)

Assessed management'’s estimates on the value of
uncertified construction works completed to date
for different projects by inspecting the relevant
underlying supporting documents (e.g. evaluation
reports as prepared by the Group's internal technicians
and surveyors, payment applications to customers
etc.), on a sample basis; and comparing these to the
latest certificates issued by the external independent
parties to evaluate the reasonableness of the revenue

recognised;

Evaluated the outcome of the prior period assessment
on the estimated value of the construction works
completed to date for different projects (primarily focus
on those construction works as completed but not yet
certified by external independent parties) to assess
the effectiveness of management’s estimation process
by comparing with the actual value as subsequently
certified by external independent parties or the actual

amounts as subsequently settled by customers;

Assessed the adequacy of the disclosure related to the
revenue recognition of construction contracts in the

context of HKFRS 15 disclosure requirements.

We consider that the Group’s revenue recognition for
provision of construction works and recognition of contract

assets are supported by the available evidence.

HRETEE )

() RHEBEEIENUERAREGHEEN

(&)

SHEEHUBERENMZ7R19(4E)
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AR E (IR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

(ii)

F

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract

assets
Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s net trade receivables and
contract assets amounted to approximately HK$22,224,000
and HK$244,784,000 respectively, representing approximately
4% and 46% of the total assets of the Group respectively.
The Group's aggregate lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL")
on trade receivables and contract assets as at 31 March
2025 amounting to approximately HK$4,902,000 and
HK$20,056,000.

The management of the Company performed periodic
assessment on the recoverability of the trade receivables and

contract assets and the sufficiency of the allowance for ECL.

Management'’s estimate of the amount of loss allowance for
trade receivables and contract assets was based on the credit
risk of respective trade receivables and contract assets after
considering the credit profile of respective customers, ageing
analysis, historical settlement records, and ongoing trading
relationship with the relevant customers. The management
also considered the forward-looking information that may
impact the customers’ ability to repay the outstanding

balances.

We focused on this area due to the significant judgement and
estimates involved in the management’s assessment of the

recoverability of the customers.

|
u
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR Iy

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) HREESTEE %)

(i) Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract (i) BEEWZERSHESENRBETGE)

assets (continued)

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements SEEHUBERENZT19(E)

(continued)

Our audit procedures included, among others: HMRNEIEFBE

- Assessing the Group's procedures on granting credit = Tz EEEREPEEHEELR
limits and credit periods to customers; MEEEHZERF

—-  Assessing the Group’s relationship and transaction = Tz BEEESRRFMBEERERMR
history with the customers; FEs

- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment; = B EEEMEERE

- Assessing ageing of the debts; - Z AR IRE

= Assessing creditworthiness of the customers; = FREFPHEE

- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; = BERFBENEMNBR

= Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to = iz EEERAHIBEHRERTE
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements. EEBACEERRHRNS -

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade KRR AE =S£EZEFENTERELHE

receivables and contract asset are supported by the available EZREIAENSRNEESE -

evidence.

- :f,i?.%~
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Independent Auditor’s Report
AR GRSy

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible for
the other information. The other information comprises all the
information in the Company’s annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially

misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to

report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern a ing the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Directors either 'nntend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,

for have no realis|| ic alternative but to do so.

u 1 1 8 Chi Kan Holdings Limited 23 #)#E iR G R A 7] Annual Report 2025 3
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR E 2 ik S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of

users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website

at:

https://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/Standards-setting/Standards/

Our-views/auditre

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Pang Hon Chung
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P05988

Hong Kong, 27 June 2025
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

A e MEM 2 E RS

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HILFE

Year ended 31 March

BZ3A31BILEE
2025
20254
Notes HKS$’000
(ks FExT

2024
20244
HK$'000
FET

7 1,414,549

(1,050,384)

1,538,853

(1,292,756)

364,165

8 912
19 (16,149)
19 (4,902)

(305,732)

Revenue &

Cost of sales and services HE R RBBAA

Gross profit EX

Other income E A A

Impairment loss on contract assets BHEERERE

Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 JEW FIE R EE 18

Selling and administrative expenses SHE RITHR X

Fair value gain on financial asset at BAFESAER
fair value through profit or loss ZEMEEZ

AN ERE
Operating profit ReEER

Finance inome, net

BMEWA - FE

246,097

394
(2,313)

(189,258)

278

38,328

10 2,952

55,198

3,007

41,280

11 (19,716)

Profit before tax R AR T
Income tax expenses Frigfif =
Profit for the year F R F

58,205

(14,230)

12 21,564

ﬂ

}
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

A e MEM 2 E RS

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31HILFE

Year ended 31 March
BE3AALEE
2025 2024
2025%F 2024%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
(ks TFE T FHET

Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMEE(EFE)

for the year, net of tax Wzm (H1BRBELE)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently H & B g E #1748 = 18
to profit or loss: mAEA -

Exchange difference on translation of ~ #E /N ETSIE X =58

foreign operations (3,734)
Total comprehensive income for FRAEEKZELE

the year 40,241
Profit/(loss) for the year UTFEFEEER

attributable to: AL (ER) ¢
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZZ SN 28,107
Non-controlling interest AR 15,868

43,975

Total comprehensive income/(loss) U T&AFEEEREEH

for the year attributable to Wi (58 AE
Owners of the Company PAN/NETEZ SN (10,646) 24,743
Non-controlling interest AR 29,422 15,498

18,776 40,241

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable 2~ X Rl A A EEER

to owners of the Company (&518) BR

Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) BEARREE(FREM) 15 2.81

ol ._‘..“"]'L‘
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B BARR

At 31 March 2025
M2025%3A318

Notes
M
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property and equipment L EYSE Y] 16
Financial asset at FVPL BAFEFABREZ
SREE 17
Deposits Re 20
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18
Trade receivables =) 19
Contract assets EHBE 19
Prepayment, deposits and other TARFIE - Be Rk
receivables H A UL GRIR 20
Financial asset at FVPL BEAFEFABTZ
CRIEE 17
Restricted bank deposits SRR HIERTTIF R 21
Bank and cash balances RITRBE % 21
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables = AN e 22
Other payables and accruals HAib TR R
FEET &R 23
Bank borrowings IRITER 24
Lease liabilities HEasE 25
Tax payable FERIBEIE
Net current assets REBEETFE
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERTBERS
Non-current liabilities FERBEME
Lease liabilities HEBE 25
EEFE

NET Assﬂ
f

1 22 Chi Kan Holdifgs Limited %5 &) 1% i% A [R 2 &
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As at 31 March
A3H31H
2025
20255
HK$’000
TExT

2024
2024%F
HK$'000
FHET

2,900

1,873
55

4,828

12,377
22,224
244,784

11,790
5,356

7,500
228,236

7,946
56,733
252,964

29,462
15,176

27,500
227,632

532,267

617,413

33,253

21,114

629
5,272

65,772

39,002
30,000
1,402
5,690

60,268

141,866

471,999

475,547

473,898

480,375

239

871

473,659

479,504




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BB R

At 31 March 2025
M202543A318

Notes
Bt &

Capital and reserves EARR#E

Share capital (N 26

Share premium I& % B

Reserves 1

Capital and reserves attributable to  ANQ &#E A A E{L IR A

owners of the Company &=
Non-controlling interest AR
TOTAL EQUITY R

The consolidated financial statements on pages 120 to 235 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27
June 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

As at 31 March
M3A31H
2025
20254
HK$000
FHET

10,000
120,421
329,227

459,648
14,011

473,659

2024
202445
HK$'000
FHET

10,000
120,421
339,873

470,294
9,210

479,504

HREI20E235BE 26 HPBHRERE R2025F
6A7AEESESHAEREETIR WAL TES

REREE -

Lo Hon Kwong
EEX
Director

EF
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Consolidat§d Statement of Changes in Equity
el LS

m;
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BZE2025F3A31HILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
KARERARE
Statutory Non-
Share Share surplus  Exchange  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve profits Total interest equity
EERS
Ra  hhEE 0 EXRf  REER £ FEREE  BREE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Thn T Thn T Thn T Thn Tin
At 1 April 2023 H03F4R1A 10,000 120421 7,539 (1563) 309,154 445,551 9,689 455,40
Profit for the year Emigtl - - = g 28,107 2107 15,868 43975
Other comprehensive loss for theyear — #REH2EEE - - - (3364) - (3364) (370) (3734)
Total comprehensive income for the year  FR2AHAEE - - - (3364) 28107 U8 15498 40241
Transactions with owners in their capacity EEEANZEEASH
as owners: VY]
Dividend paid to non-controlling Interests % F 3R 2/k8
(Note 31) (Hi31) - - - - - - (15977) (1597
Transfer to statutory reserve EHTIThE - - 1276 - (1,276) - - -
At 31 March 2024 R04E3A31H 10,000 120421 8815 (4927) 335,985 470,294 9210 479,504
At 1 April 2024 R04E4A1H 10,000 120,421 i (4,927) 335,985 470,294 479,504
Profit for the year EREH - (7,685) (7,685) ) 21,564
Other comprehensive loss for theyear — FREH2 AR (2.961) - (2,961) (2,788)
Total comprehensive income for the year  ERZENEAE (2.961) (7,685 (10,646) 29422 18,776
Transactions with owners in their capacity S5 ANEESAGH
- as owners: B
Capital njection from non-controlling ~~ JEiEfRIERS &
interests 542 542
Dividend paid to non-controlling Interests A3 RiER 7 k&
(Note31) (Hi31) (25163 (25163)
}t 31 March 2025 1 R0BE3A31R 10,000 120,421 i (7,888) 328,300 459,648 , 473,659
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FIREIMER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HZE2025F3A31HILFE

Note
ks
Cash flows from operating activities R&ETEHRLRE
Cash generated from/(used in) EEAE(FTA)RE
operations 29(b)

Income tax paid

EASH

Net cash generated from/(used in) & EBFTE(FTA)
operating activities REeFH
Cash flows from investing activities REFERERE

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment
Purchase of financial asset at FVPL

Proceeds from disposal of financial asset
at FVPL

Release of restricted bank deposits
Interest received

BEYYE . R &R
R D A A SR

MEmEE

HER N FER ARS
MEREEZ
PT1SRIA

IR IR BRI
2 W2

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities

REZBFRE,(FAA)
B&FH

Cash flows from financing activities

Capital injection from non-controlling
interests

Proceeds from bank borrowing

Repayment of bank borrowing

Principal portion of lease payments
element

Interest paid

BMETDHREAE
RIS E

IRITERZFERIE
BEIRTTIER
MENFEHD 2

K E»
ERFE

Dividends distribution to non-controlling [ b} B8 A T 3E4% A% HE 25

interest of subsidiaries DIk E

Net cash used in financing activities REEBMAR ST

Net increase/(decrease) cash and HeRBESEEY
cash equivalents ®i (L) FE

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F#IR 4 RIREZEEY
of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, [E SR#8 5 B2 28 5 47
net

Cash and cash equivalents FREEREASEEY
at end of year

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents RE&RIREEBY DT
Bank and cash balances RITRIBS L

Year ended 31 March
BZE3A3HILLEE

2025
20255
HK$’000
FET

2024
20244F
HK$'000
FHET

44,657
(20,134)

(46,094)
(14,833)

(60,927)

(608)
(19,908)
32,571

20,000
3,586

5,164

35,641

(10,042)

542
15,000
(45,000)

(1,463)
(634)

(PR X))

30,000
(27,000)

(1,228)
(2,157)

(15,977)

(56,718)

(16,362)

3,446
227,632

(2,842)

(87,331)
318,830

(3,867)

228,236

227,632

228,236

227,632

——p—7 ._‘...“'T|_‘
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

‘ F

1 26 Chi Kan Holdings Limited 23 #)#E iR G R A 7] Annual Report 2025 3

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chi Kan Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 16 April 2018 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law
(Cap.22, Law 3 of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is P.O. Box 1350, Windward 3, Regatta Office Park,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business is located at Room 1008 and 1009, 10/F., China
Shipbuilding Tower, 650 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The shares of the Company were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) on 14 August 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of formwork services and
other construction services in Hong Kong and e-commerce

business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The ultimate holding company of the Company is Magnificent
Faith Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI"), and the controlling shareholder is Mr. Lo
Hon Kwong (“Mr. Lo"), who is also the chairman and executive

director of the Company.

|
|

—RE#

BEERER AR ([ARAF])NR20185F4H
T6RIRIEM SRS AN E2FERFTE(196]
FEIFEN - BERARBI EREHS
MK AEREERAR - AT
fift 9% = BE #031E A P.O. Box 1350, Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands © F Z2ZZ IR EEN
BE R B 6505k 1 Bl i AR K = 10421008 K
1009%E ° AR AIRMDN2020F8 H14BEER
BBAXSHARAR([BRA])ERE
A o

ARBRREZERAT - ARBREKBEA
Al AEE ) T2REBREREER
AR R H A R RRAG A R AR KA
(ThE DIEEEFREBES -

RABNRBRERAB R ERBERAR - —
RAERBREZES ([ REBEXES ) MK
VHATE  RERBRSEREE(ESR
) BEBRRAEFERITES -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERR MR

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
that are relevant to its operations and effective for its
accounting year beginning on 1 April 2024. HKFRS Accounting
Standards comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKAS"); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards did not result in significant changes to
the Group's accounting policies, presentation of the Group's
financial statements and amounts reported for the current

year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective. The application of these new HKFRS Accounting
Standards will not have material impact on the consolidated

financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards, issued
by the HKICPA and the applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain

financial instruments which are measured at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
the use of key assumptions and estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgments in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgments and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements are

disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of

these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
31 March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that

significantly affect the entity’s returns.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Consolidation (continued)

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential voting
right is considered only if the holder has the practical ability to

exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the

date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii) the
Company'’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any
remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any related

accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss
and total comprehensive income for the year between the

non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the

non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’ s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their
capacity as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed

to the owners of the Company.
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3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS, which is the

Company's functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial

statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this

translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange

rates at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss on
a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised

in profit or loss.

Annual Report 2025 %%  Chi Kan Holdings Limited 5 £1#% i B[R A &) 1 31

BEAETHEER #)

INEBRE

(a) ITHEERZZ/EH
REBESEBNYBRRAMBIEDN
HEHFRAZEEMEENETEEE
RIBHEE ([ EE DFTE - A6
WBmERABTEY - BLTAERRAA
MINGEEE R 25| EE -

(b) BERUBHRXNKXZRISE

SINER RN THERRTIAR 5 A
ERMERRE RS - UINE
FHEMEMEENBBEREREHNE
TREBNEXGRE  -ZRERRELE
Fy et N B IR IR B as A RERR ©

BAFEFEMIMNEFENIEERIR
B EREEAFEE AMNEXRRE

BHEKRB ZhamERENEME
MY 5 FERR RS - 2 MR s s B 1R Z AE R
EXMONEMEEKREER - BIF
EREAZWRENEERNERER
B - e B R 2 AT X B o R
B o

O

3T i T



|

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FR SRR P T

F

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group

entities that have a functional currency different from

the Company’s presentation currency are translated into

the Company’s presentation currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of

financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the

transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised

in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from

the translation of the net investment in foreign entities

and of borrowings are recognised in the foreign

currency translation reserve. When a foreign operation

is sold, such exchange differences are recognised in

consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on

disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EXRSHBEER®

INFORMATION (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c) Translation on consolidation (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the

closing rate.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working

condition and location for its intended use.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they are

incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Property and equipment (continued)

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over
the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal
annual rates are as follows:
Leasehold improvement 20% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles under hire 30% or over the lease term,
purchase arrangement whichever is shorter
Motor vehicles 30% or over the lease term,
whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and 20% to 33%

equipment

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each

reporting period.

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in

profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Leases

The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and
the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal annual

rates are as follows:

Office 1to 5 years
Motor vehicles 1 to 5 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration
costs. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the
lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease if that rate can be determined, or otherwise the
Group's incremental borrowing rate. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining

balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-

value assets are assets of value below USS$ 5,000.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using first-in, first-out basis. The
cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of all
production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs

necessary to make the sale.
Recognition and derecognition of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a

party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is

recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under
a contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within
the timeframe established by the market concerned, and
are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (the “Financial assets at FVTPL").
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following

category:

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables)
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of

the following conditions:

(@)  the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect

contractual cash flows; and

(b) the contractual terms of the assets give rise
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less loss allowance

for expected credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified under this category if
they do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other

comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at
fair value with any gains or losses arising from changes
in fair values recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss are net of any
interest income and dividend income. Interest income

and dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost and contract
assets. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as

the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that financial
instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for trade
receivables and contract assets, or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial

recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses (continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on
a financial instrument (other than trade receivables and
contract assets) has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that represents the expected
credit losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the

reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an

impairment gain or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash and

cash equivalents.

Cash that is restricted from withdrawal, from use or from being
pledged as security is reported separately in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and is not included in the total
cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of

cash flows.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRS Accounting Standards. An
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific

financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability

for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting

would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives (including contingent considerations under
business combinations) are initially recognised and

subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses

arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERR MR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is

adjusted for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service
to a customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the
laws that apply to that contract, a performance obligation
can be satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance

obligation is satisfied over time if:

(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes

the benefits provided by the Group's performance;

(b)  the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or

enhanced; or

() the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is

recognised by reference to the progress towards complete

satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,

revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of the product or service.

(i)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
(variation order of construction work), the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will

be entitled using the most likely amount.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent that
is highly probable that such an inclusion will not result
in a significant revenue reversal in the future when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.

When there is change in circumstances, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate of
variable consideration is constrained) to better predict
the circumstances present at the end of the reporting
period and the changes in circumstances during the

reporting period.

|
u

142 Chi Kan Holdings Limited 23 #)#E iR G R A 7] Annual Report 2025 3

BEREFHEER #)

EFEHWE(E)

RN EEBEERETK - MR HBED T

WE%?EWE?%£°TW

(i)

W &P
152 am SR AR 55 O 722 1 4 2 B HEER)

TERE
HNBEEERENAN(BRETEN
& Hﬁ)'ﬁ%lﬁ%ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ@

B EAREBNRESHE -

AR BRI N EEERE

BT AB B EBIRAARE
%ﬁﬂ&ﬁﬁék% £ OB
“ﬁﬁmﬁﬁéﬁﬁ AR SE

5 o

ERESE  AREEHEHR S
B (BIEE TR T
SIRMEFE) - LERTRIRS R

18558 % $R 45 P e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERR MR

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects
of the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customers or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of services to customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing
component may exist regardless of whether the
promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract
or implied by the payment terms agreed by the parties

of the contracts.

Notwithstanding the above, a contract does not have
a significant financing component in circumstances
where payments are in accordance with the typical
payment terms of the relevant industry, which has a

primary purpose other than financing.

Warranty

For warranty embedded to the construction contracts,
the Group accounts for the warranty, if any, in
accordance with HKAS 37, Provision, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as the warranty
provides the customer with assurance that the
contracting work complies with the agreed-upon

specifications.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

F

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its
construction contracts. The Group first assesses whether
these costs qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of
other relevant standards, failing which it recognises an
asset for these costs only if they meet all of the following

Criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to
an anticipated contract that the Group can

specifically identify;

(b) the costs generate or enhance resources of
the Group that will be used in satisfying (or in
continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in

the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset recognised is subsequently amortised on a
systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to
the customer of the goods or services to which the

assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the
Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or

services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group

7\}_9'“{1 agent).

|
u

144 Chi Kan Holdings Limited 23 #)#E iR G R A 7] Annual Report 2025 3

3.

BEREFTHEER @)

BEFEEHWE(E)

(iv) BITERZHE

(v)

REBREZESHNPELEBRTAAOLZ
PR o REEE AR R H A AE R
TERZERNARECERERRE
E - HMAaER EEFENUTE2H
SEMNBAT T ERZEZR AR
B

(a) ARAKAEAREER AR
BRREHRI L2 EHNAEERA
1%

by BERASAEESARET
(EABEET)RRBEHNEEZE
RS AEESAEN : R

() HBEREARAEHAKRE -

R HERZ EEERRAGIEREAE(HE

AEFEREEEMBNERIRHE—
BOEE - ZEERETRESRRH -

FAHEREA

i3

H—H2RATPRHEE MRS
B ANEEREEAGNEERNE
SRESERmARSG (NAKESE
AN LS T (BIAKESKE
N EREERBIREHEOET -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERR MR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Principal versus agent (continued)

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good
or service before that good or service is transferred to a

customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is
to arrange for the provision of the specified good or
service by another party. In this case, the Group does
not control the specified good or service provided
by another party before that good or service is
transferred to the customer. When the Group acts as
an agent, it recognises revenue in the amount of any
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or

services to be provided by the other party.

Depending on the terms of the contracts and the laws
that apply to the contract, services may be recognised

over time or at a point in time.

Revenue from formwork services and other

construction services

The Group provides formwork services to both private

and public sectors in Hong Kong.

The type of formwork services to be provided
is generally dependent on customers’ project
requirements and specifications. The Group is generally
engaged by the customers for two types of formwork
services, namely, (i) conventional formwork which was
built on-site by mainly using timber and plywood;
and (i) prefabricated formwork which was built out of
prefabricated modules by mainly using aluminum and

steel.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(vi)

Revenue from formwork services and other

construction services (continued)

During the course of providing the formwork services,
the Group may also be requested to provide other
construction services, including plastering, installing
curtain wall and other miscellaneous works on an

ancillary basis.

The Group provides formwork services and other
construction services under contracts with customers.
Such contracts are entered into before the services
begin. Under the terms of the contracts, the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.
Revenue from provision of formwork services and
other construction services is therefore recognised
over time for each individual contract by using output
method, i.e. on the basis of measurement of the
value of services transferred to the customer to date.
The measurement is based on surveys of formwork
services and other construction services completed
by the Group to date as certified by surveyors or other
representatives appointed by the customers and
adjusted by the estimated value of work performed
but which is yet to be certified at each of the reporting
date. The management of the Group considers that
output method would faithfully depict the Group’s
performance towards satisfaction of performance
obligation under HKFRS 15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERR MR

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.
INFORMATION (continued)

BEREFHEER #)

EFEHWE(E)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(vi) FEERIRHEREMEERHE W2t ()

(vi) Revenue from formwork services and other

construction services (continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’'s right to
consideration from customers in exchange for the
provision of formwork services and other construction
services that the Group has transferred to the customers
that is not yet unconditional. Contract assets arise when
the Group has provided the formwork services and
other construction services under the relevant contracts
but the works have yet to be certified by surveyors
or other representatives appointed by the customers
and/or the Group's right to payment is still conditional
on factors other than passage of time. Any amount
previously recognised as a contract asset is reclassified
to trade receivables at the point when the Group's right
to payment becomes unconditional other than passage

of time.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer the aforesaid services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of

consideration is due) from the customer.

The Group does not receive any prepayment from
customers. The revenue recognised from a construction
project is commensurate with the value of the works

performed by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(vi) Revenue from formwork services and other

construction services (continued)

In accordance with the terms of the contracts entered
into with customers, the Group is required to submit
to customers monthly payment applications for the
value of work done under the contracts along with
any variation orders performed. Customers will settle
normally in 30 days after certifying our monthly
payment applications based on their assessment of
work done by the Group. Customers usually retain an
amount up to 10% of the value of work done, subject
to a maximum limit of 5% of the total contract sum
as retention money for the contract. The terms and
conditions in relation to the release of retention vary
from contract to contract, which is subject to practical
completion, the expiry of the defect liability period or a
pre-agreed time period which normally ranges from six

to twenty- four months after the completion date.
(vii) Revenue from e-commerce business

Revenue is recognised when the control of the goods
has transferred according to respective agreed terms
of delivery. Revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good.
The management'’s judgements regarding principal
and agent consideration in revenue recognition was
disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BB ERR MR

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured

reliably.

Commission income represents sourcing service income
which is calculated by certain percentage or amount based of
the total sales amount. Such income are recognised at a point
in time when the services are rendered which is generally the

time when the ultimate customers had received the goods.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the at the end of the

reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave

are not recognised until the time of leave.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents

contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(c) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of

termination benefits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is

deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Borrowing costs (continued)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than borrowings
made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying

asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them

with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
deducted from the carrying amount of the assets. The grant is
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable asset

by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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BT RN

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and

liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends

to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

BEREFHEER #)

BIE(E)

ELERERE RHERSRERARERN
WE A E BRI BEH & 58 SR F B A
E2HHAFDEEZLIRE

LmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁtﬁmimﬁﬁF%ﬁ
BRAZHE I Fﬁ%%*a%%&a
FEEMZHEFE o BERIBEN S AR
R MEAEM AR EERZIEE B
ERERERERERN  ERERT - B
7t TE 7N H At 2 T UK 2% ok B B A M v N HE

=7
s °©

EEHAEERABZHERRAKEEN
REERRKOSEEEERAE REE
AREEL ZHIFHER -

A AT ECER A TRENB) MBI IR & E AR
HAVHIARE  MECHAEERAER
mF—REEEBRRZ AEHERE - BEA%
BEEBNFRELEEENYHRAEENRA
& AEEHAEENBERAIAGAREH -

Annual Report 2025 %%  Chi Kan Holdings Limited 5 £1#% i B[R A &) 1 53

2 'a%~

T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group's

various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of productions
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a

majority of these criteria.
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the

Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is

related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of

the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRR T AT

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

() The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the

others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third

party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also

related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a

parent of the entity).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FR SRR P T

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the

Company.
Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
other than deferred tax assets, investments, inventories and
receivables, to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment
loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the

asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific

to the asset.

|
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment of assets (continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash- generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is
carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment

loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is

treated as a revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditures expected to settle the

obligation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is

remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group " s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events
are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial

statements when material.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRR T AT

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(a)

Revenue recognition of construction works and

recognition of contract assets

Revenue from provision of construction works is
recognised over time by measuring the progress
towards completion of the Group’s performance
obligations as set out in respective contracts. The
Group has used the output method to estimate the
progress of each performance obligation satisfied over
time by reference to the value of construction works
completed to date (as certified by surveyors or other
representatives as appointed by customers (collectively
the external independent parties) or evaluated by
the Group’s internal technicians if such certifications
from external independent parties are not available)
as a proportion of the total contract value of the
relevant construction contracts. The Group regularly
reviews and revises the estimation of construction
contract progresses whenever there is any change in
circumstances. As at 31 March 2025, the value of work
which is completed but yet to be certified was disclosed
in Note 19(b).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

Principal and agent consideration in revenue

recognition

The Group engaged in e-commerce business through
either of its own online platform or other retail platform
operated by independent third parties, which involves
the principal versus agent assessment. The Group
is required to determine whether the nature of its
promise is a performance obligation to provide the
specified goods or services itself (i.e., the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to
be provided by the other party (i.e.,, the Group is an
agent). In determining the nature of its promise, the
Group identify the specified goods to be provided to
the customer (which, for example, could be a right to
a good to be provided by another party, and assess
whether it controls each specified good before that

good or service is transferred to the customer).

With respect to the e-commerce business, the Group
follows the applicable accounting guidance and makes
judgement that it is acting as a principal as the Group
obtains control of the goods from respective suppliers

before transferring to the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRR T AT

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c)

Allowance for ECLs of trade receivables and contract

assets

ECLs are unbiased probability-weighted estimates of
credit losses which are determined by evaluating a
range of possible outcomes and taking into account
past events, current conditions and assessment of

future economic conditions.

The Group performs impairment assessment under
ECL model on trade receivables and contract assets
individually or based on provision matrix. Except for
customers with significant balances or credit-impaired,
which are assessed for impairment individually, the
Group used provision matrix to calculate the ECL
for its trade receivables and contract assets. The
provision rates are based on repayment history as
groupings of various debtors that have similar credit
risk characteristics. The provision matrix is based on
relevant historical loss rates taking into consideration
forward looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
At every reporting date, the estimated loss rates are
reassessed and changes in forward looking information

are considered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
BB RERMIFE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(c)

(d)

Allowance for ECLs of trade receivables and contract

assets (continued)

The assessment requires management judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome or expectation
in future is different from original estimate, such
differences will impact the carrying amount of
trade receivables and contract assets and credit loss
allowance in the period in which the estimate has
been changed. As at 31 March 2025, the information
about ECLs of trade receivables and contract assets was
disclosed in Notes 5(c) and 19.

Income tax

The Group is subject to income tax in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group
carefully evaluates tax implications of transactions
and recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. The tax treatment of such transactions
is reconsidered periodically to take into account all
changes in tax legislations. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences would impact
the current income tax in the period in which such

determination is made.
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BRI

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has various financial assets and liabilities such
as trade receivables, financial assets included in deposits
and other receivables, trade payables, lease liabilities, bank
borrowings and financial liabilities included in accruals and
other payables, which arise directly from its operations. The
Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall
risk management procedures focus on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse

effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance
department under the supervision of the directors of the
Company. The directors of the Company provide principles for

overall risk management.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and the PRC
and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to the HKS and Renminbi (RMB). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions and
recognised financial assets and liabilities denominated
in a currency that is not the respective functional

currency of the subsidiaries.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 March 2025, if RMB had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against HKS with all other variables
held constant, the post-tax profit for the year
would have been approximately HK$3,009,000
(2024:HK$2,965,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of cash

and cash equivalents.

Currently, the Group has not used derivative financial
instruments to hedge against its foreign currency risk.
The Group manages foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the proportion of its non-Hong Kong dollars

assets and liabilities.
Interest rate risk

The Group's income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. The Group's interest rate risk arises from cash at
banks, restricted bank deposits and bank borrowings
which bore floating interest rates. The Group has not
used any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. However, the management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary
actions when significant interest rate exposure is

anticipated.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

As at 31 March 2025, if interest rate on bank balances,
restricted bank deposits and bank borrowings had been
50 basis point higher/lower with all other variables held
constant, the post-tax profit for the year would have
been HK$950,000 (2024: HK$906,000) higher/lower,
mainly as a result of higher/lower of net finance income.
The 50 basis point decrease/increase represents
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the period until the next

annual reporting date.

Credit risk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from cash
at banks, restricted bank deposits, trade receivables,
contract assets, deposits and other receivables. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with

its financial assets.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations at the end of each reporting period in
relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
The management has a credit policy in place and
the exposures to these credit risks are monitored
and controlled on an ongoing basis. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking

information.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has three types of assets that are subject to

the expected credit loss model:

(i)

|
u

Trade receivables;

Contract assets; and

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Trade receivables and contract assets

In order to minimise the credit risk, management has
delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. As a result, the Group's

exposure to bad debts is not significant.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers by reference to background, credit
quality and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records, past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtor, and an
analysis of the debtor’s current financial position.
The Group applies simplified approach to
measure the ECL which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade receivables and
contract assets. The Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
and contract assets individually or based on

provision matrix.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Except for the customers with significant
balances or credit-impaired, which are assessed
for impairment individually, the remaining trade
receivables and contract assets, representing
larger number of small customers are grouped
under a provision matrix based on shared credit
risk characteristics by reference to the repayment
history over past twelve months and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within the period. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by the management of the Group
to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated. The historical loss rates
were adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group had considered that the
Hong Kong' s gross domestic growth is to be the
most relevant factor, and accordingly, adjusted
the historical loss rates based on expected

changes of this factor.

5.

EEMEREE)

(c)

FERRE)
@ﬁkﬁﬁ%iZfﬂﬁmgﬁ
ERETTRER I - HBRE 85
%%ME&—@§F%K§¢E
PIRBARMNEERRSE
WSEBE+ {8 8ERCE

MW BAEEENERBEEE
EE - IRBBEEETHME - Z
DHAAEEEREE TR -
R ENMSEEFEANMERE
ﬂo‘&%%*ﬁﬂﬁﬁu&
% AR B RWEIEE NN

%@l%%ﬁ%&m%&é
MoK%l%%é%Kﬁié%
BEERATBERREZ At R
BZAENEHREHAEAZR
TEEE -
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

|
u

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The customers with significant balances
are assessed individually for the credit risk
and risk of default. The Group has used the
financial information or past due information
of counterparties to assess whether credit risk
has been increased significantly since initial
recognition. The ECLs are estimated based on
assumptions about risk of defaults and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs
to the impairment assessment, based on the
Group's past history, existing market conditions
as well as forward looking information at the end
of each reporting period. In assessing forward-
looking information, the Group consider factors
macroeconomic factors, industry risks and

changes in debtor’s conditions.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default
under ECL model for trade receivables over 90
days past due based on the good repayment
records for those customers with continuous

partial settlement.
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The contract assets relate to uncertified work
in progress and retention sum for contract
works, which have substantially the same risk
characteristics as the trade receivables. The Group
has therefore concluded that the expected loss
rates and forward looking information for trade
receivables are a reasonable approximation of
the loss rates for the contract assets, and the
forward-looking information determined in
above was also incorporated to estimate the loss

allowance of contract assets.

As at 31 March 2025, the loss allowance for the
contract assets amounted to approximately
HK$20,056,000 (2024: HK$3,907,000).

Trade receivables and contract assets are written
off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment
plan with the Group, and a failure to make

contractual payments for a long period.

5.

EEMEREE)

(c)

FERR(E)

(i)

ESEUFEARESHEE(E)

BHREERRERBTEREIRER
BNIRRECAHR - ERRS
MR E 5 EUGIREAER -
It AEERRE S RKIEN
EHERX AT ERREL
BEBRENGIIUE - 1
EiEEATIEEERAAER
BEBBRENGESE -

M2025E3A318 - AHWEEE
18 8 # 49 20,056,000 7 7T ( 2024
£ :3,907,000587T) °

BHRUEHFERGNEERRZE
BRI EIR T AME o 8X
AEEHKEMNEFEEE(EP
BRE)BEBARELSAEEEL
EGETE  WRERBREXNEG
HIFRIA -
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BT RN

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

(i)

|
u

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The Group was exposed to certain concentration
of credit risk as at 31 March 2025 on trade
receivables and contract assets from the Group's
top five customers amounting to approximately
HK$196,073,000 (2024: HK$194,921,000),
and accounted for 73% (2024: 62%) of trade
receivables and contract assets of the Group.
As at 31 March 2025, the trade receivables and
contract assets from the Group's largest customer
amounting to approximately HK$64,800,000
(2024: HK$57,033,000) and accounted for 24%
(2024: 18%) of trade receivables and contract
assets of the Group. These customers have no
significant financial difficulty and/or historical
default experience. Management considers that

the credit risk is limited in this regard.
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(c)

FERR(E)

(i)

ESRUSEAREHNEE (&)

7202538310 AREBEEYH
ETEHREERR  REAXE
BEREAREFMNEZRKFEKR
B 4 & E 4 A196,073,0007%8 7T
(20244 : 194,921,000 7T ) * 15
AEBEBEZRRFEBERAENE
EE73% (20245 1 62%) ° FA2025
F3H318  REXEEHEAE
FPHESERFEBEREHNEE
49 /5 64,800,000 & 7T ( 2024 4F :
57,033,000 7C) - EARKEE S
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BRI

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For the deposits and other receivables, they
are closely monitored for recoverability and
collectability and the Group maintains close
communications with the counterparties.
The Group uses the past-due information of
counterparties to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition. As
at the reporting date, the balances are not past
due, and based on historical experience, majority
of these balances were settled shortly upon
maturity and these counterparties are with sound
financial position, hence the associated credit risk
is minimal. The management considered that the
identified impairment loss under expected credit

loss model was immaterial (2024: Same).

In respect of cash deposited at banks and
restricted cash, the credit risk is considered to be
low as the counterparties are mostly reputable
banks. The existing counterparties do not
have defaults in the past. Therefore, expected
credit loss rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
insignificant as at 31 March 2025 (2024: Same).

5.

EEMEREE)

(c)

FERR(E)

(i)

BEBHEAA B RAMETHEE

HiReREMERGERS - H
7] B AR R AT s [0 14 52 B R )
ER AEEEIZFUHFRER
U8B - ARBEFEARSEFE
HER A G EE R B VAT
RUARZEEEEL N - RIS AR
B BEZHITRAE  RIEE
P ZEEBRPORDHE
BB TAKLE  MzERZY
FROFBARRERE - BILAREN
EERRE) - EERERE 1B
HiEEEEEXTHERRRE
BRI TEA(20244F : HR) »

HEMRRITHIRE RZRHIR
EME - ARRSYFRZ R
BR1T - WEERBEHERERE -
RERXRSGHFRATLBENS
So Bt - 2025938318 ¢
RITHR MBI EEEBEEET
EATEA(2024%F : F8R) °
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(c) Creditrisk (continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal credit

B R bR B ()

(0 FERRE)

AEENEEER R R A RREN

R

Trade receivables/

Other financial

rating Description contract assets assets
B EWRE
WD EE R g BHREE HitemEE
Performing The counterparty has a low to moderate risk Lifetime ECL — 12m ECL
of default and does not have any past-due not-credit impaired
amounts
E1T HFHFEREETEENAR  BYE FHRBEEERE - REAEREEREE
HARE TR AEEEERE
Underperforming  There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —

2be3

Non-performing

TR

Write-off

A

|
||

F

credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or external
resources

MBS SN & IR AR P 1515 B
B IR TER AR ZE

NMEERR

There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

FRBBRREECBLGERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

ARBRTEBABABREMFREER
A&EWEFIRN S BB
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not-credit impaired
PHRREEER-
ABEEERE
Lifetime ECL —
credit impaired
FHEREERE -
BEEEEERE

Amount is written off

MEBRSHR

not-credit impaired
FHEHEERE-

REEEERE
Lifetime ECL —

credit impaired
FHRHEERRE -

EEEEERE

Amount is written off

MEEREE
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BRI

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. BIEEMEREZ)

(c)  Credit risk (continued) () FEERKGE)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRAMIWNE THEEETHAEZEEE
Group's financial assets and contract assets which are BN AEBCREERENEE
subject to ECL assessment: WEERER :
Gross Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying
Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
28R 2H

s ASBEETR FEHEEEE HERHEE R E
2025 2024

20255 202445

HK$’000 HK$'000

F#&T FHET

Financial assets at amortised cost:

RBHERATEZEREE -

Trade receivables 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 22,224 56,733
(not credit-impaired)
B 5 RWRIA BT >HTEEEEE
(REEEERE)
Trade receivables 19 Non-performing Lifetime ECL -
(credit impaired)
B 5 WK1 TR >HTEEEEE
(BEEEEERE)
Deposits and other 20  Performing 12m ECL 1,046
receivables, excluding
prepayments and
other tax recoverable
R RHEMEWRIE fE1T REABHREEER
TEIETEN FRIB R HE M
WA 18
Cash at banks and on hand 21 N/A 12m ECL 228,236 227,632
RITRERFHERE A REAEHREEER
Restricted bank deposits 21 N/A 12m ECL 27,500
R HERI TR i REARHREEER

ol ._‘..“"]'L‘
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BT RN

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. BIEEMRERZ)

(c) Credit risk (continued) (c) EERRKEE)
Gross Gross
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying
Notes credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
128 A2
i mAMEEFER FBAHREERR HAREE HBAREE
2025 2024
2025%F 202445
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Other item:
HMIER :
Contract assets 19  Performing Lifetime ECL 251,424 256,871
(not credit-impaired)
BREE FB17 FHIRHEEEE
(RELEEERE)
Contract assets 19 Non-performing Lifetime ECL -
(credit-impaired)
BREE TR FHIFRHEEEE
(BEEEERE)

=

|
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BRI

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s liquidity position and its compliance
with lending covenants is monitored closely by the
management of the Company, to ensure that the Group
maintains sufficient reserve of cash and adequate
committed line of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirement in the
short and long term. The Group finances its working
capital requirements through a combination of funds

generated from operations and bank borrowings.

The following tables analyses the non-derivative
financial liabilities and lease liabilities of the Group into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed
in the table were the contractual undiscounted cash
flows and the earliest date the Group can be required
to pay. Balances due within 12 months other than bank
borrowings, equal their carrying balances (including
both interest and principal) as the impact of discounting

is not significant.

5.

R EE %)

(d)

RBEEZRER

ARAERETIERAKRENES
MBMARERENAEERHE - #
RASE#FARBNRSFHEERAKX
HemMBBIGERARHENES
AmeHEERkERRSHESTFR -
AEBBEREEELTZES RIRITHE
RBENAREEEES -

K>

TREJNRBENBEHREANEIH
OB T AN BBREAREIHE
MDA EETESRAGBNRE
EREIN - ZRFAEBENSEA/A
MATTRBACRERAEB AW
REAH - maRTROZELIK R
1218 B R B HIE &5 8% (BRERTT B BRIM)
BEHBEmMAR(BENERAE)RF -
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BT RN

m;
5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MBERERERE#)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d)y HBELERE)
Carrying
amounts Total contractual undiscounted cash flow
REE ENRTRBEERELHE
On demand
or within Between 1 Between 2
Total 1year and2years and>5 years Total
ok MER 15226 pE:2 st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THERT THET THET TERT
31 March 2025 202593 H31H
Trade payables B HENRIE
Financial liabilities included T AJEZTER K&
in accurals and other HibERRUER
payable SRAE
Lease liabilities HEAR
37,486
e
f \|
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SRR T AT

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

5. BXRBREER®)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued) (d) HREBESEKE)
Carrying
amounts Total contractual undiscounted cash flow
REE BRRMRRERERE
On demand
or within Between 1 Between 2
Total Tyear  and2years  and5years Total
RER
@ MER 1F22F  2FESF st
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
THx THT THT THET FET
31 March 2024 202453 H31H
Trade payables B HENFUR 65,772 65,772 = - 65,772
Financial liabilities included 5T AJEETER &
in accurals and other E b e FURR
payable Eay=(i 2277 2,277 = = 2277
Bank borrowings RITIER 30,000 30,022 = = 30,022
Lease liabilities HERE 2,273 1,466 905 - 2371
100,322 99,537 905 = 100,442

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of
the loans with a repayment on demand clause based
on agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan
agreements. The amounts included interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these
amounts were greater than the amounts disclosed
in the on demand or within 1 year time band in the
maturity analysis contained above. Further details on

the bank borrowings is set out in Note 24.

TRIBERBERIBZEMEAHETETE
BN BERERERKERERZ
BERZEHASN - ZEREREMN
BRFEHEZFEZ W - Bt + %

LRIEBBN EXEE B SWTETS [
ERFMFERIRHEBERNAREZ
I o RITEREE — S IBE M
724 o
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BT RN

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)

Taking into account the Group's financial position,
the directors of the Company do not consider that it
is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion
to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such loans will be repaid in
accordance with the scheduled repayment date set out

in the loan agreements.

Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings subject to a

repayment on demand clause based on scheduled

5. BERBEER®)

(d)

nBEERER(E)

AARAKE MR - ARBRES
RARITTIARATREITE B IBRE KL
BIESK - ARREZR/RFTERS
RIBERBHEMEANIATERB HE

o

A

HHAD—REREBABEMNAR
BEREHFA R IRARIT

repayments
Total contractual undiscounted cash flow
ENRTRBERELE
On demand Between Between
or within 1and 2and
1 year 2 years 5 years Total
MER 15228 2EZSE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FTAT FAET FAT
31 March 2024 20243 A31H
Bank borrowings RITIEN 30,000 - = 30,000
Interest & 22 = = 22
30,022 - - 30,022
~ =,

|
I

I ‘
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BRI

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e)

Interest rate benchmark reform

The Group’s HIBOR bank loans will be subject to
the interest rate benchmark reform. The Group is
closely monitoring the market and managing the
transition to new benchmark interest rates, including
announcements made by the relevant IBOR regulators,

if any.

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA”") has been identified as an alternative to HIBOR,
there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The multi-rate
approach has been adopted in Hong Kong, whereby
HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist. The Group’s bank loan
linked to HIBOR will continue till maturity.

5.

EEMEREE)

(e)

eSS e

AEE 2 BEBRITRAERBIRITER
BRXBRAMEREENE - REBIER
EY T I5 I BB A LR RN B
B BREBRTREREEERE
BmHNE(H) °

EATRRFEER(EBTRERFY
BRI EWBERBARITRAENR
BOERN R BUELEFBRT
FEFEME - BEBRRABZNET
A BARTRAFKENBETREF
BEBSAT - AREREFBIRITH
ER DA ENRTERBHES
JEm e
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BT RN

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5.

(f)  Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the category of the
Group's financial instruments at the end of the reporting

period are as follows:

B R bR B ()

H EEHEINEMIA

AEESRTASENNBEH R
FREEMT :

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT

Financial assets tREE
Financial assets at fair value BRATEGABRZ R

through profit or loss BE(RHlFE)

(mandatorily measured) 17,049
Financial assets at amortised cost R AN ETE R

(including cash and TREE(BERS

cash equivalents) LIRS EED) 260,899 312,911
Financial liabilities tRIBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost ¥ # #5Ak A 518K

TRAaf 100,322

(g) Capital management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
- safeguard their ability to continue as a going
concern, so that they can continue to provide

returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders, and

-~

|
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BRI

5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. BIEEMEREZ)

(9)

Capital management (continued) (9)

- maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce

the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group

monitors capital on the basis of the following gearing

ratio:

Bank borrowings (note 24) RITER(FIFE24)

Lease liabilities (note 25) HEaEFIE2s)

Less: cash at banks and on hand B RITIRERFHERS
(note 21) (BF&E21)

Net cash REF5E

Total equity R 4AEE

Net debt to equity ratio B FREE IRA L &

Annual Report 2025 3R

EXEE(E)

- HEREREESRBUAREEARK

7N o

RTHEFARBESHEE  A5EHT
EEERBEINTRREZEEESE - [
BREEES  BOTRALEEE

PARR BT ©

EITREMAR B - AEEZRAT
BARAELRZEREREN !

2025
20254
HK$’'000
FTER

868

(228,236)

(227,368)

473,659

N/ATiE F
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2024
20244
HK$'000
FAT

30,000
2,273

(227,632)

(195,359)

479,504
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BT RN

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(g) Capital management (continued)

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed

capital requirements. No changes were made in

the objectives, policies or processes for capital

management during the year ended 31 March 2025.

(h) Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets

and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated

statement of financial position approximate their

respective fair values.

6. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an

asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction

between market participants at the measurement date. The

following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair

value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs to

valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs:

Level 2 inputs:

Level 3 inputs:

|
u

F

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Group can access at the

measurement date.

inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly.

unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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(9)

(h)

EXREER(E)

REEBEBTEMINREMZ EAX
Bk o HE2025F3A3HILEFE - &
SEVEHEATENEIZ - BURsK
BIRIEL 2R o

AT
AHHBRARFRARESRAE

AEBAENRIERETANRYF
(ERIEEN

AP E &

NHERRFERY  mE2EEZRARF
RHEEEEMBRIEBRRERNZE
& LTHREERRAFHEBRIEL ZAFE
A8 HBFEATEMER 2 MERIMR
RzBABED B={EBR

E—BHARE

F_EwARBE

EN LN 6

AEBRTERDH
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MmE (REH

&) -
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MREIN - ZEE
FABENAEERXL
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BRI

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers

out of any of the three levels as of the date of the event or

change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

(a)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at the end

of reporting period

Description itk

Recurring fair value measurements: &% % A FEFE :
Financial asset at FVPL BATEMA BRI ERERE
Wealth management product B ER

AEEFER)

AEBZERANBLEERLBAARZER
HREREAERA-—AERE2EARE

H oo

(a) FRBEPRAFEEBERNEE

Fair value measurements using:

ERATIIEBATE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

-8R =R B=R
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRR TR TRR

Fair value measurements using:

Total
2025
kel
20254
HK$'000
TR

EATIEFERTHE
Total
Description it Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2024
pat)
F—R EZR F=R 2024F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TR T THT
Recurring fair value measurements: &% AFEE
Financial asset at FYPL BATEFABGE EREE
Wealth management product BHER = 15,176 = 15,176
Unlisted equity investments FEETERRE = = 1873 1873
- 15,176 1,873 17,049

ol ._‘..“"]'L‘
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BT RN

[,
6. FAIRVALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 6. NYVEE®
(b) Reconciliation of Financial asset at FVPL measured by UE="FBAERSRAFHEFAEDR
at fair value based on level 3 ZERMEEURNFEYE
2025 2024
2025F 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
1 April R4H1H 1,686
Fair value gain on financial BRATEABRZ
asset at FVPL TREBEEN D FERE 34 278
Disposal He (1,890) =
Currency realignment B (17) (91)
At 31 March M3H31H 1,873
#) Include gains or losses for assets  #) BN M EHART A
held at end of reporting period BEEM K= EIR 278
The total gain or losses recognised in profit or loss HFARSEHREENEEARIBESE
including those for assets held at end of reporting PR EEREENERZRAZRY
period are presented in fair value loss on Financial asset BEAFTESABZZEHEENRD

at FVPL in the statement of profit or loss. F(EEE -

=
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BRI

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group
and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements at 31 March 2025:

The fair values of unlisted equity investments have
been estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation
model based on assumptions that are not supported by
observable market prices or rates. The valuation requires
the directors to make estimates about the expected
operating performance. The directors believe that
the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes
in fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss, are

reasonable.

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will
normally engage external valuation experts with the
recognised professional qualifications and recent

experience to perform the valuations.

Level 2 fair value measurement

Valuation technique and

Description

i

6.

AEEFE®)

(c)

unobservable inputs

RERM R T UBREARE

REB TR ERENRR2025%3 A
JTB AT EEMBEERMN REA
IR 2 ¢

FLETREARENVEARRRERE
HEREGBEAFE  KRANKRRKL
FBABEMERNEZF - EFA
SAENETZ2ERREL MG - &
FHE - BEHERMESLMHGHA
FEGIAGHIBRRER) RAFE
MEBESGIABR) VEEE -

REZBAFEAEMS AEE—
REZEABRAEXER IR
ERBROIMNBEESER -

E=RAFMEIHE

Fair value
2025
AYE
20254
HK$’000

FExT

Wealth management product

IR B

Bank quoted expected return

RITMETAHE R
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FR SRR P T

6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c)

(continued)

6.

(c)

AEEFE®)

(%)

Valuation technique and Fair value
Description unobservable inputs 2024
AFE
et EERMN R A BRE AR 20244F
HKS$'000
THET
Wealth management product Bank quoted expected return
AT RITIRETAHE R 15,176
Level 3 fair value measurement BN FEFE
Effect on
fair value for
Valuation Unobservable increase of Fair value
Description technique inputs Range  inputs 2024
BARE LY RFE
fs fEERM T BRHARE #E AVENFE 20045
HK$'000
TAT
Unlisted equity Discounted cash Sales growth rate 17%  Increase
investments flow HEEE K o
FLmERRE FRASRE
Discount rate 18%  Decrease
B By 1,873
-

i

|
I
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BRI

7. REVENUE

The Group's revenue represents provision of formwork

services and other construction services to customers in Hong

Kong and online trading of products in the PRC during the

year.

W 2

AEE W FARER AT RERRR
BREMZEREARTEE LEREEMN

Sz o

Over time
Contract revenue from
construction business:
Formwork services

Other construction services

BE By

BERBAEE M

TEAR AR
H b2 AR

Point in time

R E

E-commerce business revenue

ERRCE L &

2025
20254
HK$'000
FET

813,637
63,294

876,931
537,618

1,414,549

2024
20244
HK$'000
FAT

1,199,351
12,712

1,212,063
326,790

1,538,853

=y
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PSRRI R

8. OTHERINCOME 8.

HalA

Government grant BRI e B
Gain on disposal of financial asset at HERAFERF AR
FVPL — wealth management product 27 & &t& ER NS —

B Em
Gain on disposal of financial asset at HEZRAFEFAEBT
FVPL — Unlisted equity investment e REENRE—
FLETREREE
Sundry income IR

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
25

369

394

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors who make strategic decisions. The CODM assesses
the performance based on a measure of profit after income

tax.

=
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BB RERMIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Group is principally engaged in the business of providing
formwork services and other construction services in Hong
Kong and e-commerce business in the PRC during the year.
The Group's reportable and operating segments are as

follows:

= Construction business: provision of formwork services
and other construction services to customers in Hong

Kong

- E-commerce business: online trading of products in the
PRC

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities

Segment results represent the profit before income tax from
each segment except for the unallocated corporate expenses
and income, being central administrative costs and certain
other income. Segment assets include all current and non-
current assets with the exception of other corporate assets
and other unallocated corporate assets. Segment liabilities
include all current and non-current liabilities with the
exception of other corporate liabilities and other unallocated

corporate liabilities.

DEER ()

AEBFATZRBBRFRHERRE K
HZERY  URNTEEEEFHBE
o REBZA2RLEEDHMT

- RBEER nEETPRMERRS
R E MR SEIRF

- BTEBE : EFEETRLES
25

DREE - T HEERAE

D EEEIEE D RS RADEN - HERD
o2 RAR S R WA (Bl RITHARA K&
TEMBARIN - D HEEREMBERD
NIERBEE  WHMAREEREMARD
B2 RRIEERS - DEREBREMERE
FOERBAE  EEMBARAREREMARD
B2 RBIBERIN
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BT RN

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9. ZHMER®)
Segment results, segment assets and liabilities (continued) DEEE - PHEEREB(E)
Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as FREPEERNMI G BRI » MAEE
provided to the Group's CODM for the purposes of resource FELERARERBIAEB A ZHHIBE
allocation and assessment of segment performance for the BT

year is set out below:

Construction E-commerce

business business  Unallocated Total
BREXY BETEERYK RO E #at
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TET TR THET THET

Year ended 31 March 2025 B Z=202563H31H
HFE
Reportable segment revenue Bl e 876,931 537,618 1,414,549
Reportable segment profit/(loss) K& P55 Al ] 2 3R
before income tax DEEF (E18) (24,216) 79,408 (13,912) 41,280
Amounts included in the FTARTE S HBEE
measure of segment B

profit or loss:

Interest expenses BRI (616) (634)
Interest income FIBUA 780 3,586
Depreciation e (926) (1,652)
Impairment loss on B 5 RN IE

trade receivables BEEE (4,902) (4,902)
Impairment loss on BREERERE

contract assets (WCAE)] (16,149)
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BB ERR MR

9.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

9.

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities (continued)

DEER ()

TEEE  TWEERKRE(E)

Construction  E-commerce
business business  Unallocated Total
BEEY BTEBES KoL mEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3A31H
LEFE
Reportable segment revenue A 2o EpURES 1,212,063 326,790 - 1,538,853
Reportable segment profit/(loss) & A58 Al A 2 ¥R
before income tax HERF(EE) 22,390 43,450 (7,635) 58,205
Amounts included in the FTAGTE D PR
measure of segment ©5
profit or loss:
Interest expenses B (2,074) (83) - (2,157)
Interest income FEUA 4,469 155 540 5,164
Depreciation e (655) (454) (229) (1,338)
Impairment loss on BHEERERRE
contract assets (2,313) - (2,313)

Annual Report 2025 %%  Chi Kan Holdings Limited 5 £1#% i B[R A &) 1 91

L _?'%~

3T i T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PSRRI R

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, segment assets and liabilities (continued)

9.

DEBER ()

DEEE  IBMEEREEE)

2025
20254
HK$’000
FERT

2024
20244
HK$'000
FAT

415,646
49,226
69,294

506,444
39,923
75,874

534,166

Segment assets PWEE
Construction business BIEE
E-commerce business BFEBES
Other corporate assets HEMAaEE
Segment liabilities PEEE
Construction business BEEY
E-commerce business BT EBES
Other corporate assets Hib AR EE

622,241

28,071
28,221
4,215

110,174
30,007
2,556

=
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B SRRMI T

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9. ZHWER®)
Geographical information ih B & R
Information about the Group's non-current assets (other than BRAANEBIEREEE (SR IARIN B
financial instruments) is presented based on the geographical TR EEMRERI 2 o

location of the assets.

2025 2024

20255 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFET FHET

Hong Kong e 1,843
The PRC =8 1,057
Consolidated total Aptaasa 2,900

e
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BT RN

9. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 9. oHER (E)

Geographical information (continued) HEER(E)

BE2025F3A3NBILEFE - AEERKE
2EIRNEE R P EINBEF (20244 -
MR) o REBIE202563A31HIEFE - 95
KB 24 (202445  28) B P H W B RME A
SEBUREEBI0% BEZERTFPHWE
TIRERBEDE - BT

The Group's revenue are all derived from external customers
in Hong Kong and PRC for the year ended 31 March 2025
(2024: Same). During the year ended 31 March 2025, revenue
from 2 (2024: 2) customers individually contributed over 10%
of the Group’s total revenue. The revenue from each of these

customers came from construction segment, are summarised

4

below:

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$’000 HK$'000

FH&xT FET

Customer A ZHEA 141,148 266,489

Customer B =FB N/AT3E F* 224,825

Customer C BPC 234,381 N/AZS 3 3
3 Customer did not contribute more than 10% of the total * BEERERNTEMEANEERBS IS AT

consolidated revenue of the Group for the year.

-~
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BRI

10. FINANCE COSTS, NET 10. MEXKNFEE
2025 2024
20255 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFET FAET
Finance income BME WA
Bank interest income RITH B WA 5,164
Finance costs on: THEENBERA :
— Lease liabilities (Note 25) —HEafE(MiFE25) (103)
— Bank borrowings —RITIEK (2,054)
Total interest expense on financial Y IFEAFEARZ
liabilities not at fair value SRIBERNSMXARE (2,157)
Finance income, net MEUWRAFEEE 3,007

ol ._‘..“"]'L‘
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BT RN

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 1. FiEHAX
2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHET
Current income tax BNEAFTIS AR
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BABNER 3,164
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — AR ECEMER 11,066
Income tax expense FriSfip = 14,230
No overseas profits tax has been calculated for entities of the ERAEERRBE XHEKHSEETMH
Group that are incorporated in the BVI or the Cayman Islands R K ERERPHMZEN LR
as they are exempted from tax in these jurisdictions. H o BT ERESEERTETMEINFE
i o
All PRC subsidiaries are subject to income tax at 25% (2024: BERBENERESFE(TDEMESRIE]) -
25%) for the year under the PRC Corporate Income Tax law FERNETA R BB AT B AN25% (20245 -
("CIT Law”). 25%) Y PAS ML ©
Pursuant to the enactment of two-tiered profit tax rates by WIESEMER(IBMER ) BAMAEF
the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong (“IRD"), the BRE £ AEKEEETEH2,000,000
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25% on the first 7 TLAS BT FE ER A U 1) 42 8.25% Y Bt R AR B
HKS2 million of estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on I8 - MR N Et E R RS A B 3% 16.5%H)
the remaining estimated assessable profits for the year (2024: TRMTL (20245 - HE]) - TREAETEHRM
Same). The profits of corporations not qualifying for the two- M BRI E RN B EIR165%H 2] —
tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a TR c NAREE - FIESFMRS):ERBR
flat rate of 16.5%. The two-tiered profits tax rates regime was ANEE (20245 : $8[RA))

applicable to the Group for the year (2024: Same).

-~
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BB RERMIFE

11.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

Pursuant to the CIT law, 10% withholding tax is levied on
the foreign investor, (foreign investors which are registered
in Hong Kong and meet certain requirements specified in
the relevant tax regulations in the PRC may be entitled to
a preferential 5% rate), in respect of dividend distributions
arising from profit earned by a foreign investment enterprise
in the PRC after 1 January 2008. As at 31 March 2025,
no deferred tax liability has been recorded in respect of
temporary differences relating to the undistributed profits
amounting to approximately HKSnil (2024: HK$22,284,000)
as the Company controls the dividend policy of these
subsidiaries and it has been determined that it is probably
that these earnings will not be distributed in the foreseeable

future.

The Group has no other material deferred tax not provided in
the consolidated financial statements, as there were no other
material temporary differences at the end of the reporting

period.

11.

FE8EX e

RIBBEMBHIE - BER2008F1 A1HES
B SN E 1 3 Bk ER 403 FI) BT 2 A IR B IR T
T ORIMNEEEBERNI0%TEH (REE
AMAEFAETREREEARBREFREANE T
RMEMBEINEEEAREZASHHEER) ©
M2025F3 8310 - BESKBSEERD KA
FHZ B TT (20245 ¢ 22,284,0008 70 ) 2 &
RUZEEREHESE - HIBERAAT
THIZEMRBARMRERE WEAREAR
BRF AT EER RAFRDIK ©

HRERS MR ELMENTRIEER -
BN SR B S B A B AR IE R IR RN A B
R A -
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BT RN

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 1. I8 ®)

The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from AREBBRAEHMENNHEERASER
the theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax EOEAGH R ENIERTENEED

=
rate of the group entities as follows: T

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTER FAT

Profit before income tax BR P S B A F) 41,280 58,205

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates AR BRI B A R E A
K E R E TR

applicable to different subsidiaries

of the Group 12,992
Tax effect under two-tiered profits tax T R A B R A5 B 2R 61l R Y

rates regime RERE (165)
Expenses not deductible for AT X

tax purposes 2,151
Income not subject to tax BRERTUA (742)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognized K HER T BB B G £ =
Deductible temporary differences not ABIBLFT S B AERR

recognized for deferred income tax AR B AR

assets -
Tax concession MBEE ©)
Income tax expense FSHimAX 14,230
The Group did not recognize deferred income tax assets 20253 H31H - REBE W |y A A6
of approximately HK$1,975,000 in respect of tax losses FRYEHR 85 B 12 SR BUE M BV B IR B 1B A0 A
amounting to approximately RMB11,064,000 that can be R # 11,064,000 7T 58 3R 4% & P 15 3t & B 4
carried forward against future taxable profit as at 31 March 1,975,000/ 7T ©
2025.

=

1 98 ChiKan Hons Limited %2 #)#E X AR A7 Annual Report 2025 43R




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BRI

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FREF
The Group's profit for the year is stated after charging/ REBFRZMENR, GEA) TH&EE
(crediting) the following: EvlE
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Subcontracting charges nBEER 546,920 688,851
Material costs IR I 142,671 221,202
Cost of inventories sold HEFEKAE 173,566 108,601
Commission expense to EFFalefx
e-commerce platforms 258,634 158,828
Impairment loss on contract assets EHEERERRE(ME)
(Note (d)) 16,149 2,313
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 fE U ZIE R E €18
(Note (d)) (P EE(d)) 4,902 -
Employee benefits expenses, EERNAY BEEE
including directors’ emoluments B (M sE@) ~ (b) & 13)
(Notes (a), (b) and 13)
Salaries, wages and other benefits e ITEREMET 182,746 263,790
Contribution to defined contribution — FEEHFOR KT 29 H R
retirement plans 6,808 10,124
189,554 273,914
Depreciation of property and MEREBETE
equipment (Notes (c) and 16) (FsE) ®16) 266
Self-owned assets BEEEE 1,072
Assets under leases MEEE 1,338
Consultancy fee BREMR 375
Legal and professional fees FERBEXER 2,904
Auditor's remuneration ZH AN & 1,200

. J:—Eiﬂ-
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PSRRI R

o
12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (continued) 12. FREF @)
Notes: (T
(@)  Employee benefits expenses, including directors’ emoluments: @ EEEMNAY BREZEZEMHE :
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FEx FHT
Amount included in cost of ST ASHE M ARTSA A B
sales and services 176,245 261,953
Amount included in AT A X MFIE
administrative expenses 13,309 11,961
189,554 273914
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no forfeited contribution 202538318 - AEEEB LR EFTUE
available to reduce the contributions payable in future years RO A RREE 2 PR #51(2024%5 « 4R
(2024: Same). @) -

=
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BRI

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remunerations were the highest
in the Group included 2 (2024: 2) directors for the year,
whose remuneration is reflected in the analysis presented
in Note 13(a) below. The aggregate remunerations paid
to the remaining 3 (2024: 3) highest paid individuals,
whose remuneration falls within the salary band of Nil to
HK$1,000,000, for the year are as follows:

12. FRER (%)

BaE : (&)

(b)

Wages, salaries, bonuses and
other benefits HAbER
Contribution to defined

contribution retirement plans

TE ¥z LAk

SUE HFURRET BIEY R

No incentive payment for joining the Group or compensation
for loss of office was paid or payable to any of the directors
or the five highest paid individuals during the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: Nil).

Depreciation expense of approximately HK$1,652,000 for the
year (2024: HK$1,338,000) has been recorded in administrative

expenses.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a main contractor
entered provisional liquidation and winding up petitions
against the main contractor have been filed by certain creditors
due to default in debt repayments. In view of the financial
distress of the main contractor, management assessed the
collectability of trade and retention receivables and has
provided the expected loss on trade receivables and contract
assets in the amount of approximately HK$4,902,000 and
HK$13,416,000 respectively.

Annual Report 2025 €%  Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 £ 2 2 G IR 2 7 201

hE&EEHFEMAL

TR AEBREEETHATEE S
(20245 : 28)EE - HFME N T XM
3@ 2D RER - FR - WH T3
£ (2024%F  3B)BERFALIMBHFHL
T BEEALTHEHBH AN T Z 21,000,000

IR FENEE
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FAIT
2,246
36
2,282

HZE2025F3A3 1A IEFEBEREMNES
R A & = B A S s R DA
755 B O SR BN 5 BN Sk B B A (8 (2024 FF -
&) o

F N491,652,000% 7T (2024 4F : 1,338,000/
TP ERZEHAITERAX

HZE2025F3A31BIEFE  —RBEEH
HEARKER  meTEEARBXRES
B MEZBERBEERELEREE - ER
ZERBEBAMBES - BIREECSNM
B Z WA R EWRE € 2 Al Bl
WERESERAKRERENEE ZTERE
BIELEE - 75 R4 /4,902,000 7T
113,416,000/ 7T °
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BT RN

Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Note ii)

B4 (Bt

Total for the year ended
31 March 2025

HZ2025%3A318
FEEE

m;
13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS  13. EEMEN R &
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM<
The remuneration of the directors of the Company paid REEBCNMENRKARESAHME
and payable by the Group are set out below: N
Contribution
to defined
contribution
retirement Discretionary
Salaries plans bonus
REMR
BINGTE
e & iofE META By
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THT TER
Executive Directors WITER
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong EEREE
Ms. Chan May Kiu BEELL
Ms. Zhou Honghong (Note iii)  [EIAT AT 2z 4 ( BifzEiii)
Non-Executive Director FATES
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou BNt &
Independent Non-Executive B JEH1TE =
Directors
Ms. Chan Sze Man BResg T
Mr. Shum Ngok Wa (Note i) JhEEEE S 4 (FizEi)

S
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BB ERR MR

13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 13. EENERNRESR )

(continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EEM2(E)
Contribution
to defined
contribution
retirement  Discretionary
Fees Salaries plans bonus Total
RERR
RIKETE
ik e HfER [l =pi7an EE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAT TER AT FHT
Executive Directors HITER
Mr. Lo Hon Kwong EENEAE = 1,960 18 = 1978
Ms. Chan May Kiu BEBLL = 1,750 18 = 1,768
Non-Executive Director *NTES
Mr. Chen Zhongzhou fe M A 150 - _ _ 150
Independent Non-Executive B 3EH/TEE
Directors
Sr.Dr.leungTonyKaTung ~ RREFELEISH
(Note i) (i) 150 - - - 150
Ms. Chan Sze Man BRI T 150 = - - 150
Mr. Jiang Jungan (Note i) ZE () 125 = = - 125
Mr.Shum Ngok Wa (Note i) JLEEZE %4 (Bifsti) 25 = = = 25
Mr. Lai Yick Fung (Note i) B (ki) - - - - =
Total for the year ended HZE2014%3A8318
31 March 2024 IRk 600 3710 36 - 4,346

O

T
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13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Note:

(i) Mr. Jiang Jungan resigned as independent non-
executive director with effect from 1 February 2024, Mr.
Shum Ngok Wa was appointed as independent non-

executive director on the same day.

(ii) Sr. Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung resigned as independent
non-executive director with effect from 2 April 2024,
Mr. Lai Yick Fung was appointed as independent non-

executive director on the same day.

(i)  Ms. Zhou Honghong was appointed as executive
director with effect from 7 March 2025.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive director's emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as directors
of the Company or its subsidiaries. The independent
non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services as directors of the

Company.

None of the directors has waived any of their
emoluments in respect of the year 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).

|
|

13. EENENRER#)

(a)

BEEME(E)

BEEE -

()  EEAEKAER2024F2A1HETE
VERITES O LEEXEREAR
EREABIIERITES -

(i) RRRETRASAMEFTELIEH
TEE—B - B2024F482884%
Mo BEZAEERRABERITAES
MIEMITES ©

(il FBEALAZRTEZERNTES ' B
20253 A7 H AR o

EIATESEHE T EREEAM
ERARBRAKRERTHEZRBEM
o LIERTESMENEERE
FERARARENMBRARAEST 2R
BME » LIVBYSFAITESME )
TEARBFERARREZTZREM

-
E °

A E2025F3ABIEFE - fES
EE R HEEEMEE(20244F : ) ©
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BB RERMIFE

13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any

retirement benefits during the year (2024: Nil).

Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any

termination benefits during the year (2024: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making

available directors’ services

During the year, the Group did not pay consideration to
any third parties for making available directors services
(2024: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled body
corporates by and connected entities with such

directors

During the year, there were no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, or
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities

with such directors (2024: Nil).

13. EENENRER#)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

ESZRRER

F - BEEE EYCE S IS W EE AR
RIBH (20244 - 7) o

ESRILEAER

R BHEE E W EEL S BT R
IR FAER(2024%F : £E)

RERHESREQE=TRHNK
B

FA - AKEYEARBRHESZRE
M EEAI 5 =75 <A RE (20244 -
&) -

FHUES ESEHNEZERES
FHENERAZREANER - 8
EXREMRZHER

FN - BMEEMUES  XEWES
2HHEEREHESEHENETR
ABEZEmANER BUBRREAMR
SLHE(20245F : 4E) o
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FR SRR P T

13. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 13. EENERNRES )

(continued)

(f)  Directors material interests in transactions, ) EENRZ - ZHEREHINERER

arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts 20253 H31 Bk FAEREMRE - &
in relation to the Group's business to which the Group SEMETVHEAEEEEE@AMA
was a party and in which a director of the Company N EFHEENEERAEANERD
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, BEARS  THRAHI(2024F + ) o

subsisted as at 31 March 2025 or at any time during the
year (2024: Nil).

14. DIVIDENDS 14. BRE
The Directors do not recommend the payment of any BEETEHRNEZ2025F3A31HIEFE
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil). FIEAT AR B (20244 : £8) ©

15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BR(EBE) BA
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREA(EE), BRI
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share attributable KABEEABEERERN(ER) BR)i%
to owners of the Company is based on the loss for the year RATHEB A FAEEL7,685000/8 7T
of approximately HK$7,685,000 (2024: profit HK$28,107,000) (2024%F : 3 28,107,000 70 ) K FAE 2
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted 17 38 A% 0 RE S 15 £201,000,000,000 A% (2024
average number of 1,000,000,000 (2024: 1,000,000,000) £ 1 1,000,000,0008%) 5T &

ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share SR#E(EE) ER
No diluted (loss)/earnings per share is presented as the Wi Z2T|GREE(ER) BN - REAN
Company did not have any dilutive potential ordinary shares DA B 20259 K 20243 A31 B (LR EF
during the two years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. SN AT B S TR -

=

i

|

l
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B SRRMI T

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥% - BENR®E
Motor
vehicles
Right of use Furniture, under hire
assets-office Leasehold  fixture and Motor purchase
under lease improvement  equipment vehicles arrangement Total
EREEE- HEWE HA BE HEZH
HERLE % HERRB "E BTRE @it
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THEL THEL THAL TATL THEL THEL

Cost KR

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4/18

Additions RE

Disposals &

Transfer 2B

Exchange realignment B 5 5%

At31 March 2024 and 2024E3A318 &
1 April 2024 2024%4R1H

Additions RE

Exchange realignment B 5 5 R

At 31 March 2025 12025534318

. J:—Eiﬂ-
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BT RN

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - MEKZE &)

(continued)

Motor

vehicles

Right of use Furniture, under hire

assets-office Leasehold  fixture and Motor purchase
under lease improvement  equipment vehicles arrangement Total

EREEE- HEWE HA EE BEZH
HEBAE £ KERRB "E ETRE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEL THEL TAL TEL TEL TEL

Accumulated depreciation  ZifHERFE

and impairment

At 1 April 2023 R2023F4A18

Charge for the year FRRY

Disposals HE

Transfer EL 3

Exchange realignment B 5 3%

At 31 March 2024 and 12024534318
1 April 2024 %2024F4718

Charge for the year FARY

Exchange realignment B 5 3R

At 31 March 2025 12025434318

Carrying amount FHE

At 31 March 2025 12025434318

At 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31H 1,380 49 166 = 1,305 2,900

e
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BRI

16.

17.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Note:

The Group leases various properties for the use of office and motor
vehicles. Leases are typically made for fixed periods of one to five
years (2024: Same). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain various different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not
be used as security for borrowing purposes. The corresponding lease

liabilities is disclosed in Note 25.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

16. 1% - RERZE®)

PaE

AEBEEZEMBIERRENYEULITE -
—&mE HEHEER-ERF (20245 :
F) - MEHERDRERNEREE - BEEZRA
PRGN - ZERER L T HEINERR
# o HRBAEEENSBERRRUIUSER -
HEEE B ERHE2SNEKE -

17. BAFEABENEHEE

2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FET

Current asset REBEE
Wealth management product B Em
Non-current asset FRBEE
Unlisted equity investment (note) EEIRERRE (M)

15,176

1,873

17,049
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BT RN

17.

18.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Note: (continued)

The unlisted equity investment represented the Group's investment
of 10% equity interest in Baiyin Yunchuang Space Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (“Baiyin Yunchuang”) a company incorporated in
PRC, which is primarily engaged in provision of technical support and

other facilitation services in connection with e-commerce business.
As at 20 November 2024, the Group disposed the unlisted equity

investment with total cash consideration of RMB2,230,000 (equivalent
to HK$2,395,000).

INVENTORIES

17.

18.

BAVPEFARENEREE

(%)
B (&)

FLMESREEAKRERBREAEHEER
FERAR(TARES D (—RHESBEEMKL
MATDMI0%ERRE  ZARERNERHES
PR T RIS B R AT SR R AL A R AR

202411 A208 - AEEURSRREBARE
2,230,0007T (FHE 12,395,000/ 70 ) HEZIELT
EEEE o

BETRBEBFR

Inventories for E-commerce business

FE
2025 2024
20255 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FHET
12,377 7,946

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in “cost of sales and services” amounted to approximately
HK$173,566,000 (2024: HK$108,601,000) for the year ended 31
March 2025 (Note 12).

No inventories were written off during the year ended 31
March 2025 (2024: Nil).

~=

HE2055F3A3IBILEFE  BRAEMAX
REAATHERRBEKAINFEERK AL
173,566,000/ 7T (2024 4F : 108,601,000/ T )
(FzE12) °

T

REE2025F3A31BIEFEER - fERFE
FEMEE (20244 « 48)

\

/ l
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BRI

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 19. EZEVRRERSHVNEE
ASSETS
2025 2024
20254 20245
HK$’000 HK$'000
THxT FHETT
Trade receivables (Note (a)) B 5 IE (M @E) 27,126 56,733
Less: impairment loss of trade B B S ENGIER

receivables (Note (b)) SREEE (KIFEb)) (4,902) S

22,224 56,733

Contract assets BHEE
Uncertified work in progress ARENEREIR 95,460 78,354
Retention sum for contract works (Note &4 Ti2{RE &
(©) (FF3E () 169,380 178,517

264,840 256,871
Less: impairment loss of contract assets & : & #)& E R REE B
(Note (b) and (d)) (5% (b) B (dl)) (20,056) (3,907)

244,784 252,964

=y
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BT RN

|

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (continued)

(@)  The balances mainly represented the trade receivables
from construction business, the Group’s credit terms
granted to third-party customers range from 14 days
to 60 days (2024: Same). In respect of e-commerce
business, the sales are settled by electronic payment or
credit cards, which will generally settle the amount with

the Group within 2 to 3 days after the sales made.

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the third-party trade receivables, based on the date of

certification or invoice date, are as follows:

19. ESERFERENEE »#)

Up to 30 days %308
31-90 days 31HZE90H
91-181 days 91HZ=181H
181-365 days 181HE365H

=

d
| 21 2 Chi Kan Ho“s Limited %2 #)#E X AR A7 Annual Report 2025 43R

ERTZEREEBMEE IR
B AEERFEZFEFPNEEH
N F14HZE608 (20245 : 48R) ° 5t
BEfEmGEEBME  HEDAETH
AXMRERRERN  BESE K
EREH SR AZE3A NN -

RI|BEHR - F=7 B FREFIAR
REH M BRAHARESTAOT

2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FET

46,461
10,272

56,733
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BRI

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 19.
ASSETS (continued)

ESRWREREHNEE®

@@  (continued) @@ (#&)

At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the third-party trade receivables, based on the date of

past due date, are as follows:

RI|BEHR - F=7 B FREFAR
B AP RED T T -

2025 2024

20254 20244

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FHET FAT

Current and not yet past due BNHEA B 3 K 360 2R 56,733
Past due: A

Within 30 days 30BN -

31-90 days 31HZE90H =

91-365 days 91HZE365H =

56,733

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
have good credit quality and low default rate under the
internal credit assessment adopted by the Group. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.
As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’ s trade
receivables are debtors with aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$1,460,000 (2024: HKSnil) has been
past due 90 days or more and is not considered as in
default due to the long-term/on-going relationship,
good repayment record and continuous repayment

from these customers.

Annual Report 2025 €%  Chi Kan Holdings Limited %5 £ 2 2 G IR 2 7 21 3

RIBAKREARABATEEFTE
A R 48 BB R 3 RO E R B 5 FE W IR
EERFEAEBRENLE - KEE
WARZEEHRTHEEM R © 72025
F3H318 - BREA{EA 1,460,000 7T
(2024%F : THIT) W EIKERRET AR
SEZEHEWIE - HE @90 H
NE EREZSERFPREFRE
BRAR ZERFPHEARIFERRD
REFEER - WEWRWRBEL -

Ny
h\.‘

| S T i v v



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 March 2025, a main contractor
entered provisional liquidation and winding up
petitions against the main contractor have been filed
by certain creditors due to default in debt repayments.
In view of the financial distress of the main contractor,
management assessed the collectability of trade
and retention receivables and has provided the
expected loss on trade receivables and contract assets
in the amount of approximately HK$4,902,000 and
HK$13,416,000 respectively.

Contract assets represent the Group’'s rights to
considerations from customers for the provision of
formwork services and other construction services,
which arise when: (i) the Group completed the relevant
services under such contracts but the works are yet
to be certified by surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers; or (ii) the customers
withhold certain certified amounts payable to
the Group as retention money to secure the due

performance of the contracts.

Any amount previously recognised as a contract asset
is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which
it is certified by surveyors or other representatives
appointed by the customers and becomes

unconditional other than passage of time.

|
u
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19. EZRNMFIBEREGHNEE 2)

HE20255F3831BIEEE » — %4
EEEEARRESESE METEEA
HcEEEBMEZERBHRED
BRI c BN ZAEBEBEAM
W% - EEEC T GHE S RWEIER
BURBezJRENE  WERES
EWHEREHNEE 2 TEHEEED
BiE - 259 514 /4,902,000 7T &
13,416,000/ 7T °

BHEERASERREHERRSE K
HitZ2ERBREF P WA EE
Ao TRATERTEL : ((ARER
RIEBEAXNTKARRYE - BT
RRAGAEMIEPZENEMA
RWE  RNBEFBEETENAE
BEHMERBERNRELSRES - AR
BREREIT -

TR RENEENTASENE
BREMKATFZEMNEMRRRAE
KPR R AR (I SRR RS Rl ) B B
A ERE S RGOS
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BRI

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (continued)

(@]

(continued)

Retention sum for contract works is settled in
accordance with the terms of the respective contracts.
In the consolidated statement of financial position,
retention sum for contract works was classified as
current assets based on operating cycle. Prior to
expiration of defect liability period, are classified as
contract assets, which ranges from one to five years
from the date of the practical completion of the
construction. The relevant amount of contract asset is
unsecured and interest-free and reclassified to trade
receivables when the defect liability period expires. The
defect liability period serves as an assurance that the
construction services performed comply with agreed-
upon specifications and such assurance cannot be
purchased separately. The terms and conditions in
relation to the release of retention vary from contract to
contract, which is subject to practical completion or the
expiry of the defect liability period. The Group does not

hold any collateral as security.

19. EZRWFIBEREHNEE2)

(%)

BHIRREBLTDRENEBNIERK
B REHMBRRERT - GH0T
BRESDERKSAHM D BERR
BEE - NBRMEETHER - BD
BREWEE  AAHRERERRT
FHERR—Z1F - aNEENRH
CHRABEKRERE  BERBEME
HERREFOBREFEWFIEA -
RPEE T REEREIR G EREZ
RETHRE  BEBERELTAD
BIEBA o BREEMRE & 6 IR %R
HRTRGHME  HXERKRITH
RPEE T HIE MR o A5 B &5
B ET AR dn AR
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BT RN

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT 19. ESRBRNFRERENEE®)
ASSETS (continued)

(©) (continued) © (#)
In the consolidated statement of financial position, REHEBRAEDH - BEEEHTE
contract assets relating to retention sum for contract REBEHENBEENERKEERRS
works were classified as current assets based on WMARHEE - AN IREREESRKR
operating cycle. The ageing of the retention sum for FABRRENT
contract works, based on the date of certification, are as
follows:
2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&xT FET
Within 1 year R1ER 138,345 148,966
Between 1 and 2 years 1FEFE2F 12,598 20,521
Over 2 years HiE2F 18,437 9,030
169,380 178,517
As at 31 March 2025, the contract assets that are 20253 H318 « TBEIEEBRE12{8 A
expected to be recovered after more than 12 B UL 2 A #E E 45 119,486,000 78
months are approximately HK$119,486,000 (2024: JC(2024%F 141,457,000/ 7C) » HBEI&
HK$141,457,000), which represented the retention sum HTIRIRES - B TTHAENEEER
for contract works. The remaining contract assets are 1218 A AYE o

expected to be recovered within 12 months.

The following table shows unsatisfied performance TREATNETETERERREELSNEL
obligations resulting from fixed-price long-term HARBITRAOEE

construction contracts.

-~

/ l
d
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A
= Tt

A H5 R R B o

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND CONTRACT
ASSETS (continued)

(@]

(continued)

19. ESERFERENEE )

Aggregate amount of the transaction 2Bt Z R EBITHRE
price allocated to long-term BEAGHNRZEBEE

construction contracts that are

unsatisfied

As at 31 March 2025, management expects that
approximately HK$238,442,000 (2024: HK$722,823,000),
will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting
period and the remaining will be recognised within two

years from each reporting date.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit loss prescribed by HKFRS 9.
As at 31 March 2025, a provision of HK$6,640,000
(2024: HK$3,907,000) was made against the gross
amounts of contract assets of HK$251,424,000 (2024:
HK$256,871,000).

(%)

2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET FAT

268,071 761,562

R2025F3A318  EREBEHY
238,442,000 7T (2024 4F : 722,823,000
BIT)BR T —EREHEBRRAK
o MBBERRNSRE B HRTME
WHER ©

AEEERAEEMBEREELFINR
IR ENBS AN ERTEREES
BEE - R2025F38318 A Y
& B 48 %E 251,424,000 7 7T (2024 F -
256,871,000 7 7T ) 1E H 6,640,000 4 7T
(2024%F : 3,907,00078 7T ) KBS »
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BT RN

20. PREPAYMENT, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 20. ANRIE - RERHEMEKRFIE
RECEIVABLES
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Prepayments (note) TR I (M 5E) 28,471
Deposits and other receivables Be R H AU EIR 1,046
Prepayments, deposits and TBRRIE - e REM
other receivables FEU I8 11,844 29,517
Less: non-current portion deposits W IEREBEA RS (54) (55)
29,462
Note: The prepayment consists mainly of suppliers from Construction Mizk - FENRBEEERREREEBHEES -
business.

=

21 8 Chi Kan Hons Limited %2 #)#E X AR A7 Annual Report 2025 43R
1



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B SRRMI T

21. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK  21. SR4IBTESURETRES

AND CASH BALANCES HER
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HKS$'000 HKS$'000
FHET FHTT
Restricted bank deposits ZRRHIRITIF K
- repaid with condition —BigHEERE 17,500
~ maturity of one month ——1{& A EApR 10,000
27,500
Cash at banks and on hand RTINS RFHERE
— cash and cash equivalents -RERAEEEY 228,236 227,632
As at 31 March 2025, restricted cash are denominated in 202538310 * ZREBEUBTH|E
Hong Kong dollars and held in Hong Kong to secure the bank TREBEFEUMEAR T AEBEMNRITRE
facilities granted to the Group (Note 24). B AR (Pff 5T 24) o
At 31 March 2025, cash at bank which is denominated in MR2025FE3H31H » MARBIEMRITIR
Renminbi amounted to approximately HK$80,242,000 (2024: £ #9/580,242,00078 7T (20244F : 79,085,000
HK$79,085,000). The Renminbi is not freely convertible L) e AR ERLBRAEMEE -
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s RIEAPE A2 CIMNEE IBIET]) R AEE -
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration EENNESERTEY AEBEEAEBEH
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange EREBINEEB ZRITHEARE N AEM
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange Renminbi B o SNBSS ERRLAEITYE (20245 -
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct HEE)

foreign exchange business. The remaining cash at balances

are denominated in Hong Kong dollars (2024: Same).

4 oy
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BT RN

22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. ESENRIE
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx TET
Construction business RIEEK 52,167
E-commerce business BFEBES 13,605
65,772
The average credit period for trade purchases generally ESHRBONFHEEH BN F158E60H
ranged from 15 days to 60 days (2024: 15 days to 60 days). (20244 : 15HZFE60H) ©
At the end of reporting period, the ageing analysis of the trade NERE IR - B EMNTIBIRZEZ QN
payables, based on invoice date, are as follows:
2025 2024
20254 2024%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Up to 30 days =%30H 32,206 55,475
31 - 90 days 31HZ90H 990 9,568
91 - 180 days 91HZE180H 1 102
Over 180 days 180 H 56 627
65,772

=
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BRI

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. HtWEAREBERETEH
2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Accruals for staff salaries and other SI%e MNEMERNAET
benefits ZH 24,413
Contract liabilities aHaE 9,452
Other accruals and other payables EfhfERT & R R E A
IR 5137
39,002
Contract liabilities, representing receipt in advance from ERBAEAELEKRIREPRIE) DR 2
customers, are separately presented. The movement of 5 e FREXHBBEHWT ¢
contract liabilities during the year is as follows:
2025 2024
2025%F 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
As at the beginning of the year REL) 11,422
Revenue recognised in relation to STAFVIEHNEERR
construction business that was EEEBRNEERKA
included in the contract liabilities at
beginning of the year (11,422)
Increase due to receipts in advance FATELWEE P FIE
from customers during the year Fr B8 hn 9,452
As at the end of the year RER 9,452

ol ._‘..“"]'L‘
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PSRRI R

24. BANK BORROWINGS

4

24. RITHER

2025 2024
2025 20244
HK$’000 HK$'000
THER FET
Bank borrowings, maturity of RITHE - —E AR
one month - secured — 2 30,000

As at 31 March 2024, all the Group’s bank borrowings were
denominated in HKS and carried variable interest rates at

HIBOR plus a margin per annum.

The weighted effective interest rate of bank borrowings was
6.52% (2024: 6.78%).

As at 31 March 2025, the banking facilities in aggregate
of HK$30,000,000 (2024: HK$100,000,000) were granted to
the Group, which were secured by (i) restricted deposit
of HK$7,500,000 (2024: HK$27,500,000) (Note 21) and (ii)
corporate guarantee by the Company. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group had undrawn borrowing facilities of HK$30,000,000
(2024: HK$70,000,000).

As at 31 March 2024, all the Group was had bank borrowings

contain a repayable on demand clause.

The Group is required to comply with certain restrictive
financial and other covenants. The Group has complied with

these covenants throughout the reporting period.

The fair value of the bank borrowings approximates their
carrying amount as the impact of discounting is not

significant.
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MR2024F3H318 - REBARITEKA
BITHE - WIREBRITRIZEREINERT
EFFIERGFE -

IRITERMEERFIE B6.52%(2024F -
6.78%) ©

B2025F3A3H AEEERAH
30,000,000 7T (20244 : 100,000,000/ 7T ) B9
RITRIE -+ M LAG) 3 PR $I1F 507,500,000 7T
(20244 : 27,500,000 7T ) (B #E21) K (i) A
NAEEREER - BR2025F3H318 -
N & E B K 12 BUE KR & 30,000,000 % 7T
(2024%F : 70,000,000787T) °

R2024%3H318 ° AEEFARITERYG
WHEZE RN EZIEK -

REBAEETE TRHENEMSRE MR -
REBNBEREC B TRFLH

RRIYEEAMBBLE - RERRITERD
NHEREEEmERES
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BRI

25. LEASE LIABILITIES 25. HESE
2025 2024
2025%F 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT
Current k) 1,402
Non-current IETRE 871
2,273
The Group leases various properties for the use of office AEBHESZREBERAENMER RS
and motor vehicles (Note 16). The Group has the option to (Mi5E16) - AEBEMEEREHBELZHEE
purchase the motor vehicle under hire purchase arrangement. AE - ZEHEAERARAR R AH
These lease liabilities were measured at net present value of HENRFHRBERE ©
the lease payments during the lease terms that are not yet
paid.
The movement and maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set HEBBEZHRIHB 5T DRI KM FE
out in Notes 29(a) and 5(d) respectively. 29(a) }25(d) °
The amount charged in the profit or loss in relation to lease REZNERHEESEOT -
are as follows:
2024
2025%F 20244F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FHET
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 10) HEBGEFE (FFFE10) 103
Depreciation charge for office under ~ FAERAEINER L
lease (Note 16) (KF5E16) 1,072
Depreciation charge for motor vehicle A& /SEHERM S (HizE16)
under lease (Note 16) 33
1,208

e £ o gy
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BT RN

26. SHARE CAPITAL

26.

@IS

2025 2024
20254 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTER FAT

Authorised:

10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each

ERE

10,000,000,000/%
BRREEOIB LT B

100,000 100,000

Issued and fully paid:

1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of

BITRERZ

1,000,000,000A%

10,000

HK$0.01 each BRmEOIBITE B
27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27

The directors of the Company, are of the view that the

following parties were related parties that had transactions or

balances with the Group during the year:

Name Relationship with the Group

Mr. Lo Executive Director

Ms. Chan May Kiu (“Mrs. Lo")  Executive Director

=
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group had the following transactions with

related parties during the year:

(@) Key management compensation

Key management includes the directors and the senior

management of the Group.

The remuneration of directors and compensations paid

or payable to key management for employment services

are shown below:

27. BEEARZ (&)

BRE GRS mR A A D AR AL - A%
BIRNANFEEBY I ETHRZNT

(a)

Fee
Short-term benefits
Contribution to defined

contribution retirement plans

e
7 BA1E A
FUE R IRET Bl MR
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2025
20254
HK$'000
FET

2024
20244
HK$'000
FAT

600
4,523

54

5177

e

] Y T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BT RN

28. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF 28. ARA TR R E

226 Chi Kan Hol

THE COMPANY
2025 2024
2025% 2024%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TExT FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIEE 155,638 155,638
155,638 155,638
Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUCRT B A FIRIA 109,103 110,798
Bank and cash balances RTINS EH 953 117
110,056 110,915
Current liabilities RBEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERHBT B A FIRIA 2,533 335
Accruals and other payables EETB R MEM
FERTFRIE 2,607 1,444
5,140 1,779
Net current assets REBEERE 104,916 109,136
NET ASSETS EERE 260,554 264,774
Capital and reserves RAR#E
Share capital R 10,000 10,000
Share premium f& 0% B 120,421 120,421
Reserves His 130,133 134,353
TOTAL EQUITY fERMARE 260,554 264,774

l
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28. SUMMARISED FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

28. RN B BRABE )

(a) Reserve movement (a) fREEEH
Capital Accumulated
reserve losses Total
=N -4 F HE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAET
(Note)
(5T
At 1 April 2023 2023F4A81H 155,248 (16,723) 138,525
Loss and total comprehensive A E51E & 2 EEE
loss for the year #aza = (4172) (4.172)

As at 31 March 2024 and M2024%F38318 K
1 April 2024 2024F4A81H

Loss and total comprehensive & AEE &2 EEE

155,248

155,248

loss for the year “aza
As at 31 March 2025 72025%3H31H
Note:

Capital reserve represented the difference between the net

assets value of the subsidiaries acquired and the considerati
settled by issuance of the shares of the Company pursuant
the reorganisation.

it

(20,895)

(4,220)

(25,115)

134,353

(4,220)

130,133

ARGEEHEMEERBARNEESFESR

on REBEBTARRARMOTRERNHRK
to BMRENERE -

e £ o gy
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 29. EHBRERERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) BETBHEENEGEF
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in TRIWRAEEFARE EEEED
liabilities arising from financing activities during the BEEE
year:
Bank Lease
loans liabilities Total
RITEN HESE st
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
FBT FHIT FHIT
t 1 April 2023 R2023F4/1H 27,000 2,474 29,474
Changes in cash flows RENEH 3,000 (1,228) 1,772
Non-cash change IR EH
Additions of lease liabilities  AEHE&E - 1,338 1,338
Exchange realignment b - @311) (311)
At 31 March 2024 20243 H31H 30,000 2,273 32,273

Changes in cash flows BEREEH (30,000) (1,463) (31,463)
Non-cash change FIR &

Exchange realignment PE 5 A% 58 58
At 31 March 2025 202593 H318

=
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 29.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Cash generated from operations

EHRERERMT )

(b) REREHRS

2025
20255
HK$'000
THER

2024
2024%F
HK$'000
FET

41,280

(3,586)
634

1,652

(505)

4,902
16,149

58,205

(5,164)
2,157

1,338

(278)

2,313

60,184

(4,431)

21,638

17,672
(32,518)

(17,888)

Notes
i3
Profit before income tax B TS BADE
Adjustments for: HATRIERE
Finance income BMERA 10
Finance costs BEMA 10
Depreciation of property and MENRETE
equipment 12
Fair value changes in financial BATER AR
assets at FVPL STREEY
N EES 17
Gain on disposal of financial assets ~ HERATEEA
at FVPL - wealth management BaZeREEN
product Wa—BHER 8
Gain on disposal of financial assets ~ HHERRAFEFTA
at FVPL - Unlisted equity B eREEN
investment Wam—3kEm
BRIRE 8
Impairment loss on trade 2 S EWGR
receivables REEE 12
Impairment loss of contract assets A4 EERERE 12
Changes in working capital: EEELEE):
Inventories e
Trade receivables and B 5 EYGRIE R
contract assets BHEE
Prepayments, deposits and BAHIEA - Ze Rk
other receivables H eI IR
Trade payables B SRR
Accruals and other payables [EETER &
H e 308
Net cash generated from/(used in) ~ &&F718,/(FrFA)
operations ReFE

58,571

296

39,216

(28,494)
(115,553)

(130)

(46,094)

. J:—Eiﬂ-
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 29.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Total cash flow for leases
The total cash outflow for leases included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:
Within financing activities BB EENA
30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30.

g

\ 230 Chi Kan Holdings Limited 28 #)#E ARG A Al  Annual Report 2025 3R

EHBEEREXRMTE 2

(0 HENRESREAR

EHRERERANEERSRLA
BT -

2025 2024
20254 20244
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

1,228

A contingent liability will be disclosed when a possible
obligation has arisen, but its existence has to be confirmed
by future events outside the Group’s control, or when it is
not possible to calculate the amount. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
The directors of the Company believe that any potential
compensation arising from the ongoing litigations will be
covered by relevant insurance coverage and these litigations
will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated

financial statements of the Group (2024: Nil).

‘F‘I

HAREE

FRBERAELEEBEETR(EEFT
BUANIEREBFTREIERIA R REHER

R BRI ERHEE o M2025F3 A31

B AEBYEFMEAKAEE - NAF
EEHE AERENRESEBEESRS
BERMFMELENEMBERE - MIEEHFD
BT EHAEBE S HIMBREREKRERE
AT L (20245 : 48) o
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31. SUBSIDIARIES 31. B2 E
Country of
incorporation/ Registered/
establishment and Principal activities/ Issued and Attributable equity
Name kind of legal entity Place of operation paid-up capital interest of the Group
B,/
TEMAL, RINER TEEH, BETR
£3 REZERER EEE EHERA AEERERE
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
2025 2024%F
3A318 3A318
Directly held
EERE
Chi Kan Engineering BVI, limited liability Investment holding, BVI US$50,000 100%
Technology Company company
Limited
Chi Kan Engineering RBERHS - REER  RBREX 50,000 7T 100%
Technology Company BRAR E
Limited
Indirectly held
HEEs
Chi Kan Group Limited BVI, limited liability Investment holding, BVI USS$1,000 100%
company
Chi Kan Group Limited KBRUES - REER  RBRX 1,000 7T 100%
BRRA E
Chi Kan Technology BVI, limited liability Investment holding, BVI US$50,000 100%
Development Limited company
Chi Kan Technology RBEAHS BEER  RBREX 50,0003 7T 100%
Development Limited BRAR] ]
Chi Kan Strategy Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding, HK HKS$1 100%
liability company
BHRBEERLA B BRAA REER - B 18T 100%
Chi Kan Woodworks Company  Hong Kong, limited Formwork services and HK$300,000 100%
Limited liability company other construction
services, HK
BYERERAA &iE ARAA *ﬁ%&i‘%g%ﬂ@i 300,000 7T 100%
R - &)
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31. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 31. B AR (&)

Country of
incorporation/ Registered/
establishment and Principal activities/ Issued and Attributable equity
Name kind of legal entity Place of operation paid-up capital interest of the Group
B,/
EMARL/ RIMER FEEE EBTR
£% REZEERER EEMH BHERE AEERERE
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
2025 2024%F
3A31H 3A318
Chi Kan Engineering (Yangzhou) The PRC, limited liability  Investment holding, US$30,000,000 100% 100%
Investment Company Limited ~ company the PRC
("CK Yangzhou")**
BYHTREREBGMN)BRLAA 8 AREEAR REZR  +E 30,000,000 7T 100%
([EGHM )
Nanjing Zhixin Construction  The PRC, limited liability Investment holding, RMB50,000,000 100%
Technology Company company the PRC
Limited #
HREGRENMBARARY FE AREMERF REEZER +E AR 100%
50,000,0007T
Baiyin Chi Kan Technology The PRC, limited liability ~ Trading business, the PRC  RMB5,000,000 51%
Development Company company
Limited (“CK Baiyin")®*
AREGULBREBRAR  +E - FREARF EBEHEHK - +E AR 51%
([BREE e 5,000,0007T
Zhiqin Construction The PRC, limited liability ~ Investment holding, US$20,000,000 100%
Development (Nanjing) CO,  company the PRC
Ltd.*#
BHREER hE - FREERE  REZR - FHE 20,000,000% 7T 100%
(FR)BRAF
Xi'an Zhigin Technology The PRC, limited liability  Investment holding, US$5,000,000 100%
Development Co., Ltd.** company the PRC
AZE PR hE - BREERA  REER 7 5,000,000 7T 100%
FRABDE
Shenzhen Zhigin Engineering  The PRC, limited liability ~ Investment holding, RMB1,000,000 100%
Technology Co., Ltd.** company the PRC
RIS & T2 R mEl - BREMLRF REZR PH AR 100%
BR AT 1,000,0007T

=
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31.

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

31. B AT (&)

Attributable equity
interest of the Group
REBELRE
31 March 31 March
2025 2024
20255 20245
3A31H 3A31H
100% 100%
100% 100%
N/A
MEA
51%
51%

REBEHEEEEMAIEBEDLE

REFBUEEEMRZERE AR

REPEEREMAEMERETAT

Country of
incorporation/ Registered/
establishment and Principal activities/ Issued and
Name kind of legal entity Place of operation paid-up capital
R BiEM/
TEMARYL,/ RINER FEEEH BETR
£3 REZERER EEE EHERA
Zhigin Equity Investment The PRC, limited liability  Investment holding, US$5,000,000
(Nanjing) Co., Ltd.** company the PRC
BHRERE hE - EREELRF  RERKR 7H 5,000,000 T
(FR)BRAF
Guizhou Zhigin Moli The PRC, limited liability ~ Software and information ~ RMB1,000,000
Technology Co., Ltd.## company technology services,
the PRC
BEMNEOEARMEERAT R BREELRE  RENESESRM AR
FRE% - P E 1,000,0007T
Cloud Space (Jinhua) The PRC, limited liability ~ Software and information ~ RMB5,000,000
Technology Co., Limited®** company technology services,
the PRC
ZRlz=m(2%) FE BRELAR  BEAESRM AR¥%
R AR AR RE% - P E 5,000,0007T
* Registered as wholly foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC *
law
# Registered as wholly-owned enterprise under the PRC law #
® Registered as other limited liability enterprise under the PRC e
law
L The English translation of the company names is for reference #

only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the
end of the year (2024: Nil).
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31. SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Partially-owned subsidiary with material non-controlling
interest (“NCI”)

Set out below is summaries financial information for CK Baiyin
which is the only subsidiary of the Group that has NCI that are
material to the Group. The amount disclosed for the subsidiary

are before intercompany eliminations:

31. B AT (&)

BEREAFZRER ((FERES D 2FE

B EAH

TXESINEA I s A AR — 8
BEXHNMBARRRESNMBERMRE -
TXFREZNB A RN SRR R R

G A

2025
20254
HK$’'000
FTER

54,125
(28,183)

822

NCI percentage FEIERR R B L
As at 31 March M3 A31H8

Current assets mBEE

Current liabilities meaE
Non-Current liabilities IERBEE
Non-current assets IEMBEE

Net assets BESFE

Carrying amount of NC| FEIE RS AR E (A

=
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FAT

49%

41,854
(29,822)

6,764

18,796

9,210
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31. SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 31. B2 8 @)
2025 2024
2025% 20244F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FET
For the year ended 31 March HEIAIHLFE
Revenue and other income U 2 K E At U A 534,721 326,104
Profit for the year FREN 58,835 32,383
Other comprehensive loss Hith2mEEE 486 (755)
Total comprehensive income PHEW R AT 59,321 31,628
Comprehensive income HELE IR Y
allocated to NCI ENTILE 15,498
Dividend paid to NCl TR R R 2 IR B 25,163 15,977
Cash flows from operating activities KETHELEZRESRS 57,615 41,867
Cash flows from investing activities KREEHELEZHERE 3,429 (4,407)
Cash flows from financing activities MEETHELEZHERE (48,554) (26,669)
Net cash inflows REMANFEE 12,490 10,791
32. APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED 32. #tESHMBRK
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and AU REREN20255F6c A27HEESS

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2025. Pt R 3 HE T2 o
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B #5922

(Expressed in Hong Kong Dollars)  (JAFETEFIR)

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31BLLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20255 2024%F 20234 20224 20214
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T FHT FAT FHT

Revenue & (WEVEFEN 1538853 1,623,573 1,574,341 826,198
Profit before tax B T4 AT S% A 41,280 58,205 74,432 79,404 49,939
Income tax expense Frg®if = (19,716) (14,230) (12,567) (19,952) (7,201)
Profit for the year FREF 21,564 43,975 61,865 59,452 42,738
Attributable to: AR & e

Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZZ SN (7,685) 28,107 53,501 38,751 42,773
Non-controlling interest R 29,249 15,868 8,364 20,701 (35)

21,564 43,975 61,865 59,452 42,738

As at 31 March
M3A31H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
20254 20244F 20234 20224F 20214F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets BEE 534,166 622,241 711,545 575,452 471,239
Total liabilities FE = 60,507 142,737 256,305 171,900 112,229

Net Assets BEFE 473,659 479,504 455,240 403,552 359,010

=
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